
 

 

www.eden.gov.uk         

Rose Rouse 
Chief Executive 

Date: 13 July 2020 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 

Tel: 01768 817817 

Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Executive Agenda - 21 July 2020 
 

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Executive will be held at 6.00 pm on Tuesday, 
21 July 2020 at Town Hall, Penrith. 
 
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical location 
following guidelines set out in Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.  
 
This Council meeting will be held virtually on Microsoft Teams. 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
 

2   Minutes   
 

RECOMMENDATION that the: 
1. public minutes E/1/6/20  to E/12/6/20; and 
2. confidential minutes E/13/6/20 

of the meeting of the Executive held on 16 June 2020 be confirmed and approved by 
the Chairman as a correct record of those proceedings (copies previously 
circulated). 
 

3   Declarations of Interest   
 

To receive declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered. 
 

4   Questions and Representations from the Public   
 

To receive questions and representations from the public under Rules 3 and 4 of the 
Executive Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 

5   Questions from Members   
 

To receive questions and representations from Members under Rule 5 of the 
Executive Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 

6   Provisional Outturn 2019/20  (Pages 7 - 14) 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZDhkY2YyMGUtYjc0ZS00MDBlLThmM2YtODgyMDc1OWRiZDY3%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22ec1905dd-41df-44af-849e-983e6ce809bf%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2231d773a5-d81e-41d0-ac68-e2c3dd881da5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

www.eden.gov.uk 2 

 

To consider report F22/20 from the Interim Director of Corporate Services which is 
attached and which summarises the Council’s Revenue and Capital performance for 
the financial year 2019/20. The figures are still subject to finalisation and external 
audit. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS that the Executive: 
 
1. Note the Revenue Outturn position for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 1; 

2. Note the capital out-turn position for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 2; 

3. Agree the balances on capital schemes which have slipped in 2019/20 to be 
carried forward into the 2020/21 capital programme as set out in Appendix 2; 
 

4. Allocate the current revenue underspend to create an earmarked revenue 
reserve to support Covid19 of £200k the remaining £156k to be transferred to 
the transformation programme reserve; and 
 

5. Delegate responsibility to the Interim Director of Corporate Services in 
consultation with the Resources Portfolio Holder to consider and implement 
further changes relating to all aspects of the closedown of the accounts for 
2019/20 including: realigning reserves; the transfer of costs from revenue to 
capital; amendments of the revenue and capital budgets; and implementation 
of a minimum revenue provision accordingly. 

 

7   Quarter 1 - Budget Monitoring 2020/21  (Pages 15 - 22) 
 

To consider report F21/20 from the Interim Director of Corporate Services which is 
attached and which summarises the Council’s Revenue and Capital position and full 
year projections for the first Quarter 2020/21. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that Executive note the project revenue and capital position at 
June 2020. 
 

8   Medium Term Financial Plan Review  (Pages 23 - 30) 
 

To consider report F20/20 from the Interim Director of Corporate Services which is 
attached and which seeks to review the implications of the Covid 19 pandemic on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and any actions that need to or 
ought to be made. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that the report be noted. 
 

9   Recovery Plan & Corporate Plan Update Report  (Pages 31 - 40) 
 

To consider report CE6/20 from the Chief Executive which is attached and which 
seeks approval for the strategic priorities for the year 2020-2021 which includes the 
Recovery Plan Initiatives developed in response to the global pandemic. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS that: 
 
1. the revised strategic priorities are approved, and form the basis of the 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 3 

quarterly Performance Management reports; and 

2. the operational initiatives in the Recovery Plan are noted. 

 

10   Corporate Performance Report: April - June 2020  (Pages 41 - 50) 
 

To consider report CE7/20 from the Chief Executive which is attached and which 
seeks to: 
 
1. provide a summary of progress against the revised corporate performance 

targets for the period April – June 2020 and, 
 
2. inform the Executive of any areas of concern or issues requiring attention and 

the remedial activity in place to deal with these. 
 

RECOMMENDATION that the progress to date be noted. 
 

11   Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy  (Pages 51 - 178) 
 

To consider report PP26/20 from the Assistant Director Community Services which 
seeks approval of the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy, to ensure 
there is greater clarity for households in Eden who are currently registered for social 
housing or who may register in the future. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS that: 
 
1. the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Policy be approved for publication in July 

2020; and 
 

2. delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director Community Services, in 
consultation with the Housing and Health Portfolio Holder, to approve any 
minor amendments identified during the approval process of the Partner 
Organisations. 

 

12   Eden Community Fund Recommendations  (Pages 179 - 186) 
 

To consider report PP25/20 from the Assistant Director Community Services which 
seeks approval for the award from the Eden Community Fund of Grants to the five 
projects set out in Appendix A. 
 
RECOMENDATION that a grant from the Eden Community Fund is agreed for each 
of the five projects set out in Appendix A, to a total of £41,500.00 
 

13   ICT, Digital, Development Management and Finance Systems  (Pages 187 
- 194) 
 

To consider report F19/20 from the Interim Director Corporate Services, which is 
attached and which seeks to  
1. incorporate appropriate budgets for the development of the Digital Platform, 

purchase and implement the new Development Management System and 
new Financial Management System, and  

 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 4 

2. to award a contract for the provision of a replacement IT system covering the 
following Council functions: planning, Building Control, Land Charges, CIL 
(Community Infrastructure Levy), Planning Policy and Section 106 
Agreements. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS that the Executive: 
 
1. approve the additional budget requirements set out in the report and detailed 

in the part II appendix, Development of the Digital Platform and support 
purchase and implement a new Development Management System and 
Finance System; and  
 

2. subject to the approval of the budget at recommendation 2.1 to award the 
contract for Development Management and associated software to DEF 
Software Limited. 

 

14   Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are urgent   
 

15   Date of Next Scheduled Meeting   
 

The date of the next scheduled meeting be confirmed as 15 September 2020 
 

16   Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 

To consider whether, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, members of the public (including the press) should be excluded from the 
meeting during discussion of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 to Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

17   ICT, Digital, Development Management and Finance Systems  (Pages 195 
- 196) 
 

This appendix sets out information supporting report F19/20 from the Interim 
Director of Corporate Services which is exempt under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of the 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
R Rouse 
Chief Executive 
 
Democratic Services Contact: Nichola Baker 
 
 
Encs 
 
For Attention 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 5 

All members of the Council 
 
Chairman – Councillor V Taylor (Liberal Democrat Group) 
Vice Chairman – Councillor M Robinson (Independent Group) 
 
Councillors 

J Derbyshire, Liberal Democrat Group 
K Greenwood, Independent Group 
M Rudhall, Liberal Democrat Group 
 

L Sharp, Labour Group 
M Tonkin, Independent Group 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Please Note:  
1. Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020 and the Local Authorities and Police 

and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and 
Crime Panel Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020 mean that this 
meeting of Eden District Council is classed as a virtual meeting.  

2. Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 this 
meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) 
and as such could be filmed or recorded by the media or members of the 
public 



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No:  F22/20 

Eden District Council 

Executive 

21 July 2020 

Provisional Outturn 2019/20 

Portfolio: Resources 

Report from: Interim Director of Corporate Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 This report summarises the Council’s Revenue and Capital performance for 
the financial year 2019/20. The figures are still subject to finalisation and 
external audit. 

2 Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Executive: 

2.1 Note the Revenue Outturn position for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 1. 

2.2 Note the capital out-turn position for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 2. 

2.3 Agree the balances on capital schemes which have slipped in 2019/20 to be 
carried forward into the 2020/21 capital programme as set out in Appendix 2. 

2.4 Allocate the current revenue underspend to create an earmarked revenue 
reserve to support Covid19 of £200k the remaining £156k to be transferred to 
the transformation programme reserve. 

2.5 Delegate responsibility to the Interim Director of Corporate Services in 
consultation with the Resources Portfolio Holder to consider and implement 
further changes relating to all aspects of the closedown of the accounts for 
2019/20 including: realigning reserves; the transfer of costs from revenue to 
capital; amendments of the revenue and capital budgets; and implementation 
of a minimum revenue provision accordingly.  

3 Report Details 

3.1 The Executive has the responsibility for managing the Council’s resources. A 
key element of this is budgetary monitoring, and the final outturn for the year 
is the measure of the accuracy of budgeting and budgetary control throughout 
the year.  

3.2 The outturn is a fundamental part of the closure of the Council’s Accounts.  
The Covid19 pandemic has had a significant impact upon all Local Authorities 
and their ability to complete the Statement of Accounts within the statutory 
timescales.  This has been recognised and legislation put in place to amend 
these deadlines. 

Page  7

Agenda Item 6



3.3 This has been undertaken through the Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2020.  The impact of the change in legislation is to 
delay the two main closedown deadlines by three months.  The table below 
sets out both the original and revised deadlines: 

 

Original Revised

Draft Accounts Section 151 Officer 31st May 31st August

Audited Accounts Accounts and Governance Committee 31st July 30th November

Deadline
Approval Approver

 

3.4 Outturn 2019-20 is reported for Revenue and Capital and set out in detail in 
the paragraphs below.  Work is ongoing to close the accounts and finalise the 
position, and there are likely to be changes to the figures before the final 
position is confirmed and signed off by the Interim Director of Corporate 
Services prior to the commencement of the audit in August.  

4 Revenue Outturn 2019/20 

4.1 The Council’s outturn position for the General Fund is set out in Appendix 1. 

4.2 During the course of 2019-20, a number of changes have been made to the 
original 2019-20 revenue and capital budgets. The adjusted full-year budget 
represents the original budget, as approved by the Council, the addition of 
supplementary revenue estimates approved during the year, agreed 
virements to existing budgets and the utilisation of appropriate reserves. 

4.3 The draft outturn position at Service level is £2.4m below budget, this is 
reduced by budget adjustments and use of reserves of £2.2m which brings 
the draft revenue outturn position at a Total Cost of Services level to a surplus 
of £221k. Minor movements in funding bring the overall draft revenue outturn 
to a surplus of £356k. 

4.4 This draft revenue outturn position will potentially be affected by a year-end 
review of reserves, a finalisation of provisions and de-minimis capital 
movements. 

4.5 Making accurate comparisons for service variances is difficult due to a change 
in the way the outturn is reported and a fundamental change in how reserves 
are accounted for.  Previously reserves have been included within the service 
rather being adjusted for below the Net Cost of Services line. This has the 
impact of showing an underspend in the Net Cost of Services, which is offset 
in budget adjustments and use of reserves. 

  

Page  8



4.6 The analysis of major variances is set out below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  

4.7 The “real” variances relate to property costs and professional fees across a 
wide range of services.  This is a reflection that the budgets need to be 
reviewed, which will be undertaken as an exercise when Quarter 2 Budget 
Monitoring is completed. 

5 Capital Outturn 2019/20 

5.1 The detailed Capital Outturn and slippage requests by Capital Scheme are 
shown in Appendix 2. 

5.2 The draft capital outturn position shows a significant variance against budget. 
Whilst there were known major variances i.e. the Land and Property 
Acquisition (£2.3m) the majority of schemes have suffered some slippage and 
better budget management is needed. 

5.3 This will be addressed through the setting up of an officer capital working 
group, which will monitor schemes through the year.  The reporting on budget 
monitoring through Budget Planning Committee and Executive will also 
improve the scrutiny and monitoring of outturn. 

6 Policy Framework 

6.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

  £ 

    

Professional Fees 394  

Project Funding  436  

Rent Allowances (195) 

Govt Grant – Housing Benefit Subsidy  874  

S106 Agreements 261  

Property Costs 153  

Depreciation 539  

Other Minor Variances (8) 

Net Cost of Services 2,454  

    

Budget Adjustments/Use of Reserves (2,233) 

    

Total Cost of Services 221  

    

S31 Grants for NNDR 135  

    

Surplus/Deficit 356  

Page  9



6.2 The annual budget and outturn forms an essential part of the Council’s 
budgetary and policy framework. 

7 Consultation 

7.1 The Executive have been consulted on the report and the Budget Scrutiny 
Group convened to consider a presentation on its content. The report forms 
the first part of the formal budget setting process and the budget will be 
consulted upon publicly once approved. 

8 Implications 

8.1 Financial and Resources 

8.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

8.1.2 The nature of the report means that Financial and Resources implications are 
dealt with throughout the body of the report. 

8.2 Legal 

8.2.1 There are no direct Legal implications. 

8.3 Human Resources 

8.3.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications. 

8.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications 

8.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

Completion of the 
Statement of Accounts 
not within statutory 
timescales. 

Specific risks are dealt 
with throughout the 
report 

Reputational risk. Accounts and Audit 
timetables in place 
reports to Accounts 
and Governance 
Committee 

Page  10



9 Other Options Considered 

9.1 No other options have been considered. 

10 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

10.1 To keep Members updated on the work of the External Auditor. 

Background Papers: None 

Appendices: Appendix 1 – Projected Revenue Outturn 2019/20 
Appendix 2 – Projected Capital Outturn 2019/20 

Contact Officer: Paul Sutton, Interim Director of Corporate Services, 
01768 212207

Page  11



Appendix 1 
PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 2019/20 

 Current Budget Projected Outturn Variance 

 £000 £000 £000 
Chief Executive       

Executive & Support 253  251  (2) 
Policy, Performance & HR 336  328  (8) 
Transformation & Customers 497  482  (15) 

Total - Chief Executive 1,086  1,061  (25) 
     
Director of Corporate Services    

Corporate Services 168  217  49  
Finance 215  287  72  
ICT 641  642  1  
Legal & Governance 1,015  923  (92) 
Revenues & Benefits 570  (109) (679) 

Total - Corporate Services 2,609  1,960  (649) 
        

Director of People & Place       
Commissioning & Tech Services 3,939  3,570  (369) 
Community Services 1,975  1,039  (936) 
People & Place 117  104  (13) 
Planning & Economic Development 558  96  (462) 

Total - People & Place 6,589  4,809  (1,780) 
        

Net Cost of Services 10,284  7,830  (2,454) 

        
Budget Adjustments & Use of Reserves (2,605) (372) 2,233  
        

Total Cost of Services/Net Budget Req. 7,679  7,458  (221) 

        
FUNDING       

Settlement Funding Assessment (2,409) (2,510) (101) 
Cumbria Business Rates Pool (394) (426) (32) 
Rural Services Delivery Grant (678) (678) 0  
Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus) 228  228  0  

 (3,253) (3,386) (133) 
       
Transfer to Parish Councils - CTRS 15  13  (2) 
New Homes Bonus (611) (611) 0  

  (596) (598) (2) 

P
age  12



 Current Budget Projected Outturn Variance 
Council Tax Income       

Baseline (3,932) (3,932) 0  
Collection Fund Deficit / (Surplus) 102  102  0  

  (3,830) (3,830) 0  
        

Total Funding (7,679) (7,814) (135) 

        

SURPLUS / DEFICIT 0  (356) (356) 

  

P
age  13



Appendix 2 

Provisional Capital Outturn 2019/20 

Scheme Owner 
Current 
Budget 

Spend Slippage 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
EXPENDITURE             

IT Renewals Ben Wright 101  95    95  6  

Eden Business Park Ph1 Jane Langston 59  0  59  59  0  

Castle Park Vision Jane Langston 187  0  187  187  0  

Old London Rd - Depot site development Jane Langston 65  21  0  21  44  

Parish Footway Lighting Jane Langston 703  264  439  703  0  

Mansion House staff facilities Jane Langston 35  3  32  35  0  

Leisure Centre Equipment & Maintenance Jane Langston 137  39  98  137  0  

Appleby Leisure Centre Refurbishment Jane Langston 212  224  0  224  (12) 

Land and Property Acquisition Les Clark 2,300  0  2,300  2,300  0  

Loans to Heart of Cumbria Paul Sutton 535  510  25  535  0  

Cash Receipting system Paul Sutton 36  30  0  30  6  

Delivering Digital Innovation Paul Sutton 79  58  0  58  21  

Discretionary Renovation Grants Robert Docherty 160  15  100  115  45  

Disabled Facility Grants Robert Docherty 478  354  124  478  0  

Housing Innovation fund Robert Docherty 358    358  358  0  

Newton Rd Extra Care Facility Robert Docherty 288  0  288  288  0  

Total   5,733  1,613  4,010  5,623  110         

FUNDING 
Current 
Budget 

YTD 
Spend 

Slippage 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
             
Capital Receipts  1,022  303  630  933  89  
Direct Revenue/Reserves  1,933  956  956  1,912  21  
Capital Grants  478  354  124  478  0  
Borrowing  2,300  0  2,300  2,300  0  

   5,733  1,613  4,010  5,623  110  

 

P
age  14



Report No:  F21/20 

Eden District Council 

Budget Planning Committee 
16 July 2020 

Executive 
21 July 2020 

Quarter 1 – Budget Monitoring 2020/21 

Portfolio: Resources 

Report from: Interim Director of Corporate Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 This report summarises the Council’s current Revenue and Capital position 
and full year projections for the 1st Quarter 2020/21. 

2 Recommendations 

 The Budget Planning Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Review the projected revenue and capital position at June 2020 and make 
any comments to Executive. 

 The Budget Executive is recommended to: 

2.2 Note the projected revenue and capital position at June 2020. 

3 Introduction 

3.1 In line with good practice budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis 
within the Council. The revenue and capital position is formulated in 
conjunction with the Corporate Leadership Team and formally to the Budget 
Planning Committee on a quarterly basis. This report will go to Budget 
Planning Committee on 16 July 2020 and Executive on 21 July 2020. 

3.2 It is critical that the Council has accurate and timely budget monitoring 
information to help inform in year decision making, to ensure the best use of 
resources and that value for money is being achieved at the highest level. 

3.3 This is turn enables the Council to plan in the medium term with the maximum 
amount of confidence. Whilst, the current scenario with the Covid19 pandemic 
generates significant uncertainty having the best understanding of our 
financial position will give us the best chances of successfully navigating our 
way through. 

4 Background 

4.1 The key to the above is in the timely provision of accurate financial 
information, which should be up to date expenditure and income and properly 
considered projections to the year-end. 

Page  15

Agenda Item 7



4.2 Up until the quarter 3 - 2019/20 report to Executive in December 2020 
monitoring reports focussed solely on year to date expenditure and income 
compared to budget profile. This presents an extremely short term view of the 
financial position and clearly isn’t fit for planning purposes. 

4.3 This is largely due to the limitations of the current Financial Management 
System, which is well beyond it’s useful life. It’s reporting functionality is 
extremely poor and most reports are adapted outside the system making it is 
very time consuming to produce the type of reports that are needed. 

4.4 With no forecasts for outturn to help guide, the trend has been to use 
supplementary estimates when budget pressures arise. This increases the 
overall budget when historically it is significantly underspent. 

4.5 The provisional outturn for 2019/20 reflects an underspend of £356k, which is 
in line with previous years. The reason for the underspend lies in both the 
budgeting, which has been incremental and not adjusted to reflect the real 
levels of spending and income. 

4.6 In order to better inform decision making, work has been undertaken to 
produce up-to-date forecast projections for Quarter 1. This has been 
additionally complicated by Covid19 and Q1 is generally more difficult to 
project due to how early it is in the year. 

4.7 Further work will be undertaken to refine budget profiles and projections at Q2 
and Q3 to continuously improvement to the information currently presented. 

4.8 The summary Revenue budget monitoring report for quarter 1 is set out at 
Appendix A. 

4.9 The overall year to date position reflects an underspend of £76k, which is 
expected to increase to £1.5m at year end. The projections are based upon 
the impact of Covid and show that the impact on the Council’s budgets 
currently is minimal however it is anticipated that there will be issues around a 
number of key budget areas.  These are set out in the table below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  £000 

    

Increased Costs   

Leisure Contract 1,200  

Homelessness 90  

ICT - Home Working Setup 20  

Total Increased Costs 1,310  

    

Reduced Income   

Car Parking 50  

Commercial Income 107  

Planning Fees 94  

Total Reduced Income 251  

    

Grand Total 1,561  

Page  16



4.10 The summary Capital budget monitoring report for quarter 1 is set out at 
Appendix B. 

4.11 The current level of spend on the programme is £0.5m which equates to 
around 8.5% of the overall budget. This is significantly lower than would be 
expected at this stage in the financial year and whilst there are larger 
schemes that are expected to have significant spend later in the year the 
projections need additional work. 

4.12 The capital programme therefore needs a full review of each individual project 
and it’s deliverability in year. This will be undertaken with budget holders 
before the end of September and reported as part of the Quarter 2 report. 

4.13 The review will also feed into the budget setting process where we need to 
ensure that schemes are profiled realistically and then managed during the life 
of the scheme. Capital projects can be difficult to manage and are often 
influenced by factors that cannot be controlled, however we need to ensure 
that better management of schemes is achieved. 

4.14 A new officer Capital Working Group is in the process of being set up, which 
will be led by the Interim Director of Corporate Services and will feed into the 
quarterly monitoring reports. 

5 Policy Framework 

5.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, Safe and Secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative. 

5.2 The annual budget forms an essential part of the Council’s budgetary and 
policy framework. 

6 Consultation 

6.1 The Executive have been consulted on the report and the Budget Scrutiny 
group convened to consider a presentation on it’s content. The report forms 
the first part of the formal budget setting process and the budget will be 
consulted upon publicly once approved. 

7 Implications 

7.1 Financial and Resources 

7.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
it’s Council Plan 2019-2023, as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

7.1.2 The nature of the report means that Financial and Resources implications are 
dealt with throughout the body of the report. 

7.2 Legal 

7.2.1 There are no direct Legal implications. 

7.3 Human Resources 

7.3.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications. 

Page  17



7.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications 
and proposed measures to 
address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications 

Health, Social Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications 

Children and Safeguarding There are no implications 

7.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

A funding gap remains 
on the Council’s MTFP 
although the position is 
has improved since 
last February.  The 
lack of forecast 
information, pressure 
on budgets and 
flexibility in local tax 
setting continue to 
make maintaining a 
sustainable budget in 
the medium term 
difficult. 

Specific risks are dealt 
with throughout the 
report 

Lack of fiscal control. 

 

Decline in reserves. 

 

Poor External Audit 
VFM Conclusion. 

Budget Setting process 
needs to be robust and 
include all stakeholders. 

 

Budget monitoring must 
be accurate and timely 
and lead to proactive 
decision making. 

8 Other Options Considered 

8.1 No other options have been considered. 

9 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

9.1 To keep Members updated on the work of the External Auditor. 

Background Papers: None 

Appendices: Appendix A – Revenue Budget Monitoring Q1 2020/21 

 Appendix B – Capital Budget Monitoring Q1 2020/21 

Contact Officer: Paul Sutton, Interim Director of Corporate Services, 
01768 212207

Page  18



Appendix A 

SUMMARY BY SERVICE AREA 2020/21 - QUARTER 1 

            

  Actual vs Profile - April to June 2020  Current Budget vs Projected Outturn 2020/21 

  
Budget 

YTD Virements 
Current 

YTD 
Actual 
YTD Variance  

Original 
Budget Virements 

Current 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Variance 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

                       

Chief Executive                      

Executive & Support 62  10  52  51  (0)  188  10  198  198  0  

Policy, Performance & HR 34  (41) 76  48  (28)  331  (41) 290  290  0  

Transformation & Customers 194  (7) 202  218  17   783  (7) 776  776  0  

Total - Chief Executive 290  (39) 329  317  (12)  1,302  (39) 1,263  1,263  0  

                       

Director of Corporate Services                      

Corporate Services 24  0  24  33  9   98  0  98  98  0  

Finance 60  0  60  109  49   142  0  142  142  107  

ICT 178  0  178  261  83   633  0  633  653  20  

Legal & Governance 145  (109) 254  256  2   1,026  (109) 917  917  0  

Revenues & Benefit’s 202  15  187  187  0   620  15  635  635  0  

Total - Corporate Services 609  (94) 703  846  143   2,519  (94) 2,425  2,445  127  

                       

Director of People & Place                      

Commissioning & Tech Services 1,203  (5) 1,208  1,213  5   4,170  (5) 4,165  5,415  1,250  

Community Services 329  1  328  322  (6)  1,173  1  1,174  1,264  90  

People & Place 24  0  24  10  (14)  97  0  97  97  0  

Planning & Economic Development 171  26  145  105  (40)  517  26  543  637  94  

Total - People & Place 1,727  22  1,705  1,650  (55)  5,957  22  5,979  7,413  1,434  

                       

Grand Total 2,626  (111) 2,737  2,813  76   9,778  (111) 9,667  11,121  1,561  

  

P
age  19



Appendix B 

Capital Programme Budget Monitoring to Quarter 1 2020/21 

Scheme Owner 
Original 
Budget 

Brought 
forward 

Virements 
Current 
Budget 

YTD 
Spend 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

EXPENDITURE                 

IT Renewals Ben Wright 70      70  21  70  0  

Eden Business Park Ph1 Jane Langston   59    59    59  0  

Castle Park Vision Jane Langston   187    187    187  0  

Old London Rd - Depot site development Jane Langston       0    0  0  

Parish Footway Lighting Jane Langston   439    439  60  439  0  

Mansion House staff facilities Jane Langston   32    32    32  0  

Leisure Centre Equipment & Maintenance Jane Langston 438  98    536    536  0  

Appleby Leisure Centre Refurbishment Jane Langston       0    0  0  

Land and Property Acquisition Les Clark   2,300    2,300  5  2,300  0  

Loans to Heart of Cumbria Paul Sutton 870  25    895  322  895  0  

Cash Receipting system Paul Sutton       0    0  0  

Delivering Digital Innovation Paul Sutton       0    0  0  

Discretionary Renovation Grants Robert Docherty 0  100    100    100  0  

Disabled Facility Grants Robert Docherty 440  124    564  90  564  0  

Housing Innovation fund Robert Docherty   358    358    358  0  

Newton Rd Extra Care Facility Robert Docherty   288    288    288  0  

Total   1,818  4,010  0  5,828  498  5,828  0  

  

P
age  20



         

FUNDING 
Original 
Budget 

Brought 
forward 

Virements 
Current 
Budget 

YTD 
Spend 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

                  

Capital Receipts   0  630  0  630  60  630  0  

Direct Revenue/Reserves   1,378  956  0  2,334  343  2,334  0  

Capital Grants   440  124  0  564  90  564  0  

Borrowing   0  2,300  0  2,300  5  2,300  0  

    1,818  4,010  0  5,828  498  5,828  0  

 

P
age  21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report No:  F20/20 

Eden District Council 

Budget Planning Committee 
16 July 2020 

Executive 
21 July 2020 

Medium Term Financial Plan Review 

Portfolio: Resources 

Report from: Interim Director of Corporate Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 This report reviews the implications of the Covid19 pandemic on the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and any actions that need to or ought to 
be made. 

2 Recommendation 

The Budget Planning Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Review the MTFP update and make any comments to Executive. 

The Executive is recommended to: 

2.2 Note the MTFP update. 

3 Introduction 

3.1 The Covid19 pandemic is having a significant financial impact globally, 
nationally and locally. It is affecting the majority of businesses including local 
authorities. We have been working hard to support other businesses in need, 
recognising our role within the Community. We must also though make sure 
that we consider our own financial position and actions required to manage 
our way through this difficult period. 

3.2 At this time of the year the Council would have usually closed its Accounts 
and be focussing upon 1st Quarter Monitoring. The pandemic has meant a 
delay to the timescales for the Accounts and so both are being reported 
together. It is therefore an opportune time to report on the financial impacts of 
Covid thus far and to try and project what they might be this for this financial 
year and beyond. 

3.3 The current scenario creates a huge amount of uncertainty, which has added 
to the already uncertain landscape following Austerity and Brexit. The 
Government has announced financial support for local authorities, which is 
welcome, although it is currently still unclear what the extent of the help is and 
whether it will be sufficient to cover the all of the Council’s additional costs and 
lost income. 

Page  23

Agenda Item 8



4 Short Term/High Level Implications 

4.1 Given the uncertain nature of the future it’s important to understand the 
position in the short-term. With some local authorities considering immediate 
action through an emergency budget or section 114 notice, I would like to 
clarify the Council’s current position. 

4.2 The Council currently has significant cash or equivalent balances around 
£14m in total. This means that cash flow isn’t a concern for the Council in the 
short or medium term. 

4.3 The Council also maintains a General Fund balance and Earmarked 
Reserves, which are held to provide funding for unforeseen circumstances 
and specific projects respectively. The level of funding currently held is as 
follows: 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Outturn Estimate Forecast

Balance B/Fwd 7,574 3,180 3,180

Net Transfers In Year (4,394) 0 0

Balance C/Fwd 3,180 3,180 3,180

Balance B/Fwd 6,442 10,044 7,654

Net Transfers In Year 3,602 (2,390) (1,468)

Balance C/Fwd 10,044 7,654 6,186

Balance B/Fwd 14,016 13,224 10,834

Net Transfers In Year (792) (2,390) (1,468)

Balance C/Fwd 13,224 10,834 9,366

General Fund Balance

Earmarked Reserves

Total Revenue Reserves

 

4.4 This again provides sufficient funding for the Council in both the short and 
medium term. The action of an emergency budget to reduce spending in year 
or a section 114 notice to stop spending altogether are not required. 

5 Government Support 

5.1 Since the pandemic began the Government has been working with Local 
Authorities to understand the financial implications that are being suffered in 
order to provide a support package to assist authorities through the pandemic. 

5.2 The Council has completed and submitted financial data forms to help provide 
the Government with both actual and projected data to assist in refining the 
support. 

5.3 There have currently been two tranches of non-ringfenced support provided to 
Local Authorities.  The first was £1.6bn nationally and our share was £30k.  It 
was accepted that at the point in time this was announced the main focus was 
upon managing in care homes and the vast majority went to top tier 
authorities. 

5.4 The second was also £1.6bn nationally but was split according to population, 
this isn’t the most beneficial to a sparse authority, however we received £525k 
a total of £555k. 

Page  24



5.5 In recent weeks the Government has made a further announcement, which 
contains both additional non-ringfenced funding and specific support around 
income, council tax and business rates. The package is set out below: 

 A further £500 million of funding to cover local authority spending 
pressures; 

 A co-payment mechanism for irrecoverable Sales, Fees and Charges 
income, with the Government covering 75% of losses beyond 5% of 
planned income; 

 Phased repayment of Collection Fund deficits over the next 3 years; 

 A commitment to determine what support is needed to help Councils 
meet the pressures of irrecoverable tax income at the Spending 
Review. 

5.6 At the time of writing the detailed guidance still hasn’t been published, so it’s 
unclear what our share of the £500m might be. If it’s in line with the previous 
allocation it would be around £165k. In addition to this the Government has 
announced that it’s still considering specifically financial arrangements 
regarding operation of Leisure Centres and something further is expected on 
this in a future announcement. 

5.7 It is also unclear whether the sales, fees and charges mechanism is to be 
funded from within the existing 3 tranches or whether separate funding will be 
made available. 

5.8 The phased repayment of collection fund deficits (Council Tax and Business 
Rates) will be helpful. These are shared with the other preceptors (County, 
Police and Parish) for Council Tax and with the County and Government for 
Business Rates. 

5.9 The premise is that the larger deficits, which are expected from non-payment 
in 2020/21, which would normally be recovered, from revenue, in 2021/22 can 
be partially deferred across the three years. 

5.10 The Council as billing authority manages the Collection Fund. The non-
payment of Council Tax and Business Rates is projected to be significant, but 
it is particularly difficult to model to revenue given the sharing arrangements 
through the Collection Fund. Work had started on scenario’s for the collection 
fund and once the detailed guidance is received this will be factored in. 

Page  25



6 Current Projections for the Council 

6.1 The Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring report sets out the current budget 
projections for 2020/21.  The table below sets out the high level expected 
variances. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

6.2 The largest projected variance is in relation to the operation of Leisure 
Centres, which is still being considered by Government. The projections take 
account of a phased re-opening of Centres, however there is still a level of 
uncertainty about the level of income the contractor will be able to achieve, 
which will have an impact upon the overall level of the variance. 

6.3 Without the Leisure Centres the level of projected variance would be able to 
be managed through the Government support (£555k) already of provided. It 
is therefore critical to both our in year monitoring and medium term forecasting 
to understand what additional support may or may not be awarded. 

6.4 At this stage we will need to presume that any additional funding will be 
limited and we will need to find the additional funding from our own resources. 
To that end it is recommended that an additional £200k be earmarked from 
the underspend in 2019/20. 

6.5 Given the Government changes announced regarding Collection Fund more 
work will need to be completed to establish what the position will be regarding 
funding for Council Tax and Business Rates both in year and in to the medium 
term. A further update will be provided on at the MTFP review at quarter 2. 

6.6 It is clear therefore that in the short term i.e. this financial year and next the 
Council’s finances remain in a strong position. There are sufficient reserves to 
manage the projected impacts even without further Government support. 

7 Medium Term Factors 

7.1 Whilst, the short-term outlook remains can be managed there are a number of 
medium term factors, which need to be taken into account. 

7.2 The first relates to the ongoing impacts that of those variances we’ve already 
discussed.  At this stage the uncertainty makes projecting past this year 

  £000 
    
Increased Costs   
Leisure Contract 1,200  
Homelessness      90  

ICT - Home Working Setup      20  

Total Increased Costs 1,310  
   
Reduced Income   
Car Parking      50  
Commercial Income    107  

Planning Fees      94  

Total Reduced Income    251  
   

Grand Total 1,561  

Page  26



extremely difficult as there is no definitive financial data in the first quarter. 
This will again be reviewed substantially at Q2 with a view to providing more 
accurate projections in to the medium term. 

7.3 The second relates to future Local Authority Funding settlements and other 
related income streams such as Rural Services Delivery Grant and New 
Homes Bonus. The Government has already announced its plans to further 
defer the introduction of the change to the Retained Business Rates system, 
but nothing as yet for the others. 

7.4 These are key to the level of resources within the MTFP and if they are 
retained at their existing level will provide additional funding as they have 
been projected to decline. 

7.5 The main conclusions around the medium term is the uncertainty across the 
Council’s expenditure, income and funding. At this stage projecting past this 
financial year is difficult as we simply don’t have enough information in the 
majority of areas. This will be further updated at Q2. 

8 One Eden Transformation Programme 

8.1 Whilst, making accurate projections is currently difficult what is absolutely 
clear is that the Council’s resources are under pressure and look likely to 
remain so for some time. 

8.2 This was also the reflection when the Budget was set in February and whilst 
the pressures through Covid are different the method for dealing with them is 
already in place. 

8.3 The One Eden Transformation Programme is designed to drive Customer and 
Service improvements and the financial savings to ensure a sustainable 
medium term financial position. 

8.4 What Covid therefore emphasises is the need to continue to deliver the 
Programme. Work has continued and whilst Covid has had an impact on 
some of the timescales the project remains on target to be delivered in this 
financial year. 

8.5 To support the continuation of the project and additional £156k has been 
earmarked from the underspend in 2019/20 to support the transformation 
programme. 

8.6 In overall terms the reserves maintained by the Council will allow the work to 
be completed and the ongoing savings will impact positively regardless of the 
ultimate impacts of Covid. Continuous management and monitoring will be 
undertaken to ensure that this results in a rolling sustainable medium term 
forecast of the Council. 

9 Policy Framework 

9.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

Page  27



9.2 The annual budget forms an essential part of the Council’s budgetary and 
policy framework. 

10 Consultation 

10.1 The Executive have been consulted on the report and the Budget Scrutiny 
group convened to consider a presentation on its content. The report forms 
the first part of the formal budget setting process and the budget will be 
consulted upon publicly once approved. 

11 Implications 

11.1 Financial and Resources 

11.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

11.1.2 The nature of the report means that Financial and Resources implications are 
dealt with throughout the body of the report. 

11.2 Legal 

11.2.1 There are no direct Legal implications. 

11.3 Human Resources 

11.3.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications. 

11.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity There are no implications 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications 

Crime and Disorder There are no implications 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications 

11.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

A funding gap remains 
on the Council’s MTFP 
although the position is 
has improved since last 
February.  The lack of 
forecast information, 
pressure on budgets 
and flexibility in local 
tax setting continue to 
make maintaining a 
sustainable budget in 

Lack of fiscal control. 

 

Decline in reserves. 

 

Poor External Audit 
VFM Conclusion. 

Budget Setting process 
needs to be robust and 
include all 
stakeholders. 

 

Budget monitoring 
must be accurate and 
timely and lead to 

Page  28



Risk Consequence Controls Required 

the medium term 
difficult. 

Specific risks are dealt 
with throughout the 
report 

proactive decision 
making. 

12 Other Options Considered 

12.1 No other options have been considered. 

12 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

13.1 Report is for members to note the contents. 

Background Papers: None 

Appendices: None 

Contact Officer: Paul Sutton, Interim Director of Corporate Services, 
01768 212207 

Page  29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report No: CE6/20 

Eden District Council 

Executive 
21 July 2020 

Recovery Plan & Corporate Plan Update Report 

Portfolio: Leader 

Report from: Chief Executive 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the strategic priorities for the year 
2020-2021 which includes the Recovery Plan Initiatives developed in response to the 
global pandemic. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the revised strategic priorities are approved, and form the 
basis of the quarterly Performance Management reports. 

2.2  The operational initiatives in the Recovery Plan are noted. 

3 Report 

3.1 In November 2019 the Executive approved the Council Plan (now known as the 
Corporate Plan 2019-2023).  The vision and strategic priorities were adopted and are 
as follows:- 

 Vision 

Our vision for Eden is of a place where people act together to meet the needs of all 
and ensure the well-being of future generations. 

Strategic Priorities 

Sustainable 

Make our Council financially viable, customer focused and zero carbon. Co-produce 
economic opportunities and strategies which will protect Eden’s working cultural 
landscapes and biodiversity, aiming to store more carbon than is produced in the 
District. 

Healthy, Safe and Secure 

Improve housing, both new build and existing, working towards self-sufficiency in 
energy; and co-produce healthy, connected, prosperous communities, for all, young 
and old, urban and rural. 

Connected 

Improve digital connectivity, transport and access to attract and support businesses, 
employees and families, connecting Eden with the global economy and knowledge 
industries. People connected in communities and with access to education, work, 
healthcare and leisure and combat isolation. 

Page  31

Agenda Item 9



 

Creative 

Encourage innovation in tourism, food and green industries and support businesses to 
respond to national and global changes. Develop arts and cultural activities to add to 
town centre vibrancy; support communities; and improve health and wellbeing 

3.2 Our strategic aim of the Recovery Plan is to Build  Back Better in a way that 
rebalances the relationship between the economy, communities and environment to 
ensure rapid rebuilding where needed and sustainable growth and improvement into 
the future.  A series of interventions, including those already contained in the 
Corporate Plan and other strategies that align to this approach will be developed and 
form the basis of bids for funding from Central Government and other sources. In 
some cases interventions in some sectors will reflect the District’s contribution to 
County wide and other plans.  Some interventions will be cross-cutting and support 
more than one theme. We should adopt or adapt interventions that others are using 
where they fit well with our needs. 

 

3.3 It is fortuitous that the Council already has a transformation plan in the One Eden 
Programme that will rejuvenate the organisation.  Adapting to the conditions created 
by the pandemic has meant implementing some of the principles of One Eden, such 
as flexible working, customer self-service and enhanced cooperation with partners, 
earlier than anticipated.  The success in helping the Council maintain high levels of 
services despite the challenges should reinforce confidence in the One Eden 
Programme as well as the imperative to hold to the timetable for its implementation. 

3.4  Below is the list of our Strategic Priorities 2020-2021.   These will be reviewed on a 
regular basis to react to changes from Government, legislation and funding becoming 
available. A summary is also attached in Appendix A of this report. The progress of 
these will be reported as part of the Quarterly Performance Management reports to 
the Executive. 

3.5 Recovery Plan – Strategic  

 New Squares   

 Circular Economy  

3.6 Joint Recovery Plan & Corporate Plan – Strategic  

The following initiatives are also part of our Recovery Plan, and are also in our 
Corporate Plan: 

 One Eden  

 Heart of Cumbria  

 Zero Carbon Housing Retrofit Programme  

 Place making  

 Town Centres 

 Newtown Rigg 

 Young Person  & families Strategy   

 Low Carbon/Greening Eden Businesses  

 Biodiversity  

 Home Improvement Agency   `Better Homes'  

Page  32



 

 Castle Park  

 Digital Eden Community Fibre Partnership  

 Cycling 

3.7 Corporate Plan – Strategic  

These are our other Strategic priorities which are in our Corporate Plan  

 Local Plan 

 Zero Carbon Strategy   

 New Homes  

 Eden & Rural Economic Strategy  

 Sustainable waste service  

 Arts & Culture  

 Community Engagement  

 Equality & Diversity  

3.8 Recovery Plan – Operational  

In addition to the Strategic priorities, our Recovery Plan also includes some 

operational initiatives.  The progress of these initiatives will be monitored through the 

team Service Plans, and will not be reported as part of the quarterly performance 

reports.  These are as follows: 

 New Squares  

 Marketing Service Centres   

 Cumbria Recovery Advisory Group  

 Visitor Economy  

 Supporting food businesses  

 Licensing  - Better Business for all  

 Active Eden/Community Health & Wellbeing/ Leisure 

 Community Resilience & Recovery  

 Innovative Events  

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, Safe and Secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

4.2 This report meets all of the above priorities.  See Appendix A – attached. 

5 Consultation 

5.1 Senior managers, and members of the Executive were consulted in drafting the 
revised strategic priorities for 2020-2021. 

Page  33



 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income must be 
made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in its Council Plan 
2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2 Financial commitment to the Corporate Plan priorities were identified in Appendix A in 
the MTFP (ref F13/20).  Allocations required to support the new Recovery Plan 
initiatives have also been identified. Where any additional financial support is required 
to deliver the Recovery Plan initiatives these will be identified in the quarterly budget 
review and external funding bids will be made where the need arises. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 The provision of functions set out in this report shall be provided in accordance with 
relevant legal requirements including those that impact on equality and diversity and 
taking account of the legal duties that the Council has towards staff. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity The Council is committed to ensuring it meets the 
Public Sector Equality Duty in order to provide 
equality of opportunity through access to services for 
all and delivering services which meet the needs of 
the Council’s customers. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

The Corporate Plan and proposed Recovery 
initiatives promote the well-being of future 
generations, and the post pandemic recovery of our 
communities. There will be positive implications from 
the zero carbon initiatives outlined in the plan and 
benefits from on-going economic opportunities.  

Crime and Disorder Healthy, connected, prosperous communities will 
reduced the scope for crime and disorder. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

The Council will work with other agencies to promote 
the well-being and safety of children and vulnerable 
adults. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

That the Council does 
not have a clear vision 
for the post pandemic 
recovery, and the 
corporate plan is not 
reviewed and updated  
to deal with emerging 
issues 

Short term and reactive 
decision making which is 
not in the best interest of 
the Council over the 
longer term. 

Adoption of the Recovery 
Plan Initiatives and  
revised  strategic priorities  

Page  34



 

7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 None. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 To ensure that the Corporate Plan and Recovery Plan Initiatives are in alignment with 
the MTPF and support the delivery of the Council’s ambitions and priorities to help 
Eden’s recovery from Coivd 19, with a strategic framework within which the Council 
operates. 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 2020 

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 2020 

Relevant Director  

Background Papers: CE16/19 Report to Executive: Council Plan 2019-2023 

 F13/20 Corporate Plan, Budgets 2020/21, One Eden 
Transformation & Medium Term Financial Plan 

Appendices: Contact Officer: Rose Rouse, Chief Executive 

Page  35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Strategic Priorities 2020 - 2021 
 

Strategic Priorities 2020 to 2021 
Sustainable 

One Eden - move to one operational site; embed a Customer Experience Culture 
across the organisation; create a dynamic agile organisation, focussing on 
customers, service delivery, digital technology, accommodation, workforce skills and 
income generation. 

Local Plan/Planning – developing a new Local Plan, procuring a SHENA, and 
issuing a Call for Sites, and commence production of Climate Change DPD. 

Zero Carbon Strategy  - To deliver the Zero Carbon Eden District Council Strategy 
& Action Plan 2020-2023, making progress on reducing the Council’s carbon 
footprint of 1.47 tCO2 per annum to zero by 2030, focusing in 5 areas:   Business 
Processing & Practices; Sustainable development;  Assets & energy; Land Use; 
Consumption & waste 

Sustainable waste service - To provide a new waste and recycling service which is 
fully compliant with the governments waste and resource strategy and reduces the 
Councils carbon footprint through providing a more sustainable collection service. 

Eden Economic Strategy – prepare a draft strategy to support growth, business 
development, a higher wage economy and skills gap; rethinking taking place after 
Covid-19 to Build Back Better  

Place making - redevelopment of Mansion House & Town Hall sites to enhance the 
public realm, and provision of Hotel, leisure & cultural facilities.  

Circular Economy - To develop and support initiatives which look at preserving 
resources, minimising waste and moving to a circular economy. Projects which 
promote recycled and recovered materials, support market for remanufactured 
goods, and remove single use plastics. 

Newton Rigg - details of initiative to be completed once external reviews are 
published.  

Healthy, Safe & Secure 

New Homes - develop  a pilot new build sustainable housing scheme, which is 
environmentally sound and capable of being replicated within a reasonable cost 
envelope, and to use the learning gained to work in partnership with Homes England 
and other agencies to deliver the wider roll out of similar schemes to meet local 
needs, including key workers. 

Home Improvement Agency - develop `Better Homes', & speed up delivery of 
Disabled Facilities Grants  

Page  37



Appendix A – Strategic Priorities 2020 - 2021 
 

Zero Carbon Housing Retrofit Programme over 3 phases starting with a pilot 
scheme we will explore utilising a range of different technologies and insulation 
measures from different providers and targeting a range of properties representative 
of the broader housing stock to tackle the triple challenges of zero carbon, health 
and wellbeing and fuel poverty in the private housing sector.  

Heart of Cumbria - To increase the supply of affordable homes in Penrith through 
the delivery of the Heart of Cumbria business plan.  To directly support the supply of 
accommodation for homeless households through the lease of a proportion of HoC 
properties 

Young Person & families Strategy - work with partners with the aim to retain and 
attract a working age population to overcome the increasing demographic 
imbalance, improve health & wellbeing, and to provide our young people with 
education, training, employment opportunities and good affordable housing.   

Castle Park continue with proposals to create a more vibrant and well used space 
with improved facilities and biodiversity. 

Connected 

Community Engagement -Improve links between the community and the Council 
and renew working arrangements with town and parish councils. 

Digital Eden Community Fibre Partnership - supporting Zero Carbon economy for 
rural businesses by facilitating the development of broadband within in our rural 
communities including domestic premises to support education and homeworking. 
Creating conditions to support technology businesses to set up and thrive in the 
district. Creating infrastructure and work space, achieving targets towards 100% 
broadband coverage of Eden District. 

Cycling - To encourage increased cycling in the District through improved facilities 
and support; to promote cycling to work, and to increase tourism through better cycle 
routes.  

Equality & Diversity - Policy review in terms of current practice, in consultation 
current partners  

Creative  

Town Centres - work with partners, including CCC, to reinvent our town centres for 
the future  

Low Carbon/Greening Eden Businesses - To improve the competitiveness and 
financial/environmental sustainability of local businesses focussing on encouraging 
and facilitating mutual support between local businesses by using local supply of 
goods and services, and providing specialist advice to business  

Biodiversity - To have an integrated approach, with external bodies, to biodiversity, 
conservation and carbon off-setting to support our environment 

Page  38



Appendix A – Strategic Priorities 2020 - 2021 
 

Arts & Culture - develop an Arts & Culture Programme to enhance the creative and 
cultural lives of all; creating a great place for young people; to sustain healthy 
communities; establish Eden as a place for artists and craftspeople and greater 
community participation in Arts and Culture activity throughout the District. 

Page  39



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: CE7/20 

Eden District Council 

Executive 
21 July 2020 

Corporate Performance Report: April - June 2020 

Portfolio: Leader 

Report from: Chief Executive 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 1. Provide a summary of progress against the revised corporate performance targets 
for the period April – June 2020. 

 2. Inform the Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committee any areas of concern 
or issues requiring attention and the remedial activity in place to deal with these. 

2 Recommendations 

It is recommended that the progress to date be noted. 

3 Report 

3.1 This is a regular quarterly report by the Executive reports on the corporate 
performance framework. In this instance it covers Quarter 1 of 2020/21 – April to June 
2020. It incorporates the milestones from the Corporate Plan that was adopted by the 
Council in November 2019, and subsequently reviewed and incorporating the 
Recovery Plan as a result on the global pandemic.    

3.2 The Performance Management and reporting process will continue to be refined over 
the coming year to tie in with the transformation programme as we move towards 
becoming a more agile organisation. 

3.2 Members will note from the Corprate Plan Dashboard at Appendix A that progress 
against the four priorities is good with all the strategic objectives being green. An 
explanation for the RAG ratings is given in Appendix A. 

 

3.3 We have tried to ensure that our targets are SMART 

 Specific 

 Measurable 

 Achievable 

 Relevant 

 Time bound 

3.4 Some of these targets are ambitious so we have tried to make sure that they are 
achievable in their milestones and desired outcomes. During Q1 the focus of the 
Council has still been in dealing with the pandemic and also planning for our recovery 
both as a Council and the district, which is subject to another report on this same 

Page  41

Agenda Item 10



agenda.  Currently all of the Strategic Objectives are within their timescales and on 
target.   

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, Safe and Secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

4.2 This report meets all of the above priorities. 

5 Consultation 

5.1 In terms of the Performance Management Framework, senior managers, members of 
the Executive and the Chairman of Scrutiny Co-ordinating Board were consulted in 
drafting the new framework. 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 The provision of functions set out in this report shall be provided in accordance with 
relevant legal requirements including those that impact on equality and diversity and 
taking account of the legal duties that the Council has towards staff. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity Performance management has a positive impact on 
the consideration of and delivery of positive 
outcomes in terms of Equality and Diversity. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

Performance management has a positive impact on 
the consideration of and delivery of positive 
outcomes in terms of Health, Social, Environmental 
and Economic Impact. 

Crime and Disorder Performance management has a positive impact on 
the consideration of and delivery of positive 
outcomes in terms of Crime and Disorder. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

Performance management has a positive impact on 
the consideration of and delivery of positive 
outcomes in terms of Children and Safeguarding. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

Risks to public, finance 
or reputation through 
poor monitoring of 

Adverse impacts on the 
public, the Council’s 
finances or reputation. 

The new performance 
management framework 
now links risk 

Page  42



Council Performance. management with priority 
actions, programmes and 
measures. 

7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 The only other option is not to report on progress against targets set. This is not 
recommended. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 To advise Members of progress against outcomes. 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 2020 

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 2020 

Relevant Director  

Background Papers: CE10/19 Corporate Performance Management Framework 
CE12/19 Process and Timetable for the Corporate Plan 2019-23 
CE13/19 Corporate Performance Report: April to June 2019 
CE17/19 Corporate Performance Report: July to September 2019 

 CE1/20 Corporate Performance Report: October to December 
2019 

 CE4/20 Corporate Performance Report: January to March 2020 

Appendices: Appendix A - The Corporate Plan Dashboard 

Contact Officer: Rose Rouse, Chief Executive 

Page  43



This page is intentionally left blank



The Corporate Plan 
Dashboard 
 

Priorities as at Quarter 1 – 1 April 2020 – 30 June 
2020 (subject to change) 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable  

One Eden  

Local Plan  

Zero Carbon Strategy  

Sustainable Waste Service  

Eden & Rural Economic Strategy  

Place making  

Circular Economy  

Newton Rigg  

  

Healthy, Safe & Secure  

New Homes  

Home Improvement Agency – Better 
Homes 

 

Zero Carbon retro fit programme  

Heart of Cumbria - Homelessness  

Young Persons Strategy  

Castle Park  

  

 

 

 

 

 

Connected  

Community Engagement  

Digital Eden Community Fibre Partnership  

Cycling   

Equality & Diversity  

  

Creative  

Town Centres  

Low Carbon/Greening Eden’s Businesses  

Biodiversity  

Arts & Culture  

 

 

 

 

 P
age  45



Key Strategic Objectives Rating 

Sustainable  

One Eden - move to one operational site; embed a Customer Experience Culture across the organisation; 
create a dynamic agile organisation, focussing on customers, service delivery, digital technology, 
accommodation, workforce skills and income generation 

 

Programme governance arrangements in place and working well. Work stream leads meeting operating and 
highlighting any coordination issues or items for escalation. On balance overall RAG rating green when considering 
those work streams that have been accelerated and others where Covid-19 and the requirement for sequential 
programme management has had an impact on delivery timescales. My Account is now live. 

 

Local Plan/Planning – developing a new Local Plan, procuring a SHENA, and issuing a Call for Sites, and 
commence production of Climate Change DPD 

 

The procurement of SHENA progresses well and went out to tender in May 2020.   

Zero Carbon Strategy  - To deliver the Zero Carbon Eden District Council Strategy & Action Plan 2020-2023, 
making progress on reducing the Council’s carbon footprint of 1.47 tCO2 per annum to zero by 2030, 
focusing in 5 areas:  Business Processing & Practices; Sustainable development;  Assets & energy; Land 
Use; Consumption & waste 

 

First draft of ZCE strategy and action plan complete & members working group set up. Work with the group & 
specialists will commence starting with a review of the draft Strategy  
 

 

Sustainable waste service - To provide a new waste and recycling service which is fully compliant with the 
governments waste and resource strategy and reduces the Councils carbon footprint through providing a 
more sustainable collection service 

 

Working on design of the new service re the delivery vehicle for waste, recycling and street cleaning services from 
2022. 
 

 

Eden Economic Strategy – prepare a draft strategy to support growth, business development, a higher wage 
economy and skills gap; rethinking taking place after Covid-19 to Build Back Better. 

 

Priority has been addressing the response phase of the Covid19 pandemic. The Economic Strategy is likely to be 
focussed on recovery for the foreseeable future. 
 

 

P
age  46



Place making - redevelopment of Mansion House & Town Hall sites to enhance the public realm, and 
provision of Hotel, leisure & cultural facilities 

 

This is a new strategic objective and as such limited work has been undertaken on this due to the pandemic and a 
redeployment of staff. Next quarter we will progress with an appointment of specialist surveyor and commence 
marketing of Mansion House. 

 

Circular Economy - To develop and support initiatives which look at preserving resources, minimising waste 
and moving to a circular economy. Projects which promote recycled and recovered materials, support market 
for remanufactured goods, and remove single use plastics 

 

This is a new strategic objective. Work will commence with ZCE group members to set out plan.  

Newton Rigg - details of initiative to be completed once external reviews are published   

Under development  

  

P
age  47



Healthy, Safe & Secure  

New Homes – develop a pilot new build sustainable housing scheme, which is environmentally sound and 
capable of being replicated within a reasonable cost envelope, and to use the learning gained to work in 
partnership with Homes England and other agencies to deliver the wider roll out of similar schemes to meet 
local needs, including key workers. 

 

This is a new strategic objective which as part of the new MTFP has finance assigned to the objective. Limited work 
has taken place due to the Council’s resources responding to the COVID19 pandemic 

 

Home Improvement Agency - develop `Better Homes',  and speed up delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants  
 

 

Minor adaption scheme/process developed, and report on policy changes, draft Regulatory Order and costs awaiting 
approval 

 

Zero Carbon Housing Retrofit Programme -  over 3 phases starting with a pilot scheme we will explore 
utilising a range of different technologies and insulation measures from different providers and targeting a 
range of properties representative of the broader housing stock to tackle the triple challenges of zero carbon, 
health and wellbeing and fuel poverty in the private housing sector.  
 

 

Discussions underway with BEIS & Energy North West. Procurement for pilot to commence in Q2  

Heart of Cumbria - To increase the supply of affordable homes in Penrith through the delivery of the Heart of 
Cumbria business plan.  To directly support the supply of accommodation for homeless  households  
through the lease of a proportion of HoC properties 

 

Proposal developed and submitted to HoC Board, and discussion ongoing with HoC Board on terms of agreement  

Young Person & families Strategy - work with partners with the aim to retain and attract a working age 
population to overcome the increasing demographic imbalance, improve health & wellbeing, and to provide 
our young people with education, training, employment opportunities and good affordable housing 

 

To begin engagement and develop project needs/team for strategy development. Attended meetings -  YDNP 
Attracting Young Persons  & CCC is setting up Child Trust Boards in which we are also playing a part 

 

Castle Park continue with proposals to create a more vibrant and well used space with improved facilities 
and biodiversity. 
 

 

Regular meetings are taking place with Penrith Tennis club, and initial meeting has taken place with LTA. Work is 
progressing to complete the plan. 

 

P
age  48



Connected  

Community Engagement - Improve links between the community and the Council and renew working 
arrangements with town and parish councils. 
 

 

This is linked to the Transformation programme and the development of locality working.  The plan will be developed 
as part of the One Eden Strategy. 

 

Digital Eden Community Fibre Partnership - supporting Zero Carbon economy for rural businesses by 
facilitating the development of broadband within in our rural communities including domestic premises to 
support education and homeworking. Creating conditions to support technology businesses to set up and 
thrive in the district. Creating infrastructure and work space, achieving targets towards 100% broadband 
coverage of Eden District 

 

Attended Hub Coordinators meeting. We expect feedback from the provider as to potential sites within Eden during Q 
2, with engagement as required to follow should any sites be identified. 

 

Cycling - To encourage increased cycling in the District through improved facilities and support; to promote 
cycling to work opportunities, and to increase tourism through better cycle routes. 

 

Need to develop overall strategy (Q3) and action plan, in conjunction with other service areas and partners, to 
encourage increased cycling 

 

Equality & Diversity - Policy review in terms of current practice, in consultation current partners  

This is a new strategic objective and work will commence in Q2.  

  

P
age  49



Creative  

Town Centres - work with partners, including CCC, to reinvent our town centres for the future     

EDC has shared the information it used for the Future High Streets bid with the County Council as a potential basis 
for a programme. Working with the towns to formulate a marketing plan to provide Covid-19 secure information to 
enable them to re-open safely 

 

Low Carbon/Greening Eden Businesses -  To improve the competitiveness and financial/environmental 
sustainability of local businesses focussing on encouraging and facilitating mutual support between local 
businesses by using local supply of goods and services, and providing specialist advice to business  
 

 

This is a new objective. Scoping with partners including the LEP under the new Green Growth portfolio; action plan 
being developed for implementation. 

 

Biodiversity - To have an integrated approach, with external bodies, to biodiversity, conservation and carbon 
off-setting to support our environment 
 

 

Forming strategy & work plans to develop the Councils declaration of Ecological Emergency in July 2019  

Arts & Culture - develop an Arts & Culture Programme to enhance the creative and cultural lives of all; 
creating a great place for young people; to sustain healthy communities; establish Eden as a place for artists 
and craftspeople and greater community participation in Arts and Culture activity throughout the District. 
 

 

Work will commence in Q2 to develop an Arts & Culture programme for Eden.    

 

P
age  50



Report No: PP26/20 

Eden District Council 
 

Housing and Health Portfolio 
10 July 2020 

Executive 
21 July 2020 

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy 

Portfolio: Housing and Health 

Report from: Assistant Director Community Services  

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 To seek approval of the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy, to 
ensure that there is greater clarity for households in Eden who are currently 
registered for social housing or who may register in the future. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Policy be 
approved for publication in July 2020. 

2.2  Delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director Community Services, in 
consultation with the Housing and Health Portfolio Holder, to approve any 
minor amendments identified during the approval process of the Partner 
Organisations. 

3 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Operation of the Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy began in May 2011 and it 
has now been operational for a period of nine years. One of the key aims 
outlined in the current policy is to “improve the means by which local people in 
Cumbria gain access to social rented housing by providing a modern and 
easy to understand allocation system which allows choice and is fair, 
transparent and accountable”. A review has been undertaken to streamline 
the Policy so that it is easier to understand and apply for people who need to 
access social housing, and to the Registered Providers who administer the 
Scheme. Further aims are to “make best use of available housing stock” and 
“to ensure that there is a social housing lettings service that embraces 
equality and diversity by being open and fully accessible to all individuals”. 

3.2  The Cumbria Choice Based Lettings (CCBL) is a partnership, comprising the 
6 housing authorities in Cumbria and 8 housing associations. It enables local 
authorities to hold a housing register, users to seek accommodation using a 
single application, and providers to allocate properties. The CCBL Partnership 
is governed by a Partnership Board comprising representatives from all of the 
Partners. Previously, local authorities had nomination agreements with 
Registered Providers and customers were required to fill in several application 

Page  51

Agenda Item 11



forms if they wished to access social housing. According to the Partnering 
Agreement dated 28 July 2010, the Lead Authority with responsibility for 
management of the CCBL scheme is South Lakeland District Council. All local 
housing authorities are legally required to have an allocation scheme for 
determining priorities and procedures for the allocation of social housing in the 
authority area (regardless of whether the authority has its own housing stock). 

3.3 The CCBL Allocations Policy has been reviewed on a number of occasions 
since its operation in May 2011 to keep in line with relevant legislation and 
statutory instruments, together with good practice in this area. The last review 
was undertaken in 2016. Following on from this there have been legislative 
changes with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and associated Code of 
Guidance, and further Allocations regulations arising from the UK’s exit from 
the EU issued in 2019. 

3.4 In order to conduct the review of the current Policy, South Lakeland District 
Council led on a procurement exercise on behalf of the CBL Board and 
appointed a consultant, Andy Gale (who led on the previous review) to 
undertake the review. Andy Gale has considerable experience in the field of 
allocations and homelessness. A Task and Finish Group was set up by the 
Board to help lead on this. The timescale for the Policy review is crucial as the 
changes need to feed into the specification for the procurement of a new IT 
platform. The contract for the current IT system expires on 31 March 2021 
and in order to ensure that the new system goes live on 1 April 2021, the 
procurement needs to be concluded by July 2020. This will allow the 
necessary implementation of the new system and migration of data, as well as 
any training that is needed. The IT procurement has the involvement of the IT 
Manager for Eden and SLDC. 

3.5 Any major change to the Policy can only be made after a copy of the 
proposed amendments have been consulted on by sending to every 
Registered Provider in Cumbria, regardless of whether an Association is a 
participating member of the CCP. (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996). 

The Policy review has: 

 Taken all the views of partners into account; 

 Considered consultation responses from a range of stakeholders as 
detailed in 4.0 and in line with the legislative requirements set out above in 
3.3. 

3.6 Following on from the consultation outlined in 4.0 below, there are a number 
of changes required (summarised in Appendix 1). The changes are to satisfy 
legislative change identified in 3.3 above, reduce any ambiguities in the 
operation of the policy so it is applied consistently and fairly, and to ensure 
greater clarity and simplicity. The full draft policy is attached at Appendix 2. 

3.7 As this is a common Allocations Policy all Partners have to seek approval 
from their representative organisations to enable the revised policy to be 
published by the end of July 2020. This could result in some minor alterations 
arising after approval at this Executive meeting. Therefore, it has been 
recommended that delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director 
Community Services, in consultation with the Housing and Health Portfolio 
Holder. 

Page  52



4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

4.2 This report meets the Healthy, safe and secure corporate priority, which 
includes delivering sustainable housing that meets local need. 

5 Consultation 

5.1 Consultation has been held with key stakeholders from April to 21 May 2020 
as detailed in 3.5. Consultation was held with service users who 
acknowledged that they would be happy to take part in the review to identify 
improvements to the policy. 

5.2 The Project Board considered the proposed changes at their meeting on 11 
June 2020.  The Equality Impact Assessment and Accessibility Policy has 
been reviewed and updated as part of this policy review. 

5.3 All Eden District Council Members and Parish Councils have also been 
consulted on the draft Policy from April to 21 May 2020. 

5.4 The Housing and Health Portfolio Holder has been consulted in the drafting of 
this report. 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1  There are no financial implications to the Council in the adoption of the 
amended Allocation Policy. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 As a housing authority, the Council is legally required to have in place 
appropriate arrangements for the allocation of housing regardless of whether 
or not it owns its own housing stock.  Providing it complies with its 
homelessness duties, it is largely, open to the Council to decide the criteria to 
apply when allocating housing. 

6.2.2 The revised Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy has been produced with full 
consideration of Local Authority and Housing Association legal responsibilities 
in relation to the allocation of housing including: 

 The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 
(England)  

 The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 

 Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 
England (2012, DCLG) “the Code” 

 Providing social housing for local people; Statutory guidance on social 
housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 
2013) “Supplementary Code” 

Page  53



Plus the following statutory regulations: 

a. Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483 

b. Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264 

c. Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
Regulations 2006 SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments 

d. Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869; 

e. Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989. 

f. The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) 
(England) Regulations 2015 

g. The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861) 

In framing the allocations scheme regard has also been given to the Council’s 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, Housing Strategy, and Tenancy 
Strategy as well as the Equality Act 2010. 

6.2.3 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a duty to ensure that any 
policies it adopts do not directly or indirectly discriminate against any 
particular groups of people. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising from this report. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity It is considered that the revisions to the policy will 
address potential negative impacts on protected 
characteristics by providing a clearer and more 
consistent approach to the allocation of social 
housing. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

It is considered that the revisions to the policy will 
have a positive effect on meeting housing need, 
improving transparency and consistency in the 
application of the Policy. 

Crime and Disorder No implications 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

No implications 

Page  54



6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The current Policy 
does not meet statutory 
requirements 

The Council could be 
open for legal challenge 

Approval of the draft 
CCBL Allocations 
Policy 

Partner organisations 
are unable to agree 
changes or put forward 
additional substantive 
changes. 

Delay in approving the 
Policy that could also 
impact on the 
procurement of the IT 
system, the contract for 
which expires 31.3.21. 

Approval of the 
Allocations Policy by 
all of the partner 
organisations. 

Project Board to 
monitor approval and 
agree any further 
minor amendments as 
appropriate. 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Assistant 
Director Community 
Services to approve 
any minor changes 
required following 
Council approval. 

Covid-19 issues result 
in delays to approval in 
Partner organisations. 

Delay in approving the 
Policy that could impact 
on the IT procurement 
as above. 

Legal challenge to the 
Council  

Approval of the 
Allocations Policy by 
all of the partner 
organisations. 

Project Board to 
monitor approval and 
agree any further 
minor changes. 

A substitute Officer be 
put forward to attend 
the CCBL Board by all 
Partner organisations 
to mitigate against 
timetable delays 
caused by Covid-19. 

Delegated authority be 
given to the Assistant 
Director Community 
Services to approve 
any minor changes 
required following 
Council approval. 

Page  55



7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 Members could choose not to recommend approval of the amended policy or 
request many additional or substantive changes. This is not recommended as 
the updates recommended will provide a clearer policy, and one which is 
responding to legislative changes outlined in 3.3 of this report. If substantial 
changes are to be considered by the Project Board then this could 
significantly delay implementation of the revised policy, which could then risk 
legal challenge by not responding to the legislative change outlined in 3.3. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 The proposed policy will help to ensure that there is a consistent and fair 
approach amongst Registered Providers (Housing Associations) with regard 
to letting homes in Eden to meet the greatest housing needs. The revisions 
will meet legislative changes relating to the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 and resultant Statutory Guidance. It is expected that the proposed 
changes will simplify the operation of the policy to the benefit of all who use it 
and to customers across the whole of Cumbria. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 

Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy)  

Monitoring Officer (or Deputy)  

Relevant Director  

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Equality Impact Assessment & summary of proposed changes 

2 Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy draft 2020 

3 Allocations Headline Figures 

4 Partnership Agreement 

Contact Officer: Louise Jeffery, Housing Services Manager, Tel 01768 212451 
louise.jeffery@eden.gov.uk 

Page  56

mailto:louise.jeffery@eden.gov.uk


   

  1 

CUMBRIA CHOICE: REVISED HOUSING ALLOCATIONS SCHEME EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(EQIA) JUNE 2020 

 

Date approved June 2020 

Approved by:  

Next Review Date:  

 

Background 

 
Under Part VI of the Housing Act 1996, every local authority is required to adopt a ‘Social Housing Allocation Policy’, the purpose of 
which is to determine priorities in allocating housing and to set out the procedures to be followed. The Allocation Scheme 
determines individual priority for housing. In June 2020 the ‘Cumbria Choice’ Allocation Policy was reviewed and a number of 
changes made. Cumbrian Choice is the adopted social housing allocation policy for all 6 Cumbrian local authorities.  
 
Cumbria Choice is a sub regional partnership between the 6 local authority districts and 8 ‘Registered Provider’ housing 
associations that own social housing stock across Cumbria.  
 
The revised policy was subject to a public consultation from 23rd April 2020 ending on 21st May.  The consultation involved:  
 
 Sending out a detailed consultation survey (attached at appendix 1 with a summary of the consultation responses). This was sent 

out with a copy of the draft policy. 

 The survey and draft policy was sent to all relevant stakeholders including specialist organisations working with groups and 

individuals owed a protected characteristic including organisations working with disability, mental health, domestic abuse, older 

persons and race. In total over 350 stakeholders and individuals were sent the survey 

 The survey was also sent to a group of service users who had previously indicated that hey would like to be involved in the 

consultation exercise.  

P
age  57



   

  2 

 The survey was also posted on the Cumbria Choice Website so that anyone registered could make comments.  

This Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) and has been finalised in the light of the consultation responses.  
 
Comments received were logged and considered against the policy proposals. Some minor changes have been 
made as a result of the consultation. The changes were strongly supported by stakeholders who responded to the 
survey.  

 
Under the Equality Act 2010, when adopting a new Allocation Policy a local authority is required to have due regard to the need to: 
a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by, or under the Act 
b) Advance equality of opportunity between those with a protected characteristic and those without 
c) Promote good relations between those with a protected characteristic and those without 
 
The ‘protected characteristics’ in law are: age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; 
sexual orientation. It also covers marriage and civil partnership with regard to eliminating discrimination. The equalities impact 
assessment set out below, has considered the impact of the changes to the Allocation Policy on the protected groups and, where 
there is an impact, set out the justification for continuing with the policy change along with the actions that will be taken to reduce any 
impact that has been identified.  
 
The key objectives for reviewing the social housing allocation policy are: 
 
a) To continue to support local people most in need of housing in Cumbria 
b) To simplify the policy so that it is easier for customers to use, is transparent, and is accepted by customers as a fair way to allocate 

social housing when it is often in short supply.  
c) To ensure the policy contributes towards creating mixed and sustainable communities where people of different backgrounds and 

socio economic groups live side by side including the need to the problem in some areas where there is not as high a demand for 
social housing as there is in other parts of Cumbria.  

 
Details of the changes to the ‘Cumbria Choice’ policy  
 

P
age  58



   

  3 

There were a number of important changes proposed and these are explained below using the explanation set out in the consultation 
survey.  
 
1) We want to reduce the number of Bands from 5 to 3  
 
The Cumbria Choice Partnership has received regular feedback from users and stakeholders that the allocation policy is too 
complicated and confusing. One of the main concerns expressed is that customers do not understand why there needs to be 5 Bands 
and inevitably this encourages ‘higher band chasing’ which, in turn, increases the officer time needed to administer the scheme.  
 
The proposed solution is to move to a simple 3-band system with the time a person joined the register determining their place in the 
queue for the band they have been allocated.  
Band A will be for the most urgent housing need cases that need to move quickly.  
Band B will be everyone else that the legislation states has a statutory housing need.  
Band C will be everyone else.  
 
This aim of this simple change is to build trust in the system as it will become more of a ‘waiting list’ queuing system recognised by 
everyone using it as a fair way to allocate a limited resource where there is often over demand for certain property types or areas.  
 
2) We intend to keep an ‘Open Register’ 
 
Many local authorities restrict their Housing Registers so that only customers who are assessed as having what is called by the 
allocations legislation ‘a statutory housing need’ can join the register 
 
We intend to continue to operate an open register in Cumbria. Everyone will still be able to register regardless of whether they meet 
the definition for a statutory housing need (unless there is evidence of serious unacceptable behaviour or significant former rent 
arrears). Those customers who are not assessed as having a statutory housing need will be placed in the Band C. This still means 
they have a chance of being housed but when they bid for accommodation they will be ‘shortlisted’ below customers from the higher 
statutory housing need bands A and B. We think this is a fair system that gives everyone some chance of being considered for social 
housing.  
 P

age  59



   

  4 

3) We are adding to, and amending the qualification rules for when a customer is able to join the Housing Register 
 
The current policy has a number of qualification rules that decide whether an applicant will be allowed to join the Housing Register in 
Cumbria. We are amending some of the rules regarding when a customer can qualify to be included on the Housing Register, and in 
addition creating a rules for when a customer can qualify for Band C but not for the higher needs Bands A and B. We want to know 
what you think of each of these qualification rules. They are set out in the table below with an explanation for what we are trying to 
achieve.  
 
Two of the key rule changes relate to customers where there is evidence of former social housing rent arrears or unacceptable 
behaviour. The objective is to be much clearer with customers what they have to do to resolve the issue in question but to discourage 
some previous practices whereby they may be ‘arbitrary blocked’ from being considered for social housing. The new rules mean 
fewer will be disqualified but they will not be offered social housing until they have demonstrated the changed behaviour required to 
be considered to be a good tenant.  
 

Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection  It is proposed that the Policy will restrict access to the high housing 
need Bands A and B to customers who can evidence a local 
connection with Cumbria. This would prioritise Cumbrian 
households for the higher 2 bands but there would be exceptions 
for people without a local connection if they were homeless or 
victims of domestic violence.  
 
Therefore to qualify for Bands A or B the customer must have a 
local connection with Cumbria. This could be set as: 
Option A: 
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5 
b) Having close family living in Cumbria 
c) Working in Cumbria as long as this isn’t casual work.  
 
Option B 
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or 3 years in the last 5 

P
age  60



   

  5 

b) Having close family living in Cumbria that provide essential 
support 

c) Working in Cumbria  - defined as Employment is defined as 
paid employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of 
one year, or self-employment where an applicant can 
demonstrate that the self-employed work they perform is in the 
Cumbria area and is on average 16 hours a week or more. 

 
If the customer doesn't meet one of the above they can still register 
but will be placed in band C 

Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to 
obtain and share an applicant’s personal information 

Unless the customer gives permission to enable enquires to be 
made to assess their application and circumstances, they will not 
be able to qualify for the housing register. This is to combat 
possible fraudulent applications.   

Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home 
ownership  

If the customer owns their home they will either a) not be able to 
qualify to be included on the register, or b) will not be able to qualify 
for Bands A or B but would still be allowed to be placed into Band 
C. We would like your views on this rule and if you support it which 
should it be a) or b)?    

Qualification rule 4: Financial resources If the customer earns above a set net income or has savings above 
a set threshold they will either not be able to qualify for the register 
or will not be able to qualify for Bands A or B but would still be 
allowed to be placed in Band C despite their income or savings.  
 
We would like your views on which option should be included and 
if you support income or savings thresholds what these should be?   

Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid Many customers once they register don't bid for the properties 
advertised. We think that if someone hasn't made one bid in 12 
months that they should be removed from the register. This will cut 

P
age  61



   

  6 

down on the time and costs in administering the housing register. 
This rule would not stop a customer from reapplying at a later date.  

Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information If someone has lied or withheld information in an attempt to get 
social housing we think they should not be able to register, or if 
they are already registered and we discover they have led or 
withheld information they will be removed from the register. This 
would be serious cases of lies or withholding information that were 
intended to obtain social housing by deceit.  

Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has 
current or former social housing rent arrears or another 
relevant recoverable housing related debt 

This rule in the current policy is being amended to help customers 
who have former social housing rent arrears or housing related 
debt to be able to obtain social housing.  
For customers with serious rent arrears it will continue to be the 
case that they cannot qualify for the housing register until they 
have reduced the debt to a level we agree is reasonable. 
However, for customers who owe less that £1000 they will be able 
to qualify and be banded for their assessed housing need but they 
will not be offered a property until they have resolved the debt to a 
level we think is reasonable in the circumstances. There will be 
clear criteria for what they have to do to resolve the issue and they 
will continue to ‘move up the queue for their band’ so they have not 
‘lost out’ whilst resolving the debt.  

Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour This rule in the current policy is being amended to encourage 
customers to tackle any unacceptable behavior issues, or ASB 
issues before they will be able to be considered for an offer of 
social housing.  
For customers with a history of serious unacceptable behavior that 
has not been resolved when they apply to join the housing register 
it will continue to be the case that they cannot qualify for the 

P
age  62



   

  7 

register until they have resolved the problem to the satisfaction of 
Cumbria Choice. That is not a change from the current policy.  
However, it is proposed that customers presenting with more minor 
issues that are assessed as needing to be resolved will be allowed 
to qualify and will be banded for their assessed housing need. 
However, they will not be offered a property until they have 
resolved their behavior to a level that will give us confidence that 
they will be good tenants in the future.  
There will be clear criteria for what they have to do to resolve their 
behavior and they will continue to ‘move up the queue for their 
band’ so they have not ‘lost out’ whilst they resolve the problem.  

Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or 
Band B Housing Need 

Existing Housing Association and Barrow Council tenants who 
have a housing need will be able to join the Housing Register.  
However, there is a problem in existing tenants who do not have a 
housing need wishing to transfer to another social housing 
property. Each transfer costs the social housing landlord 
thousands of pounds in costs to re-let the property.  
We think that tenants who do not have a housing need should still 
be able to seek a transfer through the Mutual Exchange Scheme 
but not through the housing register.  

 
 
4) We are making the rules clearer regarding when a direct letting outside of the choice based letting system will be allowed.  
 
The current policy on making a ‘direct letting’ will be made clearer regarding when a direct let will be allowed. The Policy intention is 
that direct lets should account for no more than 10%-15% of all lettings to preserve the integrity of the choice based letting system.  
 
The main examples of when a direct offer will be considered due to exceptional reasons are:  
 

P
age  63



   

  8 

a) Urgent housing need situations where it would not be reasonable in the circumstances to wait for the Choice Based Lettings 
process to produce an offer such as a threat to life in the area in which an applicant currently lives.   

 
b) Tenants of a Cumbria Choice Partner in emergency cases whose homes are damaged by fire, flood or other disaster  

 
c) Where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed a section 189B(2) Relief duty or 193(2) main 

duty and the Cumbria Choice Board agree with a request from a Partner Council to allow direct lettings to move applicants out 
of temporary accommodation in order to manage any budgetary or legal impact.  

 
d) Where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability standards becomes available and there may be a need 

to offer that property to an applicant whose disability need best matches that property, regardless of the date they were 
registered. 

 
e) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to ‘Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements’ (MAPPA), or 

may present a risk to themselves or others  
 
5) We are proposing a penalty for applicants who refuse 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period.  
 
All applicants will continue to qualify for 3 reasonable offers in a 12-month period. If an applicant in the high need Bands A or B 
refuses 3 reasonable offers in that 12 months they will be ‘downgraded’ to Band C for 12 months. This is to stop applicants biding for 
properties they are not committed to taking which has the consequence that properties take longer to let and cost the social housing 
landlord money in lost rent. The definition of a reasonable offer is clearly set out in the new policy.  
 
6) We are proposing to remove the ‘Cumulative Need’ rule from the Policy  
 
We propose to remove the ‘cumulative housing need’ rule from the scheme to make the scheme more transparent for customers and 
easier to understand and to administer. Under the current policy customers who have two or more of the housing needs as listed in 
Band C are ‘promoted’ into Band B. This is called the cumulative need rule.  

P
age  64



   

  9 

Under the new policy we propose that an applicant who meets 2 of the housing need criteria for band B will still only be awarded 
band B and not promoted to Band A. The old policy of cumulative need has been extremely hard for officers to assess and results in 
people constantly requesting that their circumstances reassessed in the hope of qualifying for the higher band.   
 
7) We are setting out how we propose to give choice to registered customers who have a local connection with the local 
authority area where a vacant property is advertised whilst at the same time encouraging mobility across Cumbria 
 
We want to encourage mobility by allowing everyone registered to be able to bid for most of the properties advertised regardless of 
whether they have a local connection with the local authority area where the property is vacant. There will be exceptions, for example 
where there is a new development under a section 106 Planning Agreement that requires tenants to have a close local connection.  
 
However, to ensure that properties are prioritised for customers who have a local connection to the area where the property is 
advertised we intend in the first instance to shortlist customers who have bid and have a local connection to the Council area where 
the property is advertised. We think this is a fair process and protects areas of higher demand for residents who have a connection 
to an area, but at the same time encourages customers to be more mobile in contemplating moving across Cumbria as if no one with 
a local connection bids then the customer who has a connection to Cumbria but not to the particular Council area will then be 
considered for that property based on their band and date in band.  
 
8) We intend to expanded criteria for when a customer will qualify for the statutory housing need bands A and B and have 
set out clearer criteria for when a band will be awarded to ensure assessments are always consistently applied.  
 
The criteria for when a customer will qualify for the Housing Need Bands A and B will be expanded and made far clearer. This will 
make it easier for applicants and their representatives to understand if they qualify, and far easier for officers assessing their case to 
made consistent and timely decisions regarding whether a customer qualifies for a high needs the Band A or B.  
 
 
The Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA)  
 

P
age  65



   

  10 

This EQIA considers the changes to the Allocations Policy and assesses their impact on those applicants/households within the 
protected characteristic groups. The assessment considers whether an impact that is identified is considered to be a positive, negative 
or neutral impact. Where negative the EQIA sets out what steps have or will be taken to reduce that impact. 
 
Data, guidance and evidence used to assess the EQIA 
 
This assessment has been drawn up using a broad range of data available to officers about applicants on the Housing Register.  In 
addition to the legislation and case law governing allocations, regard has been had to the government guidance on the allocation of 
housing, the Equality Act 2010 and recent case law on the operation of Section 149 of that act.   
 
It is recognised that the current ‘Cumbria Choice’ scheme does not have a comprehensive set of data for the households on the 
housing register and for those rehoused. This is, in part, due to the limitations of the current operating system to develop 
comprehensive monitoring and performance reports. Raw data can be captured but has not been configured into reports based on 
the protected groups. This is a critical task for the project plan implementing a new IT operating system. A further problem with the 
data is that a large number of applicants fail to complete the personal data section of the application form.   
 
Moving forward Cumbria Choice needs to be able to monitor those on the register who are bidding for properties as well as those 
applicants who are housed under the policy. This will allow the local authorities and partners to analyse if those housed by each 
protected group is proportional to the proportion from each group registered.  
 
A new IT operating system is being purchased. To ensure that Cumbria Choice has better information to review the EQIA in the future 
the following actions will be taken:  
 
1) The on-line applicant form will be amended to encourage more applicants to fully complete the relevant sections, 

2) Officers will, on contact with an applicant, request any applicant who has not completed the personal information section to do so.  

3) Changes will be made to the home page for the applicant’s on-line account to show a message explaining the importance of 
providing the information.  

4) At the point all applicants are written to asking them if they wish to remain on the Housing Register they will be prompted to 
complete the personal data section  

P
age  66



   

  11 

The data that does exist indicate that the following groups are over-represented in the high priority groups on the Housing 
Register: 
 Families with children 
 BME households 
 Households with disabled or long-term health problems. 
 Female headed households 

 
Research shows that this is common for all local authority allocation schemes and is explained by socio economic factors and 
poverty.  
 
The new EQIA assessment is set out in the table below and has been structured to consider: 
 
a) Part A - Firstly, each Individual protected group in the context of the changes, and then    

b) Part B - The changes in the context of their impact on all of the protected groups 

The consultation responses summarised 
 
All 8 changes proposed were strongly supported including each of the 9 qualification rules set out in change 3. A number of 
changes have been made as a result of the consultation feedback. These amendments include: 
a) Allowing applicants where it is agreed need to move from one Cumbrian Council district to another due to domestic abuse, the 

same priority in any shortlist as an applicant who has an established local connection to the area where a property is advertised. 

b) Making the criteria clearer for an applicant with housing debt as to when they may qualify for the housing register with no 

penalty, and where a penalty is applied more clarity on the criteria to be applied for the actions needed to resolve the debt so 

that they may be considered for an offer of social housing 

c) Helping to define which keyworkers should be given band B priority under the scheme.      

Part A – Consideration of each Individual protected group in the context of the changes 
 

P
age  67



   

  12 

Protected 
characteristic 

Potential issue 
where there may 
be a positive or 
negative impact 

Impact 
Judgement 
+ / - 

Observations and Recommendations Relevant 
comments 
or Action/s 
to reduce 
any impact 

Age     

 The scheme will 
require applications 
to be made on-line 
as opposed to 
submitting a paper 
form.  
 
The impact could 
be that older 
people are less 
able to use an on-
line application 
form and the 
system of bidding 
for properties 
through choice 
based lettings  

Negative  
On-line applications have been the preferred method for the vast 
majority of residents in Cumbria to make their applications, but in 
some areas applications are still made by way of a paper form.  
 
To mitigate any impact it is agreed that each partner will assist older 
and vulnerable people to: 
 Fill out their on-line application and  

 To make bids under CBL  

 Plus paper forms will still be available in exceptional 

circumstances where it is agreed an applicant is unable to 

complete an on-line form 

On-line applications and CBL bidding on-line has been operating for 
several years. There is no evidence reported from applicants or 
stakeholders that customers are experiencing difficulty in applying for 
accommodation, or using the CBL system  

The new 
website 
FAQs section 
will be 
amended to 
inform 
applicants 
that help is 
available if 
they are 
having 
difficulty in 
using any of 
the online 
application 
and bidding 
processes. 
 
The intention 
is to add a 
web chat 
option on the 
website to 

P
age  68



   

  13 

further help 
applicants  

 There is evidence 
nationally that 
younger people 
find it easier to 
access services 
online rather by 
filling out forms. 
Young people may 
be disadvantaged 
by a system where 
access is by paper 
form  
 

Positive  It is reported by partners re the age profile of the Housing Register, 
that the majority of applicants are under 40. Delivering the 
application and bidding system on line is an advantage to younger 
people 

No additional 
comments 

 Seeking to deliver 
more of the 
application process 
on-line could 
disadvantage those 
applicants without 
internet access and 
these tend to be 
older applicants, or 
applicants most 
impacted by 
poverty  
 
 

Negative Libraries have free public PC’s.  There are also free computer 
training sessions available across Cumbria.  
 
Information is available from any CCP partner on the availability of 
free local public internet access. 
 
There are numerous PCs in Council and Housing Association 
partner offices and the offices of other public authorities.  
 
Currently CCP partners report that the vast majority of bids are 
placed electronically. There are however alternative ways to bid. 
 
The office of National Statistics reported that In 2018, 90% of adults 
in the UK were recent internet users, up from 89% in 2017. 8.4% of 

There is 
sufficient 
internet 
access points 
and support 
available in 
Cumbria to 
help people 
without 
access to the 
internet.  

P
age  69



   

  14 

adults had never used the internet in 2018, down from 9.2% in 2017. 
Virtually all adults aged 16 to 34 years were recent internet users 
(99%) in 2018, compared with 44% of adults aged 75 years and 
over. The majority of the users of the CBL scheme are likely 
therefore to be confident in using on-line facilities and the scheme 
has ensured that there are sufficient protections in place for those 
applicants who are not confident of accessing the service online.  
 

 Young People - 
Care Leavers  

Positive  Care leavers and young people ready to move on from supported 
accommodation benefit from the proposals as they are placed in 
Band A the highest priority Band. This should mean that they are 
provided with an offer of social housing in a relatively short time 
period  
Band A priority is also granted for children assessed as needing an 
urgent move for child protection concerns, and for residents who 
need larger accommodation to foster or adopt.  

 

No additional 
comments 

Disability     

 What is the impact 
of the changes on 
the housing 
prospects of 
applicants with a 
disability 

Positive  

The revised policy actively promotes the needs of disabled groups by 
ensuring that applicants with mobility problems are prioritised for 
accommodation that is suitable for them.  
 
On the limited statistical information available it is estimated that for 
the Housing Register as a whole up to 25% of applicants have some 
level of disability.  
 
Many applicants with a physical disability where their current housing 
circumstances impact on their disability will be prioritised for housing 
under the Policy. Disability is recognised in both of the 2 priority 
bands A and B.   

No additional 
comments 

P
age  70



   

  15 

 
Many applicants with a severe mental health condition and are 
homeless will be prioritised under the policy through being awarded 
reasonable preference for being owed a statutory homelessness 
duty 
 
The Council is also committed to capturing better information about 
social housing void properties to classify those that have or can be 
adapted.  
 

 How accessible are 
the application and 
bidding processes 
for applicants with 
a disability?  

Positive The intention is to move to a new IT operating framework. The new 
website will be developed to ensure that it is fully compliant with all 
accessibility requirements. Actions that will be explored include:  
a) To ensure that the website is W3C 1.0 compliant 

b) That information is available on how to adjust type, font size, 

colour contrast and how to make the applicant’s computer speak 

text aloud. 

c) To implement a drop down menu for people who need to read 

information in a language other than English. 

d) The ability to receive a letter in audio.  

 

The Council 
will seek in 
the future, 
where the IT 
allows, to 
monitor data 
on the 
frequency of 
applicants 
accessing 
their account 
to check 
whether 
some 
applicants 
are being 
disadvantage
d  
 

P
age  71



   

  16 

Transgender/ 
Gender 
reassignment 

    

 Is there an impact 
of the policy, or the 
changes, on 
transgender/gender 
reassignment 
applicants  
 

Neutral  
Applicants who have undergone gender reassignment – can, as with 
any other applicant, apply to join the housing register and will qualify 
as long as they meet the eligibility and qualification criteria. 
 
The revised policy provides band A priority for applicants who have 
been subject to extreme harassment. Nationally statistically many 
people who have undergone gender reassignment report higher 
levels of harassment. 
 
 
 
 

The scheme 
will more 
proactively 
collect 
monitoring 
information 
for this group 
but has 
insufficient 
data at 
present 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

    

 No further impact 
identified 

Positive  
The majority of the Register is made up of applicants that are 
female-headed households with up to 10% being pregnant (based on 
national estimates). Pregnant women are more likely to have 
become homeless due to being excluded from a family home, or 
homeless due to domestic abuse, or homeless due to being unable 
to continue to afford the rent on a private rented property once they 
have given birth given the cost of childcare. 
 
The homeless and survivors of domestic abuse are given a high 
priority for housing under the Policy and therefore pregnant women 

No additional 
comments  

P
age  72



   

  17 

as a groups are likely to be advantaged and not disadvantaged by 
the Policy 
 

Race     

  
The changes to the 
residency 
requirement for 
banding priority 
under the Housing 
Register may 
impact on 
refugees, non 
British nationals 
and Irish Travellers 

 
Negative   

 
A residency requirement of 1 year or 3 years in the last 5 to qualify 
for the higher needs bands A or B will have some impact on, 
refugees, non-UK nationals and Irish Travellers.  The revised 
scheme has attempted to: 
Strike the right balance between disadvantage to some groups of a 
residency requirement and the policy aims of the residence 
requirement, which is to prioritise applicants who can demonstrate a 
positive commitment to Cumbria through being settled in the area. 
That is why: 
a) A 1 year qualification has been chosen instead of 2 or 3 years 

which is the norm for the vast majority of local authorities (based 

on the national statistical local authority returns to MHCLG)  

b) The policy still allows applicants without the required residency 

period to qualify for the register (unlike most local authority 

schemes), awards them band C and means they may be still be 

successful in bidding for properties.  

c) To mmitigate any impact the policy is careful to build in 

exemptions and consideration of exceptional circumstances for 

applicants who do not meet the residency rules.  

This impact and mitigation is considered more fully below in the 
section on the impact of the Policy changes across all of the 
protected groups   

 
No additional 
comments 

P
age  73



   

  18 

 
 

 On-line access for 
making an 
application and 
bidding will impact 
on applicants 
whose first 
language is not 
English 

 The new Cumbria Choice website will have information for people 
who need to contact or talk to a partner in language other than 
English and there is a translation option for the on-line form and 
accompanying information.  
 
This is considered to be a low risk because if a person’s command of 
English is particularly poor they are likely to have access to someone 
with interpretation skills. 
 
The new Policy has been designed to be more ‘straightforward’ 
and easier to understand reducing the potential impact on applicants 
who do not have English as their first language. As is currently the 
case, Officers can provide advice and assistance for people who may 
have difficulty understanding the policy  

 
 

 

Religion / belief     

 Is there an impact 
of the Policy or the 
Policy changes on 
applicants with a 
religion or belief? 

Neutral It can be difficult to distinguish what are factors to do with a person’s 
religion as opposed to their ethnic or cultural origins. At present there 
is only generalised information for the Housing Register.  
 
 

There will be 
more effort 
on collecting 
more 
accurate 
information in 
order to be 
able to asses 
any impact as 
the policy and 

P
age  74



   

  19 

the EQIA is 
reviewed 

Sexual 
orientation 

    

 Is there an impact 
of the policy 
changes on 
applicants re their 
sexual orientation?  

Neutral  The revised policy provides band A priority for applicants who have 
been subject to extreme harassment. Nationally, statistically many 
people report higher levels of harassment due to their sexual 
orientation. 
 
 
 

More effort 
will be made 
on collecting 
the 
information in 
order to be 
able to asses 
any impact as 
the policy and 
the EQIA is 
reviewed 
 

Sex     

 Is their any 
potential gender 
bias in the changes 
proposed?  

Negative  
Females make up the majority of the housing register. This is 
because women are likely to be the main carers and are more likely 
as a result to come under one of the reasonable preference 
categories for a statutory housing need. This is likely to continue.  
 
A large proportion of the register is made up of ‘female headed’ 
households. The changes will not impact on the proportions of 
female headed households owed a statutory housing need 
 

No additional 
comments 

P
age  75



   

  20 

Married, civil partners and co-habiting couples, same sex couples, 
brothers and sisters who wish to live together, can make 
applications.  
 
 

General 
comments on 
impact and 
safeguards 

  Overall the changes proposed will have a positive impact for many of 
the protected groups identified under the Equality Act. Where there 
could be a negative impact the policy changes have been carefully 
constructed to keep any negative impact on any group to a minimum.     
 
Although it can always be argued that any change that positively 
impacts on the chances of social housing for one or more protected 
groups may have a negative impact on another protected group any 
impact is not considered to be substantial.  
 
There is a further protection in that all applicants have a statutory 
right to seek a review of their housing application if they are 
dissatisfied with the Council’s decision regarding how they have 
been assessed and the band they have been awarded.  
 
The policy has been amended to provide all applicants with the 
opportunity to submit reasons why they believe their case should be 
considered for exceptional circumstances and where requested this 
will now be considered under the statutory review process ensuring 
senior officer scrutiny of their request and improved consistency in 
decision making.  

 

Part B  
Consideration of 
the changes in 

All Groups/Several 
Groups  

   

P
age  76



   

  21 

the context of 
their impact on all 
or several of the 
protected groups 

 The impact of 
moving to a simple 
3-band system with 
the time a person 
joined the register 
determining their 
place in the queue 
for the band they 
have been 
allocated 

Neutral  This aim of this simple change is to build trust in the system as it will 
become more of a ‘waiting list’ queuing system recognised by 
everyone using it as a fair way to allocate a limited resource where 
there is often over demand for certain property types or areas.  
 
This is assessed as having a neutral impact, as the 2 high need 
bands A and B are retained and applicants with a protected 
characteristic dominate these bands.  

 

 The policy makes 
changes to the 
local connection 
rules impacting on 
whether an 
applicant may be 
awarded a priority 
band A or B.  
 
 

Negative   
 

 
To qualify for the higher priority bands A or B an applicant must have 
a local connection with Cumbria. This is defined under the new policy 
as:  
a) Living in Cumbria for the last year, or for 3 years in the last 5 

b) Having close family living in Cumbria 

c) Be working in Cumbria as long as this isn’t casual work.  

 
The scheme 
will analyse 
the equality 
profile of 
households 
who will 
potentially be 
affected by 
the proposed 
changes to 
local 
connection 
rules  

 

P
age  77



   

  22 

Statutory guidance from the Government’s MHCLG Department 
strongly encourages all local authorities to adopt a minimum 2 - year 
residency test as part of their qualification criteria.  
 
In accordance with Government Guidance there is the intention to 
embrace the idea of giving greater priority to applicants in housing 
need with a local connection to Cumbria based on residency, 
employment, or close family. However, the changes have sought to 
strike the right balance between the potential disadvantages for 
some groups of a residency requirement set against the policy aims 
of adopting a residency requirement, which is to prioritise applicants 
who can demonstrate a positive commitment to Cumbria through 
being settled in the area.  
The compromise chosen therefore is a 1 year residency rule to 
qualify for the higher priority bands A or B instead of 2 or 3 years 
residency rule to qualify for the register at all, which is the norm for 
the vast majority of local authorities (based on the data for local 
authority statistical returns to MHCLG 18/19).   
 
A key safeguard is that the policy will still allow applicants unable to 
meet a 1 year residency period to qualify for the register (unlike most 
local authority schemes) and they will be placed into Band C. This 
means they may still be successful in bidding for properties that are 
in less popular areas 
 
Local connection rules including length of residency were 
overwhelmingly supported in the consultation feedback.  
 
Adopting a residency rule is considered as particularly necessary 
given that the rental market in some parts of Cumbria is an affordable 

P
age  78



   

  23 

option for those seeking to rent privately in the region. It means that 
without a rule any applicant can apply for social housing, and their 
housing need may attract band A or B priority regardless of the fact 
that they may have only just moved into Cumbria. This is important 
for local authorities that have limited access to social housing in 
areas of high demand and seeks to prioritise limited social housing 
resources for applicants who have an established connection to the 
area.  
 
The partnership is mindful of any potential impact of introducing local 
connection rules on applicants who are classified as a protected 
group under the Equality Act.  
 
We are satisfied that the 1 year residency rule, employment and 
close family connection rules, are a proportionate means of achieving 
a legitimate aim which is to prioritise people with a local connection 
without preventing any access to housing for those in housing need 
without a local connection.  
 
The Council is satisfied that it has brought in changes that achieve 
an appropriate balance and namely that any indirect discrimination of 
the local connection rules on applicants from a protected group will 
be minimised through the actions set out below and that any impact 
is proportionate.  
 
The new policy has been careful to build in safeguards and 
exemptions to the local connection rules and the residency rule in 
particular. The safeguards include the ability for an applicant to retain 
their local connection where they have left the area due to:  
1) Being in hospital, or  P

age  79



   

  24 

2) Having to move out of the area for care, or  
3) Being accommodated in supported accommodation outside the 
district, or  
4) Having been placed into temporary accommodation outside of 
their ‘home’ district Cumbrian Council, or   
5) Applicants who are leaving an institution such as a prison or 
secure unit or a hospital, rehabilitation centre, refuge, hostel or 
supported accommodation scheme and were resident for 1 year or 3 
out of the previous 5 years immediately before they moved into their 
current accommodation.  
 
Exemptions from the local connection rules for exceptional 
circumstances will also be considered for: 
1) Any application from a Gypsy or Traveller household that does 

not meet the continuous period of residence rule, as the period 

may have been broken by periods of travelling.  

2) Care leavers below the age of 21 years who are owed a duty 

under Section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by any local authority 

Children Services Department and have been accommodated 

within Cumbria for a continuous period of at least two years  

3) Reasons of safety; i.e. when an applicant is fleeing domestic 

abuse or hate crime from another area, or  

a) Is on a witness protection program, or  

b) Where by not moving to the area this would be detrimental to 

their wellbeing or cause significant hardship.  

P
age  80



   

  25 

Going forward there is a commitment to monitor and analyse the 
equality profile of households who will potentially be affected by the 
local connection rules and in particular the 1 year residency rule.  
 
A residency requirement of 1 year will impact to some extent on, 
refugees and non-UK nationals, Irish Travellers (though safeguards 
have been built in for travellers).  The Council has sought to strike 
the right balance between disadvantage to some groups of a 
residency requirement and the policy aims of the residence 
requirement, which is to prioritise applicants who can demonstrate a 
positive commitment to Cumbria Choice and are settled in the area 
as defined by 1years residence, employment or close family 
associations. 
 
It is likely that for residents who have not resided in Cumbria for more 
than a year the rule will impact to some extent on BME residents, 
former asylum seekers and Irish travellers who will not be able to 
access the higher priority bands A or B until they meet the 1 year 
residency criteria, or other local connection rule such as employment.  
It should be noted however, that this will not stop them from bidding 
with their band C status and they may still be successful in obtaining 
an offer of social housing.  
 
It is also the case that levels of ‘inward migration’ into Cumbria is 
relatively low compared to other local authority areas of England.  
 
The Statutory Guidance issued by the Government expressly 
highlights the need for local authorities to take account of special 
circumstances. The changes on residence achieve this, for example, 

P
age  81



   

  26 

by protecting people who are moving into the district to escape 
violence  
 
Furthermore, it should be noted that all applicants to the housing 
register would be equally disadvantaged through the 1-year 
residency rule. 
 
To summarise the impact of the residency criteria is not considered 
to be substantial and the 6 local authorities have been careful to 
reduce the impact through the following actions:  
 
1 - The residency criteria is set at 1 year which is the number of 
years suggested in the Government’s own guidance. We have been 
careful not to adopt a ‘2 or 3 years or more’ residency rule which 
would have a greater negative impact.  
2 - The proposed allocations policy recommends that exceptions to 
the 1-year local connection requirement be made in appropriate 
cases, such as applicants who have been subjected to domestic 
violence. 
3 - By permitting exemptions to avoid hardship, the circumstances of 
all applicants can be fully considered and the possibility of an 
applicant suffering any disadvantage avoided.  
4 - There is an exemption for applicants where there are additional 
health, welfare or care/support needs that is reliant on the relative 
being within the area 
5 - All applicants have a statutory right to seek a review of their 
housing application if they are dissatisfied with the decision re the 
band they have been awarded. This provides an applicant with the 
opportunity to submit reasons why they believe their case should be 
considered under the exceptional circumstances part of the policy. 

P
age  82



   

  27 

6 - The Policy includes other ways an applicant can obtain the higher 
A or B banding for their housing need other than being resident for 1 
year. The alternatives are where an applicant is employed in 
Cumbria for as little as 16 hours a week, or has close relatives living 
in Cumbria. 
7- Any disadvantage is only for a relatively short time period until the 
applicant can evidence residency for 1 year after which an applicant 
will be allocated the band that fully reflects their housing need.  

 

 The specific 
change to include 
the ability to qualify 
for households who 
are employed in 
the area  

Negative or 
neutral and 
positive in 
the longer 
term 

One of the policy aims is to reduce inequality and poverty over the 
long term by encouraging employment  
 
A key aim of this policy change is to encourage those who work in 
Cumbria to be able to work, live and settle in Cumbria. This is 
especially relevant where they are unable to afford to rent or buy and 
have a housing need.  
 
The criteria has been deliberately set as paid employment for 16 
hours or more per week for a period of one year, or self-employment 
where an applicant can demonstrate that the self-employed work 
they perform is in Cumbria. This recognizes that many women with 
childcare challenges may only be able to work part time. 
 
The policy aim is to make a contribution to rebalancing communities 
on social housing estates seeking a balance of households that are 
dependent on benefits and are economically active. 
 
There will be little impact on other households who don't work and 
live in Cumbria Choice and have a protected characteristic, as most 

The scheme 
will analyse 
the equality 
profile of 
households 
who will 
potentially be 
affected by 
the proposed 
changes to 
local 
connection 
rules for 
employment 

P
age  83



   

  28 

of these applicants will qualify for a priority band under the 1-year 
residency rule.  
 
Unlike many other local authorities we have been careful not to build 
into the shortlisting rules work as a determining factor for prioritising 
applicants, as this could have a disproportionate impact on 
applicant’s who are not able to work and come under the definition of 
one or more of the protected characteristics.  
 
Many of the mitigating actions and considerations set out in the 
section on the residency rule above apply equally here  

 The specific 
change to include 
under the local 
connection rules 
family (normally 
mother, father, 
brother, sister, son 
or daughter) that 
have lived in the 
area for a minimum 
of the past five 
years.  

Neutral or 
positive 

This rule allows an applicant who is not resident or employed in 
Cumbria Choice to qualify under the local connection rules if they 
have close family living in Cumbria.  
 
This rule is likely to be positive for those applicants from a relevant 
protected group who live outside of Cumbria but have close family 
living in Cumbria and would be unable to qualify for another reason 

 

 What is the 
assessed impact of 
the revised income, 
savings/assets 
thresholds on 
applicants with a 

Neutral or 
negative 

There were income and savings qualification thresholds under the 
previous Policy. These have been revised and are:   
 
Applicants who are considered to have sufficient financial resources 
to buy suitable accommodation in Cumbria will not qualify for Bands 
A or B but can qualify for Band C. ‘Sufficient financial resources’ are 

The Council 
will monitor 
the number of 
applications 
rejected for 
an award of 

P
age  84



   

  29 

protected 
characteristic under 
the Equality Act? 

defined as sufficient capital to buy or rent privately; or sufficient 
income to raise a mortgage to buy or rent privately; or a combination 
of both. The income and savings limits are:  
 
Applicants (both single persons and couples) who have total savings, 
investments and/or assets of £25,000 or more.  
Applicants whose total gross household income from all sources 
exceeds an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single persons) 
or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples).  
 
Those applicants with savings or income above the thresholds will be 
able to join the register and will be placed in band C and will also be 
advised on homeownership options and market and intermediate rent 
options.  
 
Although some applicants from a protected group will be impacted by 
this policy many other protected group applicants are on low incomes 
or have no savings and will benefit, because there will be fewer 
applicants on the register in bands A or B competing for housing.  
 
The Council is satisfied that: 
 
The new policy contains a wide range of exemptions to the 
Income and savings thresholds compared to the previous policy and 
that these exemptions are targeted at applicants likely to be from a 
protected group based on age or disability. 
 
Furthermore, any negative impact on protected groups is reduced by 
the fact that they will have the income level or savings to obtain an 

the higher 
bands A or B 
due to high 
income levels 
or savings  

 

P
age  85



   

  30 

alternative housing solution and by the fact that there is a process in 
the policy to consider exceptional circumstances.  
 
A key safeguard is that the policy will still allow applicants whose 
income or savings are above the thresholds to still qualify for the 
register (unlike most local authority schemes) and they will be placed 
into Band C. This means they may still be successful in bidding for 
properties that are in less popular areas 
 
  
 

 

All groups     

 We will continue to 
operate an open 
register in Cumbria. 
Everyone will still 
be able to register 
regardless of 
whether they meet 
the definition for a 
statutory housing 
need (unless there 
is evidence of 
serious 
unacceptable 
behaviour or 
significant former 
rent arrears). How 
might this impact 

Positive  
Although not a change to the policy the continuation of an open 
register will not impact on the objective that social housing should 
continue to be prioritized for those applicants assessed as being in 
the greatest housing need (bands A and B) and that these 
households are overrepresented by applicants who meet the 
protected groups criteria.  

 
However, many applicants without an assessed statutory housing 
need still meet the protected groups criteria. The continuation of an 
open register is therefore likely to benefit these applicants because 
they may be successful in bidding for lower demand properties.   
 
  

 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age  86



   

  31 

on the protected 
groups?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

 The new Policy 
includes the ability 
to apply local 
lettings policies  
 

Neutral at 
this stage. 
Each local 
lettings 
policy will 
need to 
consider 
any 
equalities 
impacts 
before 
being 
adopted. 

Although this isn’t a change to the new policy as local letting policies 
were always allowable under the current policy, the new policy sets 
out a clear framework for how these polices will be agreed and 
requires an evidence base and a strict timetable for reviewing the 
impact. The equalities impact of local lettings policies had not been 
assessed fully under the current policy. There will now be a clear 
equalities consideration as part of the process for agreeing any LLP 
policy and a clear equalities monitoring on the impact of any policy.  
 
Local lettings policies have the potential to have an impact on the 
housing prospects of a number of disadvantaged groups. Such a 
policy restricts allocations within a small geographical area in order 
to achieve certain policy and good management outcomes. An 
example might be lower child densities in certain block or road, or to 
restrict the number of vulnerable people allocated accommodation in 
a block where there are already a number of people housed with 
complex needs and there is evidence that the number is causing 
housing management issues for a landlord and impacting on other 
residents.  
 
The Allocations Policy is framed to allow for individual lettings plans 
to be developed and approved on a case-by-case basis.  Each local 
letting plan will have to have an evidence base and be approved 
through a clear transparent process. Any equalities impact must be 

We will fully 
consider the 
equalities 
impact of any 
local letting 
policy in 
deciding 
whether to 
approve any 
LLP and will 
then monitor 
the on-going 
impact  

P
age  87



   

  32 

considered as part of the assessment process when deciding 
whether on not to approve a local lettings plan.  

 Applicants with 
former/current rent 
arrears or serious 
unacceptable 
behaviour who are 
assessed as being 
in housing need will 
be assessed as 
either non 
qualifying or 
allowed to qualify 
but not allowed to 
bid until the issue 
has been resolved. 

The 
changes 
will have 
positive 
implications  

Applicants with former/current rent arrears or serious unacceptable 
behaviour that are in housing need will be assessed as either non 
qualifying or allowed to qualify but not allowed to bid until the issue 
has been resolved.  
 
This isn’t a change to the Policy but a clarification of how these rules 
will be applied. Under the previous policy section an applicant could 
be disqualified for former rent arrears or unacceptable serious 
behaviour. The previous policy lacked clarity resulting in some 
applicants being ‘stuck’ and unable to access social housing due to 
previous rent arrears or behaviour but a lack of clarity for how the 
policy would be applied and what an applicant needed to do to resolve 
a problem led to inconsistency in the application of the policy. Many 
applicants where the policy was applied would be in a protected group.  
 
Changes have been made that will benefit these applicants. These 
are: 
a) Much clearer criteria for when an applicant will or will not qualify 

b) Exemptions and exceptional circumstances consideration built into 

the Policy. 

c) Agreement with the Registered Provider housing associations on 

the approach to take regarding when an applicant should be 

considered for an offer accommodation in respect of what 

‘resolving their arrears or unacceptable behaviour means. This will 

mean fewer applicants are ‘stuck’ with no solution.  

The number 
of 
households 
impacted by 
policy will be 
carefully 
monitored 

P
age  88



   

  33 

d) Where applicants qualify but are unable to bid until the matter has 

been resolved they will be allocated the correct band for their 

housing need and will continue to accrue ‘time in band’ priority 

which will be an advantage to them when they have resolved the 

issue.  

Although the housing related debt and unacceptable behaviour rules 
will impact negatively on some applicants from a protected group we 
are satisfied that: 
 The rules are a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim 

which is to ensure that new tenants pay the rent and resolve 

previous housing debt owed to a social landlord, or resolve 

unacceptable behaviour, and  

 The changes that achieve an appropriate balance with 

safeguards and exemptions so that any indirect discrimination on 

applicants from a protected group has been minimised through 

the safeguards introduced in the new Policy and are 

proportionate.  

 
 

 Making direct lets 
/sensitive lettings 
outside of the CBL 
system in certain 
circumstances 

Positive for 
the 
protected 
groups of 
sex, 
disability 

The revised Policy allows more flexibility in certain circumstances to 
make the best use of the housing stock. The vast majority of general 
needs properties will continue to be allocated via choice based 
lettings but there will be times when a housing association or Council 
needs to directly match a property to an applicant.  
 

A target 
figure of no 
more than 
15% has 
been set to 
ensure that 
the integrity 

P
age  89



   

  34 

and sexual 
orientation  
 
Neutral for 
the other 
groups 

The policy lists the circumstances when a direct letting may be 
applied and includes MAPPA, MARAC or other sensitive lets or 
where there is a need to move due to extreme risk of domestic 
violence or harassment or witness protection.   
 
Where direct lets are made in sensitive circumstances this is often 
where an applicant may be a victim of domestic abuse or is being 
harassed or has complex needs. A direct sensitive let will allow the 
best match to be made depending on the circumstances and needs 
of a particular applicant. This is an advantage to a number of 
protected groups for disability, sex (women are more likely to be 
victims of domestic abuse)  
 
For the other protected groups making direct lets outside of the policy 
band and date order will have a minimal negative impact as these will 
only be made in limited circumstances  

of the CBL 
system is 
retained. The 
percentage of 
direct lets will 
be carefully 
monitored 

 If an applicant in 
the high need 
Bands A or B 
refuses 3 
reasonable offers 
in that 12 months 
they will be 
‘downgraded’ to 
Band C for 12 
months 

Negative  Applicants in Bands A or B who refuse 3 offers following a successful 
bid or direct allocation will be downgraded to Band C for a period of 12 
months.    
 
We will implement clear operational procedures for the assessing 
officers to take into account people with mental health or support 
needs where their condition may impact on their behaviour and their 
ability to keep appointments in the normal way. Officers will look at 
the individual circumstances for all applicants before applying the 
rule. 
 
An additional safeguard is that the new Policy clearly defines what a 
reasonable offer is. This will ensure consistency in the application of 
the refusal policy.  

Regular 
analysis of 
the number 
and needs of 
applicants 
downgraded 
to Band C 
because they 
refused 3 
reasonable 
offers will be 
needed to 
ensure that 
specific 

P
age  90



   

  35 

 
The view is that allowing an applicant to refuse 3 reasonable offers 
before being downgraded to Band C is a reasonable compromise 
between allowing choice and managing re-letting times for the 
partners. It is not expected that many applicants will have the rule 
applied, as having the rule in place will focus applicants on seriously 
considering any property they bid for.  
 
It is also likely to be positive in that some applicants in a high band 
who are in a protected group refuse offers of accommodation waiting 
for what they perceive to be the ‘perfect’ offer. This leaves them in 
unsuitable housing for a longer period of time. This policy will help 
tackle this problem 
 
Where an applicant is owed a homeless duty 1 suitable offer will end 
the homeless duty (this is required by the homelessness legislation) 
but they would still be able to receive 2 more offers if their housing 
need means they would still qualify for a Band A or B.  
 
Even if they have no other statutory housing need they would still 
qualify for the Housing Options Band C and be able to access lower 
demand properties and be entitled to 2 more offers in a 12 month 
period.  
 

groups are 
not being 
adversely 
affected 

 Removal of 
‘cumulative 
housing need’ rule 
from the scheme to 
make the scheme 
more transparent 

Neutral or 
negative 

The change is to remove the ‘cumulative housing need’ rule from the 
scheme to make the scheme more transparent for customers and 
easier to understand and to administer. Under the current policy 
customers who have two or more of the housing needs as listed in 
Band C are ‘promoted’ into Band B and meeting 2 band B criteria 
would be promoted to band A. This is called the cumulative need rule. 

 

P
age  91



   

  36 

for customers and 
easier to 
understand and to 
administer 

There may be some impact on applicants who meet the protected 
group criteria and have more than one assessed housing need.  
Under the new policy an applicant who meets 2 of the housing need 
criteria for band B will still only be awarded band B and not promoted 
to Band A. The old policy of cumulative need has been extremely 
hard for officers to assess resulting in inconsistency in applying the 
rule and applicants constantly requesting that their circumstances 
reassessed in the hope of qualifying for the higher band.  
 
There is mitigation built into the decision to remove the cumulative 
need rule in that band A criteria has been clarified to include 
applicants with an exceptional or urgent housing need therefore 
reducing the need for a cumulative need rule.  
There is also a positive impact in that applicants in the current band 
C are less likely to have a protected characteristic. By being able to 
meet 2 band C criteria they would be placed on an equal footing with 
applicants with a band B need and band B contains more applicants 
that have a protected characteristic.  

 Applicants who 
have a local 
connection with the 
Cumbrian local 
authority where a 
vacant property is 
advertised will be 
given priority in any 
shortlist  

Neutral  This is not a direct change to the policy but an amendment to provide 
greater clarity.  
For any shortlist an applicant that has a local connection with the 
Cumbrian local authority where a vacant property is advertised will be 
given priority over applicants who bid without that local connection. This 
could impact on victims of domestic abuse but the policy has 
safeguards built in so that any DA cases where it is agreed that they 
need to move as they cannot stay in their local authority district due to 
risk, will be treated equally on any shortlist.  

 

 The impact of the 
expanded criteria 

Positive The criteria for when a customer will qualify for the Housing Need 
Bands A and B will be expanded and made far clearer. This will make 

 

P
age  92



   

  37 

for when a 
customer will 
qualify for the 
statutory housing 
need bands A and 
B and have set out 
clearer criteria for 
when a band will 
be awarded to 
ensure 
assessments are 
always consistently 
applied 

it easier for applicants and their representatives to understand if they 
qualify, and far easier for officers assessing their case to made 
consistent and timely decisions regarding whether a customer 
qualifies for a high needs the Band A or B.  
 
This decision has a positive impact in that the criteria for being 
granted a band A or B award has been expanded for medical, 
disability, hardship, risk and move on meaning that more applicants 
from a protected group will qualify for a higher band award. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age  93



   

  38 

Date EQIA approved  
 
Any subsequent amendments – date and detail 

 

Page  94



 1 

 

 
 

Allocations Policy 
(2020 Policy Review) 

 
Section 1: Introduction and background  3 

Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership 3 

Legal context  4 

The key aims and objectives set for the Policy 6 

Making changes to the Policy 6 

General Data Protection Regulations 2018 7 

Equality, accessibility and monitoring 7 

Complaints 8 

Statement on Choice 9 

Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the 
criteria for assessing applications 

14 

The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules 14 

The qualification rules adopted by the CCP  15 

Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection  15 

Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain 
and share an applicant’s personal information 

17 

Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home 
ownership  

17 

Qualification rule 4: Financial resources 18 

Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid 19 

Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information 19 

Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current 
or former social housing rent arrears or another relevant recoverable 
housing related debt 

19 

Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour 23 

Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or Band 
B Housing Need 

24 

How the CCP will consider exceptional circumstances when 
applying any of the qualification rules 

24 

Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register 26 

How to apply 26 

When a band will be allocated and what date this will be from 27 

Assessing Applications 27 

Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions 28 

Who can be included in the application? 29 

How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint 
tenancy normally be granted? 

30 

Page  95



 2 

Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child 
Arrangement Orders 

30 

The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances 30 

Applications from Councillors, Board Members or staff of a CCP 
partner 

31 

Reviewing the Register 32 

Cancelling Applications 32 

Deliberate Worsening of Circumstances 32 

When an applicant can request a review  33 

Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and 
circumstances will be assessed  

34 

The Banding system  34 

The Banding Table setting out the 3 Bands and the housing need 
criteria required to qualify for each 

35 

Advertising properties 44 

Sheltered Housing  44 

Section 106 Developments 45 

Local Lettings Policies  46 

Specific Local Lettings Policies for villages or rural parishes  46 

Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance 
and detail for how the Policy will be applied 

47 

Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy 47 

Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply: 
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
3) An applicant’s right to information  

49 

Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false 
information will be assessed 

51 

Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the consideration 
of exceptional circumstances and how applications where there is a 
‘Debt Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary 
Agreement (IVA)’  

 

Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the 
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour  

54 

Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered  56 

Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:   
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 

57 

Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority 
band A or B on the basis of medical priority  

61 

Appendix 2: Definition of terms  68 

Appendix 3: How local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed 70 

Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer  72 

Appendix 5: Contact details for all CCP Partners 74 

Appendix 6: Household type and property size allowed 76 

Appendix 7: Right to move criteria 78 

Appendix 8: List of person/s who will take specific decisions  80 

Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6 
Cumbrian Councils 

81 

Page  96



 3 

Appendix 10: Revised equality Impact Assessment June 2020 82 

 
 

Section 1        Introduction and Background 

 
Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership  
 
This document is the revised Housing Allocation Policy for the Cumbria Choice 
Partnership (CCP).  
 
The Allocation Policy is called ‘Cumbria Choice’ and it is a choice based letting 
scheme where applicants can bid for advertised vacant properties. Cumbria 
Choice is a sub-regional partnership between the 6 Local Council Districts and 
7 Registered Provider Housing Associations that own social housing stock 
across Cumbria.   
 
The following are members of the Cumbria Choice Partnership: 
 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Barrow Borough Council  
Carlisle City Council 
Copeland Borough Council 
Eden District Council 
South Lakeland District Council  
 
Plus the following Housing Associations: 
 
Accent Housing 
Eden Housing 
Home Group  
Impact Housing   
Riverside Housing 
South Lakes Housing  
Castles and Coasts Housing Association 
 
Each of these Registered Providers (commonly known as and referred to in this 
policy as Housing Associations) have voluntarily signed up to the policy to 
ensure that all applicants applying for social housing in Cumbria are provided 
with a single route of access to social housing and are assessed using a single 
policy. Where any individual housing association in Cumbria is not a partner to 
the policy and continues to let vacant properties owed to the Council under a 
nominations arrangement, this policy will apply to the nominations owed. 
 
The participating Housing Associations listed above (contact details are set out 
in appendix 5) have agreed to advertise the majority of their available vacant 
properties through the scheme and in accordance with this policy.  
 
The ‘Cumbria Choice Partnership’ is overseen by a ‘Sub Regional Project 
Board’, which is governed by a partnership agreement.  The membership 
consists of one senior officer representative from each organisation.  Each 
organisation has one vote within the partnership.  

Page  97



 4 

 
The Project Board will meet at least six times a year to oversee the running of 
the scheme and to monitor its compliance with local and national policy and 
guidance.  The partnership will continue to monitor, fund, develop and make 
policy decisions about the scheme as appropriate.  
 
The policy covers the nomination of any applicant under the scheme to be an 
assured or an assured short hold tenant of housing accommodation held by any 
participating Housing Association across Cumbria, whether by way of a legally 
enforceable arrangement or not. This includes a nomination of a ‘starter 
tenancy’. Of the 6 Cumbrian Councils only Barrow still owns Council stock and 
the policy applies to allocations made for that stock.   
 
This policy sets out who is, and who isn’t, eligible for social housing in Cumbria 
and how the CCP will make this assessment. It details how applications to join 
the CCP Housing Register can be made, the priority they will be given, and how 
offers of social housing will be made.  
 
This is a revised ‘Housing Allocation Policy’ and will take effect in respect of all 
allocations of housing on or after insert date here. The assessment of need and 
qualifying criteria set out in this policy will be applied to all new and existing 
Applicants from this date. 
 
Legal context  
 
This is the 6 Cumbrian Councils Housing Allocation Policy as required by Part 6 
of the Housing Act 1996. Applicants are able to apply for housing and all 
applications will be fully assessed.  
 
When applying an applicant will be asked to choose a local authority or housing 
association partner to administer their application. Where a housing association 
partner assesses and administers an application they will, on behalf of the 6 
Cumbrian local authorities, be formally discharging the legal responsibility for a 
local authority to receive applications and apply their adopted allocation policy 
to assess that application. All applications will be assessed and administered 
through applying this allocation policy: this being the legally adopted allocation 
policy for all 6 Cumbrian local authorities.   
 
In developing this policy the Councils have followed and fully considered the 
following housing legislation, regulations, statutory guidance, and strategies: 
 
1) The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England)  
 
2) The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction 

Act 2017 
 
3) Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 

England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”;  
 
4) Providing social housing for local people: Statutory guidance on social 

housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013) 
“Supplementary Code”.  

Page  98



 5 

 
5) Plus the following statutory regulations:  
 
a. Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483;  
 
b. Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264;  
 
c. Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006, SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments  
 
d. Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869;  
 
e. Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989.  
 
f. The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 
Regulations 2015 
 
g. ‘The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)’ 
 
In framing our allocations scheme this policy has had regard to the District 
Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, Housing Strategy, and 
Tenancy Strategy as well as the Equality Act 2010. 
 
In relation to f) above in accordance with the Right to Move statutory guidance 
on housing allocations for local housing authorities in England (Department for 
Communities and Local Government, March 2015) the Policy sets a limit of no 
more than 2% of lettings will be allocated to social housing tenants from outside 
of Cumbria who need to move for employment purposes.  
 
All references to statutory materials are by way of summary and for convenience 
only, and are not to be used as substitutes for the details within the original.  
 
Where the Policy refers to the Cumbrian Choice Partnership, or CCP, this is to 
be taken to mean each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils. Each Council has adopted 
this Policy as its legal Allocation Policy to meet the statutory duty under Part 6 
of the Housing Act 1996.  
 
This Allocation Policy applies when a Cumbrian Council:   

 
a) Selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 

accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation owned by Barrow Borough 
Council as the other 5 Council Partners no longer retain social housing 
stock).  

 
b) Nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 

accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation held by another housing 
authority). 

 
c) Nominates a person to be an assured tenant or assured shorthold tenant of 

Page  99



 6 

housing accommodation held by a Registered Provider (commonly referred 
to in the Policy as Housing Associations).  

 
The above includes Affordable Rent properties and Flexible (i.e. fixed term) 
tenancies.  
 
For details of lettings not covered by the policy see appendix 1.1 
 
The key aims and objectives set for the Policy 
 
The key aims and objectives adopted for the Policy are:  
 
1. A Policy that meets the legal requirements placed on each Cumbrian Council, 

namely to give appropriate priority to applicants who fall within the Housing 
Act “reasonable preference” categories  

 
2. To ensure there is a social housing lettings service that embraces equality 

and diversity by being open and fully accessible to all individuals.  
 
3. To improve the means by which local people in Cumbria gain access to social 

rented housing by providing a modern and easy to understand allocation 
system which offers realistic choices. 

 
4. A Policy that is simple to understand and use, is transparent and is seen as 

fair by the general public and applicants   
 
5. To support the objective of making the best use of the social housing stock 

in Cumbria, and to support mobility across Cumbria especially where 
residents need to access to employment. 

 
6. A Policy that contributes to creating balanced and sustainable communities, 

and helps attract new customers to areas of low demand thereby reducing 
void times on any ‘harder to let’ properties.  

Making changes to the Policy 
 
Any major change to the Policy can only be made after a copy of the proposed 
amendments have been consulted on by sending to every Registered Provider 
Housing Association in Cumbria, regardless of whether an association is a 
participating member of the CCP. (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996).  
 
All major changes must first, be agreed by the CCP Partnership Board who will 
make recommendations that will then be considered: 
a) By each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils, and 
b) By each participating Partner Housing Association.  
 
Details of how major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian 
Councils are set out in appendix 9.  
 
For minor changes to the policy or the operational procedures, decisions will be 
delegated to the CCP Board who will consult with the lead officer responsible for 
housing in each Council, (or their delegated officer), and with the Chief Executive 
for each CCP Partner Housing Association (or their delegated officer).  

Page  100



 7 

 
All major changes to the policy will be notified to those it may affect within a 
reasonable period of time.  
 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
 
We will ensure for any person on the housing register their information is stored 
lawfully and we act in a fair and transparent way in processing their data.  We 
will only collect data that is specific, explicit and legitimate for the purpose of the 
application and lettings processes set out in this policy. The data will be kept up 
to date and not held unnecessarily or without appropriate security measures in 
place.  Information will only be shared with other organisations or individuals in 
order to legitimately assess and progress a person’s housing, for the prevention 
of fraud or with the person’s explicit consent. 
 
An applicant’s permission to share their personal information is a qualification 
condition of being accepted onto the CCP housing register. 
 
Appendix 1.2 sets out the details for how the scheme will apply: 
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
3) An applicant’s right to information   
 
Equality, accessibility and monitoring 
 
The CCP is committed to ensuring that the Policy and the implementation of all 
associated guidance and procedures are non-discriminatory and that all 
applicants are able to access the service, especially taking account of any 
vulnerability or other specific needs, and also the needs of different groups 
protected by the Equality Act 2010; the Human Rights Act 1998; and for 
Children, Section 11 of the Children Act.  
 
To identify the needs of our applicants the application contains specific 
questions relating to vulnerability, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disability and 
other relevant criteria.  The information obtained will be used to monitor the 
impact of the policy on minority and specific needs groups and to evidence the 
need for amendments, as may be required.  
 
Under the Equality Act 2010 and in particular section 149 of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty, Councils are required to give due regard to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, when 
exercising a public function such as their legal Housing Allocation Policy. 

The protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex and sexual orientation. 

The CCP will ensure that the policy complies with the current equality legislation 
and with all relevant statutory codes and guidance. The new policy has been 
subject to a full, detailed ‘Equality Impact Audit’ before it has been adopted (see 

Page  101



 8 

appendix 10). This EIA will be regularly reviewed as more monitoring information 
regarding the impact of the policy is obtained.  
 
The outcomes for applicants identified as having specific needs or who meet the 
definition of a protected characteristic under the Equality Act will be monitored 
regarding the outcomes for applications to join the register and offers of social 
housing.  
 
The CCP will monitor the policy and outcomes to ensure that it is meeting all 
legal requirements and that the aims and objectives set for the policy are being 
met. Monitoring will be used to ensure that: 
 

 Those in the ‘reasonable preference’ categories are given priority for housing 

 The Policy is complying with its Equality Act duties  

 There is overall customer satisfaction with the scheme 
 
Complaints 
 
Complaints are separate to the circumstances where an applicant wishes to 
seek a review of a decision made on their application. Such a request should be 
made under the review procedure set out in section 4 and not through the 
complaints procedure.  
 
Where an applicant wishes to make a complaint about poor service, or the way 
they have been treated, this should be made using the complaints procedure for 
the Cumbrian District Council where they currently live. A copy of the current 
complaints procedure for each of the 6 Councils is available on their websites.  
 
Complaints regarding the handling of an application by a partner Housing 
Association should be made through that Association’s complaints procedure 
which will be detailed on the Association’s website.  
 
Where a complaint relates to how an applicant has been dealt with under this 
policy an applicant has the right to continue with their complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman Service if they are unhappy with the response to their 
complaint. 
 
The Local Government Ombudsman is an independent service run by Central 
Government to make sure that Councils provide the required standard of service 
to their customers. 
 
The Ombudsman can investigate complaints about how the Council has done 
something, but they cannot question what has been done simply because 
someone did not agree with it. 
 
The Ombudsman will normally deal with a complaint if a customer feels they 
have been treated unfairly as a result of maladministration. 
 
For example, if a Council has: 
 
 Delayed taking action without good reason 

Page  102



 9 

 Taken into account facts which are not relevant or ignored facts which are 
relevant 

 Not followed their own rules or complied with the law 
 Not taken action that they had promised to 
 Given a customer the wrong information 
 Not reached a decision in the correct way 
 
The Ombudsman will not normally investigate a complaint: 
 
 Until a Council has had the opportunity to review its decision (normally by 

accessing the complaints process), or  
 If it is a matter which has been, are, or could be dealt with by the courts or 

an internal review procedure  
 If it was a matter which the applicant was aware of more than twelve months 

before making the complaint 
 
All complaints to the Ombudsman must be in writing. Applicants can request 
assistance from their local Councilor or ask an advocate to write on their behalf. 
The contact details for the Local Government Ombudsman are: 
Local Government Ombudsman 
PO Box 4771 
Coventry CV4 0EH 
Tel: 0300 061 0614. 
You can also text ‘call back’ to 0762 480 3014. 
Fax: 024 7682 0001 
Website: www.lgo.org.uk 
 
Statement on Choice 
 
One of the key objectives of the Policy is to, as far as possible, give choice to 
applicants who wish to obtain social housing. This is why the CCP has taken the 
decision to operate the Policy through a ‘choice based lettings’ system (CBL). 
The aim being to give applicants the best possible choice over where they wish 
to live. 
 
For all applicants who are eligible to be registered, they should be able to 
express a preference over any area that they would like to live in and the type of 
property they would prefer. However, the ability to satisfy that preference might 
be limited.  
 
The housing pressures faced limit the degree of choice that can be offered, along 
with the responsibility the 6 Cumbria District Councils have to offer housing to 
applicants in urgent housing need, including the need to reduce the financial 
impact of temporary accommodation on a Council.  As a result of housing 
pressures there is a limit on the degree of choice that can be offered. The district 
councils have to offer housing to applicants in urgent housing need, this reduces 
the financial impact of providing temporary accommodation on that Council. 
 
Expressing a preference over where an applicant would prefer to live does not 
mean that preference can be met, nor prevent an applicant being offered suitable 
accommodation outside of their preferred area.  
 

Page  103



 10 

Any applicant will be asked to state any area where they believe they cannot live 
due to fear of violence, harassment or domestic abuse. The assessment will 
then consider the facts and decide whether the applicant can be allowed to 
restrict those areas.  
 
The key policies on choice explained 
 
A) When the CCP may make a direct offer outside of the choice based 
letting (CBL) system and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the 
CBL band and date order system  
 
Not all properties that become available will be advertised and offered through 
the Choice Based Lettings (CBL) system. There may be circumstances where 
for urgent operational or financial reasons there is a need to make a direct offer 
of housing outside the CBL and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the 
band and date order criteria set out in this policy.  
 
Specifically, this would be where there are urgent operational or financial 
reasons. Examples include but are not limited to:  
 
1) Situations where urgent re-housing is required due to an applicants existing 

property being uninhabitable, or where there are serious health and safety or 
personal protection issues that need to be addressed or in discharge of a 
statutory homelessness duty. 

 
2) Urgent housing need situations where it would not be reasonable in the 

circumstances to wait for the Choice Based Lettings process to produce an 
offer.  

 
3) Where there is an evidenced threat to life in the area in which an applicant 

currently lives.   
 
4) Tenants of a CCP Partner in emergency cases whose homes are damaged 

by fire, flood or other disaster  
 
5) To facilitate a three way (or greater) mutual exchange. Mutual exchanges are 

not an allocation, but when it would make best use of its housing stock and 
support the needs of the tenants involved, the CCP may make available a 
property for a three-way exchange 

 
6) Direct offers to persons who the council has a duty to rehouse under section 

39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973. 
 

7) Direct offers in order to meet an annual lettings plan in the circumstances 
where a decision has been taken to adopt an annual lettings plan.   

 
8) Where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed 

a section 189B(2) Relief duty or 193(2) main duty a Partner Council may wish 
to implement a short term scheme to make direct lettings for a period of time 
to move applicants out of temporary accommodation, in order to manage any 
budgetary or legal impact. The CCP Board should be informed so that they 
can monitor to ensure that any scheme does not undermine the key 

Page  104



 11 

objective, which is to ensure that direct lets do not form more than 15% of all 
lettings.  
 

9) If an applicant is not being realistic in the areas they are bidding for 
accommodation, and as a result they may be occupying a temporary 
accommodation unit that may be needed for another newly presenting 
homeless applicant.  
 

10) Where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability 
standards becomes available and there may be a need to offer that property 
to an applicant whose disability need best matches that property, regardless 
of the date they were registered. 
 

11) Where the assessment is that it is inappropriate for the applicant to 
participate in Choice Based Lettings. For example, vulnerable applicants 
nominated by Adult Social Care where work is on-going with social workers 
and care managers to decide on the best letting solution for that applicant.  
 

12) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to Multi Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), or presents a risk to themselves 
or others  

 
Furthermore, we may decide to restrict the time an applicant is able to bid for 
accommodation in an area where they would prefer to live. An offer of 
accommodation may be made in any area that has been assessed as being 
suitable and safe for the applicant to live in.  
 
We will provide information about the number and types of homes, and current 
vacancy rates, to help applicants to make informed choices. The more flexible 
applicants are in their choice of areas and property types, the sooner they are 
likely to be successful in being offered a property that meets their need.  
 
The number of direct offers will be monitored and should add up to no more than 
15% of all lettings annually made under the scheme. This is to preserve Choice 
Based Lettings as the primary method of letting social housing properties in 
Cumbria.  
 
B) Penalty for refusing a set number of offers  
 
Any applicant in Bands A or B who refuses 3 reasonable offers within a 12-month 
period will have their application placed into Band C for up to 12 months. This is 
to tackle the problem of applicants making unlimited bids that may result in 
higher refusal rates with resulting extended re-letting periods.  
 
Criteria setting out what will be considered to be, and not be, a reasonable offer 
is set out in Appendix 4. A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type will 
normally be considered unreasonable. 
 
C) Offers of accommodation made to any applicant owed any statutory 
homelessness duty under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
 

Page  105



 12 

Specifically, for applicants owed the section 189B(2) ‘relief of homelessness’ 
duty, or the ‘main homelessness duty’ under section 193(2) of the Housing Act 
1996 Part 7, the need to offer suitable housing may be considered more 
important than the need for the applicant to wait for an offer of accommodation 
in a location where they would prefer to live in. 
 
If an applicant owed any of the statutory homelessness duties set out below 
refuses a written offer of suitable social housing accommodation made through 
this policy, then the duty owed to them will be discharged and they will lose any 
priority status afforded to them because of that homeless duty owed.  
 
Applicants owed a statutory homeless duty will be identified through the IT 
system at the shortlisting stage. On identification of a suitable property the RP 
and LA partners will agree the a process for ensuring the a ‘final offer warning 
letter’ will be sent to the homeless applicant owed a statutory homelessness duty 
set out below. This will normally be to inform the relevant local authority Housing 
options Team that an offer is to made so they can send out a ‘final offer warning 
letter’ 
 
In these circumstances unless they have another reason to be awarded a 
statutory housing need Band A or B under this policy, they will be placed into 
Band C. The offer they have refused will count as the first offer out of the 3 offers 
allowed within the 12 months period. They will no longer be owed any banding 
award for being owed a statutory homelessness duty, as that duty would have 
been brought to an end when they refused a suitable offer of social housing.    
 
A statutory homeless duty is defined as:  
a) The prevention of homelessness duty under Section 195(2)  
b) The ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)   
c) Where the relief duty has come to an end and an applicant is then owed a 

section 190 Intentionally homeless temporary accommodation duty to 
provide them with a reasonable opportunity to secure alternative 
accommodation for occupation (section 190(2) duty),  

d) The section 193(2) Main Homelessness duty or the section 193C(4) 
‘reduced’ section 193 duty  

 
For operational guidance notes:  
Note 1: Where it has been decided to refer the case to another authority at either 
the ‘Relief Stage’ or at the ‘Main Duty stage’ of their homeless application, an 
applicant will not receive any banding for being owed any homelessness duty as 
the Council will owe no duty (other than, depending on the circumstances) an 
interim accommodation duty. Being owed an interim accommodation duty 
pending the outcome of a local connection referral does not qualify an applicant 
to be owed a banding A or B  
 
Note 2: Where a Cumbria District Council has ended any statutory homeless 
duty and is exercising its power to provide accommodation pending a review 
decision (section 188(3) power) no statutory duty will be owed by the Council 
unless the outcome of any review is favourable for the applicant. Therefore 
where a review has been requested any banding priority for being owed any of 
the homelessness duties will be removed. 
 

Page  106



 13 

D) Where applicants in Band A have not bid within 3 months of being 
awarded Band A 
 
Band A is an award of additional preference based on an applicant’s very urgent 
need to be housed. The need to house someone urgently will be undermined if 
an applicant fails to bid because they may, for example, be waiting for the 
‘perfect property’ to become available.  
 
Therefore an award of Band A will be reviewed after 3 months for any applicant 
who has not bid, or where the view is that bids have been made but are not 
realistic.  
 
The review after 3 months could result in a decision that:  
 
a) The Band A award should continue with further reviews scheduled for every 

3 months, or 
b) The Band A award should be removed with the applicant losing additional 

preference and being placed into Band B, or  
c) That a direct offer should be made as soon as possible due to the urgent 

need for the applicant to move.  
 
Note: There may be circumstances where no suitable properties have become 
available for an applicant to bid on within the 3-month period. In these 
circumstances an applicant will not have Band A removed and will continue to 
be able to bid. However, in recognition of their urgent need to move it may be 
agreed with the relevant local authority to make a direct offer for any property 
that is assessed as suitable to meet their urgent housing need.  
 
 

  

Page  107



 14 

 Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the criteria for 
assessing who is eligible to be included 

 
 
The CCP Housing Register is a single list of applicants across Cumbria who 
qualifies to be included on the scheme. It includes new applicants and existing 
social housing tenants living in Cumbria who are seeking a transfer.  
 
Anyone over the age of 16 is eligible to join the Housing Register if their current 
address is their only home, or sole residence, and they are not already registered 
through someone else’s housing application. 
 
If an applicant is under 18 years of age they will not normally be offered a 
tenancy. This does not apply to young people living in a foster home or in 
residential care provided by Social Services for whom re-housing under the 
Children Act has been agreed and who are within 6 months of their 18th birthday. 
There is an agreed protocol between the Housing and Social Services 
departments covering housing for applicants who are looked after, or were 
formerly looked after.  
  
Any offer to an applicant who is under the age of 18 will only be made after their 
ability to manage a tenancy has been fully assessed. This assessment is to 
make sure that they can cope with being a tenant at a young age and that they 
do not risk losing that tenancy offered through a lack of support.  
 
If a person who is 16 or 17 is granted a tenancy, this will be held in trust until 
they reach 18. This means that another suitable person (such as a parent, legal 
guardian, social worker or relative) will be responsible for the tenancy.  
 
The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules  
 
Everyone can apply to join the register but there are some groups of people who 
by law cannot join the register, regardless of their housing need or 
circumstances. These are people who: 

 

 Come under the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ eligibility rules and 
cannot lawfully be given housing help;  

 Do not live habitually in the Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, the 
Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland); 

 Do not have the right to live in the UK;  

 Plus other categories of people who the Government may in the future, 
decide are not eligible for housing assistance. 

 
Under sections 160ZA (1), (2) and (4) of the Housing Act 1996 the CCP cannot 
allocate a tenancy, or nominate a person for housing, if they are a person who 
is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation by virtue of being a 
person subject to immigration control or a person from abroad who is prescribed 
as ineligible. 
 
The relevant regulations that apply to eligibility are: 
 

Page  108



 15 

 Regulations 3 and 4 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(England) Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294 

 All subsequent amendments including ‘The Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 
2019 (SI 2019/861) 

 
The rules are complicated and anyone who is impacted or believe they may be 
impacted can approach any CCP Partner for advice, or seek independent legal 
advice.  
 
The rules will change from 2021 due to the UK’s exit from the EU and new 
regulations regarding eligibility for housing based on the EU settlement scheme. 
This policy will be amended to take into account any new rules.  
 
The qualification rules adopted under the Policy 
 
In addition to the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ rules setting out when a 
person is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation the housing laws 
allow for the CCP to define in the Policy who will be regarded as ‘qualifying 
persons’ (section 160ZA).  
 
What this means is that under section 160ZA(7) is that the Policy can set out 
classes of people who are, or are not, qualifying persons. A number of 
qualification rules have been adopted by the CCP. There are also a number of 
defined exceptions to all, or an individual qualification rule. The qualification 
rules and exceptions are set out below.  
 
Qualification Rule 1: Local Connection 
 
Only those applicants with a local connection to Cumbria and who also have an 
assessed statutory housing need, as defined by this policy, are eligible to be 
included for the statutory reasonable preference housing needs Bands A and B. 
The local connection rules do not prevent an applicant from being awarded Band 
C as long as they meet the other qualification rules set, for example – as long 
as they are not disqualified through the unacceptable behavior rule.  
 
There will be some properties advertised that may be subject to additional local 
connection requirements however, these will be clearly stated in the advert 
where this is the case. A local connection is defined as:  
 
a) Have lived within any area of Cumbria for the past year, or for 3 years in the 

last 5 and that residence was of their choice.  
b) Have immediate family (mother, father, brother, sister, son, daughter) who 

are currently living in Cumbria and have done so for at least the last 3 years  
c) Are employed in permanent employment in Cumbria. Employment is defined 

as paid employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of one year, 
or self-employment where an applicant can demonstrate that the self-
employed work they perform is in the Cumbria area and is on average 16 
hours a week or more. The employment must be based on their actual place 
of work in the area and not based on a head office or regional office situated 
in the area but from which the applicant does not work. Where working hours 

Page  109



 16 

fluctuate i.e. casual or zero hours contract, an average will be taken over the 
last three months, or 

d) Have close family (normally mother, father, brother, sister, son or daughter) 
that have lived in Cumbria for a minimum of the past 3 years. We will consider 
whether there are exceptional circumstances where other family members 
may be considered as close. For example, the circumstances where an 
extended family member brought up a person in the absence of their own 
parents.  

e) Where there is an exceptional need to move to the area as determined for 
very special circumstances. 

 
For the purposes of determining local connection for residence in Cumbria, this 
will include:  
 
1) Residency in a non-traditional dwelling, such as a mobile home that is placed 

on a residential site, or an official pitch where it is demonstrated that this their 
permanent place of residence and can be evidenced through paying council 
tax. 

2) People who are forced to sleep rough in Cumbria if they meet the qualification 
period for residency. 

 
The exemptions to the residency qualification rule are:  
 
1) An applicant is homeless and a Cumbrian Council has accepted the section 

189B ‘relief of homelessness duty or the main section 193(2) housing duty 
under the Housing Act 1996, and they are not intending to refer the applicant 
to another Council under the homelessness local connection rules. 
 

2) A Cumbria District Council has placed an applicant into temporary 
accommodation outside of Cumbria. 
 

3) Where there are significant and special circumstances requiring a move into 
Cumbria. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis following a request 
from the applicant or from the information submitted on their housing register 
application. Examples include:  
a) Reasons of safety; i.e. when an applicant is fleeing domestic abuse or 

hate crime from another area, or 
b) Is on a witness protection programme and the CCP have agreed that 

there is an essential reason why they need to move to Cumbria  
 

4) Applicants who are leaving an institution such as a prison or secure unit or a 
hospital, rehabilitation centre, refuge, hostel or supported accommodation 
scheme that is not in Cumbria and the applicant was resident in Cumbria for 
one year one year immediately preceding residency in an institution, or 3 out 
of the last 5 years immediately before they were accommodated in that 
institution.  
 

5) The CCP will consider any application from a gypsy or traveller household 
where the applicant may not meet the continuous period of residence rule, 
as the period may have been broken by travelling. The CCP will consider the 
facts of each case when deciding whether the rule should be waived.  
 

Page  110



 17 

6) Care Leavers below the age of 25 years who are, or were, owed a duty under 
section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by Cumbria County Council and have 
been looked after in accommodation outside of Cumbria. This will include 
care leavers who are still receiving after care support from Children’s Service 
until they are 25, and some care leavers who are in full-time education who 
wish to move back to Cumbria on completion of their education.  

 
7) Applicants that satisfy the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for 

Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 2012. These are:  
a) Applicants who are serving members of the regular armed forces  
b) Applicants who served in the regular armed forces within the 5 years 

immediately prior to the date of their application 
c) Applicants who are serving or former serving members of the regular armed 

forces or reserve forces who suffer from a serious injury, illness or disability 
sustained as a result of their service 

d) Applicants who are a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a former serving 
member of the regular armed forces and have recently ceased (or will soon 
cease) to be entitled to reside in services accommodation following the death 
of their spouse/civil partner. 
 

8) Applicants who satisfy the right to move criteria. The Right to Move 
qualification regulations 20155 states that Local Connection criteria must not 
be applied to existing social tenants who seek to move from another Council 
district in England and who have a need to move for work related reasons to 
avoid hardship. 
 
To qualify the applicant must: 
 
 Be social housing tenant living in England 
 Wish to join the Housing Register in Cumbria due to work related reasons 

to avoid hardship are able to do so provided that they can provide 
evidence to that effect that is accepted. 

 Satisfy the criteria that the tenant needs, rather than wishes to move for 
work related reasons and if they were unable to do so would result in 
hardship. 

 
Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain and 
share an applicant’s personal information  
 
This is a condition of being accepted onto the housing register and applies to 
the applicant, or any member of the applicant’s household. 
 
Qualification rule 3: Homeownership, or legal interest in homeownership  
 
An applicant cannot qualify for Bands A or B of the housing register (see section 
on exemptions) if they own a residential property in the UK or elsewhere, 
including freehold, leasehold, joint ownership or shared ownership (applicants 
who have been the owner of a residential property within the last 5 years will be 
required to provide proof of the proceeds from the sale and of the disposal of the 
proceeds). This includes properties owned and rented out to other persons and 
or properties in other countries. However, applicants will be able to qualify for 
Band C.  

Page  111



 18 

 
Applicants who own or part own accommodation, or who have a legal interest in 
home ownership (for example through marriage or civil partnership in 
accommodation owned by their spouse or civil partner) also do not qualify. 
 
However, if as a result of a divorce settlement a Court has ordered that an 
applicant may not reside in the former matrimonial or civil partnership home in 
which they still have a legal interest for a period which is likely to exceed 5 years, 
then the Applicant will be treated as if they do not own, or part own 
accommodation. 
 
Qualification rule 4: Financial resources  
 
Applicants who are considered to have sufficient financial resources to buy 
suitable accommodation in Cumbria will not qualify for Bands A or B but can 
qualify for Band C. ‘Sufficient financial resources’ are defined as sufficient capital 
to buy or rent privately; or sufficient income to raise a mortgage to buy or rent 
privately; or a combination of both. The income and savings limits are:  
 
1) Applicants (both single persons and couples) who have total savings, 

investments and/or assets of £25,000 or more.  
2) Applicants whose total gross household income from all sources exceeds an 

annual income of £45,000 or more (for single persons) or joint income of 
£60,000 or more (for couples).  

 
'Sufficient financial resources' includes any assets or investments even if they 
are not immediately available to the applicant, such as any residential or non-
residential property that they own or part own anywhere in the UK or abroad.   
 
Any lump sum received by a member of the armed forces as compensation for 
an injury or disability on active service will be disregarded. 
 
Although this qualification rule will mean an applicant cannot be granted the 
statutory housing needs bands A or B, it does not prevent them being considered 
for any low cost home ownership schemes, such as rent to buy, shared 
ownership/equity, discounted market sale and starter homes or lower demand 
properties. Information can be given on request regarding which Housing 
Associations or developers are currently operating any of the above schemes 
and how applications can be made. 
 
Applicants who do not qualify for Bands A or B under the homeownership, legal 
interest or financial resources rules may be considered as an exception if: 
 
a) They own or part own accommodation or have a legal interest in 

accommodation or have financial resources above the thresholds and  
b) They have a substantial disability; and their current home is not suitable for 

their specific needs.  
 

This exemption is intended to cover situations where a person owns their own 
home but where it is agreed that they are no longer able to manage in it due to 
their advancing years, or due to developing a substantial disability that makes 
living in their home impracticable. This would be the circumstances where selling 

Page  112



 19 

up is unlikely to provide sufficient funds for the applicant to purchase alternative 
accommodation that would be suitable for their disability needs.  
 
Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid 
 
This is a disqualification rule that will be applied to applicants who are included 
on the Housing Register.  
 
The CCP will monitor the bidding patterns to identify applicants who fail to bid 
and identify any applicants where their failure to bid could be the result of a 
vulnerability and not being able to understand the bidding system. In these 
circumstances the rule will not be applied.  
 
Any applicant who has failed to bid for more than twelve months will be removed 
from the Housing Register to reduce the administrative burden of maintaining 
the register. This is based on the assumption that an applicant who has not bid 
for accommodation in 12 months is unlikely to continue to be in housing need. 
Any applicant removed from the register can reapply if they have a housing 
need.  
 
If an applicant has only registered because they are interested in biding for 
accommodation for a new section 106 rural developments that may be being 
built, this will be considered as an exception to the ‘no bid in 12 months’ rule.  
 
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information 
 
Applicants who are found to have withheld or given false information may be 
removed from the register and will not be able to reapply for a period of 12 
months.  Decisions to remove the person from the register will be made based 
on the seriousness of the false information given, or an assessment of why 
important information was withheld.  
 
For details on how we will assess the question of alleged fraud or false 
information see appendix 1.3  

 
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current or 
former social housing rent arrears or another relevant recoverable 
housing related debt. 
 
This section sets out the rules for when an applicant  
 
a) Will not be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register because of rent arrears 
or a housing related debt, or  
 
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will be not be allowed to bid for properties 
advertised until the rent arrears or housing related debt have been resolved to 
the satisfaction of the CCP using the criteria set out below.  
 
When carrying out an assessment, we will take into consideration all housing 
related debts, associated with either a current or former tenancy where this 
relates to any social housing provider in the UK. Note the rules in this section 
apply only to social housing former or current rent arrears, occupation of 

Page  113



 20 

temporary accommodation debts, and some other forms of housing related debt. 
This section does not cover any rent arrears for a private sector tenancy or 
licence. This is covered under the unacceptable behaviour rules set out in 
Qualification rule 8 below.  
 
Note: the definition of a housing debt will not include debts that are statute 
barred. The debt will be considered statute barred where an applicant, or their 
representative or someone else they held the account with hasn’t: 
 
 Made a payment in the last 6 years 
 Written to the creditor acknowledging the debt in the last 6 years 
 Had a county court judgement (CCJ) relating to the debt in the last 6 years 
 
For the purposes of this qualification rule housing related debts include:  
 
a) Current or former tenancy rent arrears of a social housing tenancy;  
b) Outstanding re-chargeable repairs; 
c) Current and former housing related service charge arrears; 
d) Bed and breakfast or other temporary accommodation charge arrears for a 

licence or a tenancy 
e) Housing benefit overpayments for a social housing tenancy;  
f) Failing to adhere to the terms of an agreed payment plan in relation to rent 

arrears or housing debt for a social housing tenancy or temporary 
accommodation 

g) Any court costs associated with any of the above debts 
 
Housing related debts apply to both the applicant and to any members of their 
household that are included in the application. 
 
The purpose of this qualification rule is two fold.  
1) To ensure any debt to a former landlord is recovered and  
2) To focus on whether an applicant's history creates a risk of future non-
payment, rather than simply on the existence of a current outstanding debt.   
 
The following framework will be used to guide officers to apply this qualification 
rule. We will consider:  
 

 Whether the applicant still owes that debt, and if they do, the extent of the 
arrears/debt and whether it is a recoverable debt or a statute barred debt. 

 Whether there possible exceptional circumstances that need to be 
considered.  

 Whether the claimant has taken debt advice acted on it, and entered into and 
begun to implement any arrangement to clear the arrears/debt. 

 If an arrangement has been made, the amount of arrears/debt paid off, any 
amount outstanding, and the regularity of any payments made. 

 
After applying the above procedure it may be decided that the applicant does 
not qualify for the housing register or that they will be allowed to qualify, but not 
allowed to bid for advertised properties until the matter has been resolved to the 
satisfaction of the CCP.  
 

Page  114



 21 

There is no time limit regarding when a person can make a new application 
following disqualification. Where a new application is made we will assess 
whether the applicant has taken appropriate action to address the debt. When 
disqualified the applicant will have been informed of the steps they need to take 
to resolve the debt in order to qualify.  
 
How decisions for applicants with a social housing debt will be made  
 
a) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have not made any 
arrangement to address the debt 
 
Applicants with debts of £1000 or more who have not made any arrangement to 
address the debt should be ineligible to join the register unless the 
circumstances surrounding the debt are exceptional and the assessment 
concludes that there is no real risk of future non-payment.  
 
b) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have made any 
arrangement to address the debt 
 
Applicants will be permitted to join the register and be able to bid for 
accommodation if they have maintained a payment arrangement for at least 13 
weeks and have either: 
 Repaid at least £750; or 
 Repaid at least 25% of their original debt 
 
Applicants who satisfy the above will be permitted to bid for properties. All 
partner landlords are encouraged to abide by these guidelines and to accept 
bids on this basis. It is however, accepted that the housing association to whom 
the debt is owed may wish to see that a longer period of repayment should be 
kept to. Where this is the case the period should not be more than a further 13-
39 weeks in addition to the 13-week period that the applicant has already paid. 
Any requirement by the partner to whom the debt is owed for payments to be 
maintained for more than 13 weeks should not prevent an applicant from bidding 
for properties advertised by another housing association partner.  
 
All partner landlords are discouraged from requiring a debt of £1000 plus to be 
paid in full. This disincentives applicants from making any attempt at payment 
and may result in an applicant having to demonstrate an extended repayment 
period of several years before they can be considered for accommodation. This 
would be unfair on applicant’s who have demonstrated a commitment to pay off 
the debt and that the risk of any further debt for a new tenancy is low. It also 
makes it more likely that the housing association is unable to recover the debt.  
 
c) Applicants with debts of £1-£499  
 
Applicants with debts of £1-£499 should be eligible to join the register and 
eligible to bid, unless there is clear evidence of a future risk of non-payment.  
Clear evidence of a future risk could include factors such as: 
a) A long history of housing debt; 
b) A long history of poor rent payments; and 
c) A long history of breached payment arrangements. 
 

Page  115



 22 

Where such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there is 
evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such 
as: 
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 1-8 weeks; 
b) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been 

addressed. 
 
d) Applicants with debts of £500-£999 
 
Applicants with debts of £500-£999 should be eligible to join the register but 
ineligible to bid, unless the applicant can demonstrate there is no real risk of 
future non-payment. 
 
Evidence there is a no real risk of future non-payment could include factors such 
as: 
a) A history of not having housing debts; 
b) A history of regular rent payments; and 
c) A history of maintained payment arrangements. 
 
Where no such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there 
is evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such 
as: 
 
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 8-26 weeks; 
b) Reducing the debt to below £500 (in which case the above rules at c would 

apply) 
c) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been 

addressed. 
 
Applicants who are disqualified for a housing related debt of £1,000+ should 
notify the CCP immediately when they have either repaid at least £750 or repaid 
at least 25% of their original debt so they can qualify for the register. If it is agreed 
that the matter has been resolved and they can register, their effective date will 
be the date they have been assessed as qualifying for the register and will not 
be the date of their first application which resulted in the decision that they do 
not qualify.   
 
The only exceptions to this qualification rule are applicants who can demonstrate 
that their circumstances are exceptional and that they would face serious 
hardship or risk through not being allowed to qualify. An exception may be 
considered where for example an applicant has a good payment history with a 
debt resulting from a one off incident or problem such as relating to Universal 
Credit, or benefits reforms, or where a tenant had to flee domestic abuse and a 
subsequent debt built up for their tenancy.   
 
Additional procedural information on the consideration of exceptional 
circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt Relief Order’, 
‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary Agreement (IVA)’ are set out in 
appendix 1.4  
 
Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour  
 

Page  116



 23 

This will apply where an applicant, or any member of their current or prospective 
household, has a history of serious unacceptable behaviour that, in the view of 
the CCP, makes them unsuitable to be a tenant. It is important to note that 
whether an applicant’s behavior means that they are not allowed to register is 
entirely a matter for the CCP and that the qualification rule is not restricted to 
whether the unacceptable behavior would entitle the Council to an outright 
Possession Order if the applicant were to be a tenant. This was the ‘threshold 
test’ set by the legislation for Housing Allocation Policies until the Localism Act 
was implemented in 2012. Since 2012 the legislation allows qualification for 
unacceptable behavior to be defined through the rules adopted in any new 
Housing Allocation Policy.   
 
In applying this qualification rule the CCP will decide on the facts of the case 
whether:  
 
a) The applicant should not qualify to be included on the Housing Register due 
to their (or household member’s) serious unacceptable behaviour, or 
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will not be allowed to bid until the applicant (or 
household member) has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the assessing 
officer that their behavior has changed.  
 
In the circumstances described by b) the applicant will be placed in the band that 
reflects their housing need and will continue to accrue ‘time’ on the register for 
the band awarded, despite not being able to bid. Once they have resolved their 
unacceptable behavior their date within the Band will remain the date they were 
awarded that band for their housing need and will not be the date they resolved 
the unacceptable behavior to the satisfaction of the CCP.   
 
The rule of non-qualification, or qualification but being unable to bid, will apply 
where the CCP is satisfied that an applicant (or a member of their current or 
prospective household) has:  
 
1) Demonstrated a serious failure to adhere to the terms of any current or 

previous social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement. This 
includes failing to maintain any previous social rented or private sector rented 
property within the terms of their tenancy agreement, or committing acts 
causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or others in 
the locality of where they live or where they previously have lived. Non-
qualification will apply until the applicant (or a member of their prospective 
household) has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the CCP, that 
circumstances have changed such that the previous conduct is unlikely to 
reoccur.  In many cases this could include demonstrating cooperation with 
support agencies leading to a substantial improvement in behaviour.  

2) Conduct likely to cause nuisance or annoyance if they were to be offered a 
tenancy. This is conduct or behavior that does not only relate to a previous 
social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement but conduct or 
behaviour that the CCP has assessed is still current. This includes where an 
applicant or a member of their current or prospective household is the subject 
of actions being taken by a Council (or some other recognised body) on 
grounds of alleged Anti Social Behaviour (ASB).  

3) Rent arrears for their last private rented tenancy where the CCP has been 
able to obtain information that confirms on the balance of probabilities a debt 

Page  117



 24 

is owed. If there is a debt owed it will be for the assessing officer to decide 
on the level and debt and any facts gathered regarding the level of debt and 
the reasons for it whether the applicant should be classified as a non 
qualifying case or, should be allowed to qualify but prevented from bidding 
until the debt is resolved, or should be allowed to qualify with no penalty 
applied. 

4) Circumstances where the applicant, or any member of their household, has 
assaulted a member of staff, whether or not an injunction is being sought or 
has already been obtained 

 
Additional guidance for assessing officers and the framework to be used to apply 
the test of unacceptable behaviour are set out in appendix 1.5  
 
Qualification rule 9 – Existing CCP Tenants who are not assessed as Band 
A or B for having a statutory housing need.  
 
Existing tenants of any Council or Housing Association located in Cumbria or 
outside of Cumbria will only be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register if they 
have an assessed housing need that would qualify them for Bands A or B.  
 
This does not prevent a tenant who is not in housing need from seeking a 
transfer through the ‘Mutual Exchange Scheme’.  
 
How exceptional circumstances will be considered for any of the 
qualification rules  
 
The CCP retains the ability, in exceptional circumstances, to exercise its 
discretion when applying any of the qualification rules. Note, it is for the applicant 
to request that discretion should be applied for exceptional circumstances and 
once requested this will be considered by a senior housing operational manager 
from the Council normally for the Council area where the applicant has applied 
from. A request for a review of a decision that an applicant does not meet the 
qualification rule will be taken as a request for any exceptional circumstances to 
be considered. The delegated responsible manager for each assessing 
organisation will consider:  
 
1) Whether the application would result in the applicant being awarded a 
statutory housing need reasonable preference Band A or B under the Policy, 
and if so 
2) Whether the applicant’s circumstances (or those of a member of the 
applicant’s household) are so exceptional that the qualification rule should be 
waived.  
 
They will assess the case for exceptional circumstances and will record all 
decisions reached along with full reasons for that decision. The applicant will 
receive a written decision with the reasons set out.  
 
Please note 1: that the CCP cannot waive the eligibility rules for any applicant 
who is not allowed to access social housing under the ‘person from abroad’ legal 
eligibility rules set by Central Government. 
 

Page  118



 25 

Please note 2: In deciding whether an applicant’s circumstances are exceptional 
we will fully consider the Equality Act 2010 and Children Act 2004. For the 
Equality Act we will specifically consider:  
  
a) Whether the person, or a member of their household that they wish to be 

housed with them, meets the definition for one or more of the 9 protected 
characteristics in listed in the Equality Act 2010 

b) If we agree that the applicant or a member of their household comes under 
the definition for a protected characteristic the CCP will fully comply with 
section 149 of 2010 Equality Act and ensure that it has obtained all relevant 
information relating to the applicant’s protected characteristic and will 
consider that if they were not able to qualify for the scheme, whether this 
would have an exceptionally detrimental impact on the person with the 
protected characteristic, and  

c) Ensure that any decision that the applicant’s circumstances are not 
exceptional will be a decision that is a proportionate means of achieving the 
legitimate aims set out in this policy in section 1.  

  

Page  119



 26 

 
Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register 
 

 
How to apply 
 
Applications should be made online by accessing the housing allocations section 
of the Cumbria Choice website and completing the on-line application form - 
https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/38.aspx 
 
An applicant will be asked to choose one housing organisation to administer their 
application. This can be the local authority for where they are resident or a 
housing association partner. If the applicant is a tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’ 
partner their application must be administered by that housing association. If 
they are a former tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’ partner, that partner must 
administer their application.  
 
Applicants can call any of the CCP Council or Housing Association Partners if 
they need help to make their application on-line. There is also free access to the 
Internet at libraries, Council offices, Housing Association Offices and at some 
community facilities. A telephone or office appointment can be offered when an 
applicant has no access to the Internet or is unable to use the Internet. To 
mitigate any impact it is agreed that paper forms will still be available in 
exceptional circumstances where it is agreed an applicant is unable to complete 
an on-line form. 
 
The Cumbria Choice website contains a list of all of the supporting documents 
that an applicant must provide in order to progress their application. In most 
circumstances an applicant will be able to upload their documents.  

 
Where the applicant indicates that they have medical problems they will also be 
requested to complete an additional medical assessment form on-line.  
 
Once the on-line application has been received there may be a need for 
additional information. If so applicants will receive a phone call, email or letter 
setting out the details for any additional information needed.  
 
Prisoners can register in the 6-month period prior to their date of release.  They 
are able to express an interest in a property in the 2-week period prior to release 
but must be able to accept the tenancy on the date required by the housing 
provider.  
 
If accepted onto the register, applicants will be informed of:  
 
1) The band they have been placed in (this determines priority)  
2) The date of application (may be used to determine priority within the band 

allocated)  
3) The size and type of properties for which they can bid 
4) Their application reference number (applicants will need this to bid)  
5) How to appeal against their banding if they think it is wrong.  
 

Page  120

https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/38.aspx


 27 

They will also receive a user guide. This will inform them about how the scheme 
works and will include such information as:  
 Where to look for advertised properties;  
 How to bid for a property  
 What checks are made before any offer is confirmed? 
 Feedback on their bid 
 
Where a band is allocated what date will this be from?  
 
The band start date is the date that the housing register application was received 
for assessment, unless an applicant’s housing need and/or circumstances 
changes and they are as a result placed in a higher band. In these circumstances 
they will have their band start date reset as the higher band reflects how long 
they have had the higher level of housing need. 
 
Note for eligible homeless applicants who meet the qualification rules to join the 
Housing Register the following will apply with regard to their Band start date:  
a) Owed a section 195(2) Prevention of homelessness duty – Band date is the 

date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application 
b) Owed a section 189B (2) Relief of homelessness duty – Band date is the 

date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application 
c) Owed the Main section 193(2) duty – Band date is the date the Relief of 

homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Main duty was owed. To 
start the date at the date the Main duty was owed would disadvantage an 
applicant by 56 days who has been found to be in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless 

d) Circumstances where the relief duty has ended and the applicant is assessed 
at this point as not being in priority need - Band date is the date the Relief of 
homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Relief duty is ended and 
the non-priority decision confirmed. To start the date at the date the Relief 
duty was brought to an end would disadvantage an applicant by 56 days who 
has been found to be homeless but not in priority need  

 
Assessing Applications 
  
In order to assess an applicant’s housing need and therefore their place on the 
Housing Register the scheme uses a needs based banding system detailed in 
section 4 below.  
 
The Bands are awarded to reflect housing need, whereby the need reflected by 
the highest Band indicates the greater need for housing.  
 
Applicants will be required to sign a declaration, or to give informed consent, to: 
 
a) Confirm that the information given is correct and that they will notify the CCP 

of any change in their circumstances. 
b) Give consent to allow enquiries to be made concerning their eligibility for 

housing and level of priority.  
c) Give consent to allow information to be provided to other partner 

organisations that are part of the scheme. 
 

Page  121



 28 

It is the responsibility of the applicant to provide all the information requested to 
assess their circumstances, and to provide any supporting information or 
documents that are requested. Incomplete applications will not be made active 
until such time as the CCP is satisfied that it has in its possession all of the 
information it requires to complete its assessment.  
 
All incomplete applications will be cancelled after a period of 28 days measured 
from the date information has been requested and not provided. If canceled this 
does not prevent the applicant making a subsequent application at a later date, 
although in such cases the effective date of registration would not be backdated 
to the earlier application date. 
 
The CCP may request information or a reference from an applicant’s current or 
previous social landlord and may, depending on whether the application gives 
rise to any concern, request a reference from the most recent private sector 
landlord if the applicant is or has been a private sector tenancy.  
 
Where a landlord does not reply a reminder will be sent, and if still not 
forthcoming any other information or records available will be checked to try to 
determine whether there have been any concerns over the way an applicant 
may have conducted their private rented tenancy. An applicant should not be 
disadvantaged if, despite every effort, it is not possible to obtain a reference from 
their current or previous landlord.  
 
All applications are subject to certain verification checks and may be 
reassessed: 
 
 At the point of initial application 
 Following any change of circumstance notified to the CCP by the applicant 
 Following any routine validation audits 
 Following an annual review of the application 
 At the point of an offer of accommodation 
 At the point of letting 
 
Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions 
 
In the interests of community all applicants and members of their prospective 
household will be requested to disclose any pending court cases or unspent 
criminal convictions.  
 
The CCP may use any information disclosed (or any other information obtained 
during the assessment or following registration) to ascertain whether the 
applicant should be disqualified from joining, or remaining on the register, due 
to applying the serious unacceptable behaviour rule including whether they may 
pose a serious risk to a community if they were to be housed.  
 
Spent convictions are not required to be disclosed and will not be taken into 
account in assessing that person’s eligibility to join the register. The assessment 
will instead reflect whether there is evidence of any current serious unacceptable 
behavior regardless of whether a person has been convicted in the past for that 
behavior.  
 

Page  122



 29 

If the CCP decide that, on the information obtained during the assessment 
process, there is a real pressing need for a ‘Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS)’ check, or a police check, a supplementary request for information and 
declaration will be sent to the applicant asking for more details and for 
permission from the applicant for the CCP to make the relevant check. Failure 
to give permission may result in the application not being made live whilst the 
CCP consider the information available to it or may result in the application being 
closed through the applicant failing qualification rule 2 which is to give 
permission for the CCP to undertake all reasonable enquiries.   
 
Information gained will not automatically exclude an applicant from the register. 
Information received may also be used to make informed decisions about the 
suitability of any property that may be offered.  
 
All assessments will be carried out in accordance with the data protection and 
information sharing policies and legal requirements. 
 
Who can be included in the Application? 
 
The Application can include the following household members: 
 
a) Spouses or Civil Partners where the applicant lives with and/or intends to live 

with their Spouse or Civil Partner. 
 
b) Partners where the applicant is currently cohabiting with a member of the 

same or opposite sex. 
 
c) Children who reside with and are dependent upon the applicant.  Children 

are defined as under 18 for these purposes.  Where there is any dispute as 
to whether children reside with and are dependent upon the applicant, the 
CCP will apply the test in Section 189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
to decide (see below).    

 
d) A Carer where the assessing officer has agreed that on the evidence there 

is a need for a live in Carer. The Carer is a person who provides or intends 
to provide care for another adult. It is either a relative or friend who assists 
another person in their day-to-day life. This is different from someone who 
offers care professionally or through a voluntary organisation. Even if a carer 
is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does not necessarily mean that it is 
necessary for them to reside with the person who is being cared for. An 
application to include a carer in a housing application will be considered by 
the assessing officer’s Manager to determine if the carer has been assessed 
by Social Care and Health as needing to provide overnight support. In these 
circumstances the applicant must provide supporting evidence from other 
agencies e.g. Social Care or a Health professional. 

 
e) Any other household member at the discretion of a manager delegated by 

the assessing body to make such decisions.  
 

f) Note: Individuals can only be on 1 application. Where someone has an 
application in their own name (or with a partner) they cannot also be included 
as a household member on another application unless they are a victim of 

Page  123



 30 

domestic abuse. If this is the case they should remove themselves from their 
previous application.  

 
How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint tenancy 
normally be granted? 
 
Joint applications will be accepted and will be treated as one application. The 
housing need of the full household will be considered in assessing housing need.  
 
Joint tenancies are normally granted where applicants have a long-term 
commitment e.g. married and unmarried couples, civil partners but this decision 
is down to the individual housing association who will decide whether to allow a 
joint tenancy depending on the rules adopted by that association.  
 
Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child 
Arrangement Orders  
 
As part of the assessment process the CCP will record whether the applicant 
claims to have children that live with them part of the week whether or not this 
arrangement is set by the court or not. The CCP will apply the test in Section 
189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to decide whether any child both 
lives with and is dependent on the applicant. Unless this test is passed an 
applicant will only be able to be considered for the size of accommodation 
relevant to their circumstances.   
 
There will be cases where after the section 189(1)(b) assessment it is agreed 
that children live with the applicant on a ‘shared arrangement’ even though they 
do not exclusively live with the applicant.  
 
In these cases, and in cases where an applicant has contact with children who 
stay over but do not live with the applicant, the applicant will be advised as to 
what size of property the applicant they are likely to be able to access and the 
rules applied by each partner housing association for allocating accommodation 
to households where children do not exclusively live with an applicant. The 
decision in this respect of each partner Housing Association is likely to vary and 
will depend on a number of factors including: 
 
a) The ability of the applicant to afford the rent with or without help from benefits 
 
b) The availability and popularity of family housing in any area that an applicant 

expresses a preference to live in. For example a Housing Association may 
be willing to be more flexible where a vacancy relates to a flat than a house 
as long as the rent is assessed as being affordable.  

 
The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances 
 
Applicants are required to inform the CCP of any changes in their circumstances, 
which affect their housing application.  
 
Examples of a change in circumstances include but are not limited to:  
 

Page  124



 31 

a. A change of address or contact details, for either themselves or members of 
their prospective household;  

 
b. A change in their medical condition or disability (either existing or newly 

acquired);  
 
c. Additional family members or other people they wish to add to their 

application (It will be for the CCP to decide whether they will allow additional 
people to join the application);  

 
d. Any family member or any other person on the application who has left the 

accommodation; and  
 
e. Any significant changes in income, savings or assets, which may require a 

reassessment under the income and savings qualification rule.  
 
Where there is any change in an applicant‘s circumstances, an on-line change 
of circumstances form must be completed, and supporting documents must be 
provided. If there is any change to the banding, applicants will be informed in 
writing. The onus is on applicants to inform the CCP when there is a relevant 
change in their circumstances.  
 
If the change in circumstances results in a higher banding award the effective 
date will be the date they moved into the higher band. If the applicant moves to 
a lower band there will be no change to their effective date. 
 
Note, a failure to notify the CCP of changes in circumstances may lead to the 
offer of any housing being withdrawn and the application suspended whilst the 
changes are verified. 
 
Applications from members of the Council, Board Members, and staff  

Elected Councillors, or Housing Association Board Members, cannot be involved 
in assessing housing applications or the allocation of housing. However, this 
does not prevent Councillors seeking or providing information on behalf of 
applicants.   
 
In order to ensure that the Council is treating all applicants fairly, any application 
for housing from a Councillor, Board Member, or employee of any Cumbrian 
Council`s Housing Department or Partner Housing Association will be assessed 
in the normal way, but an offer of housing must be approved by the Lead Officer 
for the social housing partner advertising the vacant home. Canvassing is not 
allowed in any circumstances by or on behalf of members of staff. 
 
 
 
Reviewing the Register 
 
Every applicant on the Register will have their application reviewed annually, or 
more frequently as decided by the CCP in order to manage the administration of 
the register. A letter will be sent to all applicants requesting confirmation of their 
current circumstances, and asking if they wish to remain on the register.  If a 

Page  125



 32 

reply is not received within 28 days of the date the letter is sent the application 
will be cancelled.  
 
Cancelling Applications 
 
An application will be cancelled in the following circumstances: 
 At the request of an applicant 
 Where an applicant does not respond to an application review, within the 

specified time limit set out in any correspondence sent to them 
 Where a CCP Partner, or any other Council, or Housing Association has 

housed the applicant (unless it is assessed that the applicants’ housing 
circumstances still qualify for an award of Band A or B based on their housing 
need, but this is unlikely to be the case). An applicant that has been rehoused 
and does not have an assessed housing need could of course apply again 
and would be included in Band C with a new Band date, which would be the 
date of their application.  

 When a tenant on the housing register completes a mutual exchange 
 Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address 
 Where the applicant has died 
 Where the applicant has not supplied information requested within 28 days 

at the application stage or the annual review stage.  
 
Where the information known is that an applicant is vulnerable, the assessing 
officer may contact the applicant, or any agency supporting them, to check their 
current circumstances before cancelling the application. 
 
If an applicant has moved into private rented accommodation rather than social 
housing the application will not be cancelled but if the result of a reassessment 
at this stage is that as a result of their changed housing circumstances they no 
longer qualify for an award of Band A or B, then they will be allocated Band C.  
 
Any applicant whose application has been cancelled has the right to ask for a 
review of that decision. 
 
Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
 
Where there is evidence that an applicant has knowingly and deliberately made 
their housing situation worse in order to gain a higher priority on the register, the 
assessment of their needs will be based on the circumstances before their 
situation changed through their actions to deliberately worsen their 
circumstances.  
 
Examples are: 
 

 Applicants who have allowed family members or others to move into their 
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial means 
to secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the property 
being overcrowded. 

 Applicants who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable 
accommodation which it were reasonable for them to continue to occupy, into 
a less suitable property. 

Page  126



 33 

 Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member 
within the last 5 years from the date they make their application to the 
Register.  

 Applicants who have given up affordable and suitable private rented 
accommodation which they are able to maintain, to move in with other 
relatives or friends, creating a situation of overcrowding and/or sharing of 
bathroom/kitchen and/or a split household; 

 Requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them with 
a Notice to Quit 

 
These are examples only. There may be other circumstances where the CCP 
decide that an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances 
 
The Review Procedure 
 
The CCP is committed to making the correct decisions on all applications. 
Notification letters by post or email notifying an applicant of ineligibility or non-
qualification for joining the Housing Register, or about the band that they have 
been awarded, or about any other decision concerning the facts of an applicant‘s 
case, will state that the applicant has a legal right to request a review of the 
decision made.  
 
Under the housing legislation that applies to Allocation Policies there is a legal 
right to request a review of a decision in the following circumstances: 
  
a) A decision that an applicant is ineligible, or not a qualifying person to join the 

Housing Register. 
 

b) A decision regarding which band an applicant has been awarded.  
 

c) The priority date granted for the band awarded. 
 

d) To remove an applicant from the Housing Register. 
 

e) Any decision about the facts of the case that has been used to assess their 
application. 
 

f) Where an applicant considers that a decision has been reached based on 
incorrect information. 

 
The procedure for how a request for a review will be administered is set out in 
appendix 1.6 

 
 

 
 
  

Page  127



 34 

 
 

Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and circumstances are 
assessed 

 
The Banding system 

The demand for social housing exceeds supply in many areas of Cumbria and 
therefore this Allocation Policy intends to prioritise the housing of those 
applicants who are assessed as being in the greatest need. Once registered this 
does not mean that an applicant has a right to be offered social housing. They 
can be considered for housing based on their housing need but many applicants 
will unfortunately not have sufficient housing need to be offered a property.  

 
A Banding system will normally be used to decide when to make an offer of 
accommodation and to whom, unless the Council or Housing Association apply 
the ‘direct lets’ procedure as set out in section 1 of this policy.  
 
There are two statutory housing need bands (A and B) and one non-statutory 
housing need band (Band C). The purpose of reducing the number of bands 
from 5 under the old policy to 3 is to ensure that the policy is more transparent 
and simple to use. Once a band has been allocated based on the applicant’s 
housing need, that band would (with the exception of where a direct offer is made 
under the policy) operate as a ‘waiting list’ so that applicants can see progression 
and be given more accurate information on how long they are likely to wait for 
an offer of accommodation depending on the area and type of property they wish 
to consider. This system is fairer and aims to build confidence in applicants 
regarding the allocations process.    

The following section provides details of the 3 bands an applicant may be 
awarded. The band in which an application is placed, will be determined by their 
housing need. How the policy defines and assesses housing need is described 
in the table below. Where there are further details (beyond that contained in the 
table) of how the housing need criteria will be assessed, these are set out in 
appendix 1, for example, how officers will assess medical housing need claims 
(appendix 1.8). 

It is important to note that applicants will be placed in the appropriate band when 
it is assessed there housing need meets the set threshold. An applicant who 
qualifies under more than one housing need criteria will be awarded the highest 
priority that any one of their assessed needs is entitled to. For example, an 
applicant with a need that is awarded band A and another need that would be 
awarded band B will be awarded band A. An applicant with 2 Housing Need 
criteria for Band B will still only be awarded band B. This new housing allocation 
policy no longer reflects cumulative housing need to ensure that the policy is 
seen as being fair and less complicated to understand and administer. This will 
also ensure decisions reached are consistent.  
 
The Bands are:  
 
Band A - Urgent housing need to move: These are applicants that are owed 
a statutory award of what the ‘Housing Allocation Legislation’ calls ‘reasonable 

Page  128



 35 

preference’ but whom the CCP believes should also be awarded ‘additional 
priority preference’ based on their urgent and exceptional housing need. 
 
Band B – Statutory housing need to move: These are applicants that are 
owed a statutory award of reasonable preference under the policy and have 
been awarded Band B priority based on their statutory housing need. It also 
includes certain key workers granted B priority. 
 
Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need band 
awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria 
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed in 
band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above applicants 
from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.  
 
The CCP wish, over time, to increase the Options available to applicants in all 3 
Bands including Band C. We aim to use technology to send direct texts and 
emails to inform applicants of available housing options and this may include 
information on:    
 
1) Social rented low demand properties available now in any area of Cumbria  
2) Older person housing opportunities  
3) Affordable homes with specific rural local connection criteria or section 106 

agreement 
4) Affordable rent 
5) Rent to buy 
6) Shared ownership/equity 
7) Discounted market sale / starter homes 
8) Market rented  
9) Help to buy opportunities. 
 
The reasonable preference criteria and the Band allocated for that housing 
need criteria 
 
 

Band A: Additional preference for certain homelessness duties 
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options 
Team) 

 

This banding applies where a Cumbrian Council have accepted: 

 

1) The Section 193(2) main homelessness duty or the Section 193C(4) 
‘reduced’ Section 193 duty, or  

2) A section 189B (2) Relief duty and the applicant is, at the point of that 189B 
duty being accepted, considered likely to be in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless, whether a decision to that effect has been made 
or not, and the applicant is in temporary accommodation provided by the 
Council to meet a section 188 interim accommodation duty. 

 

In these circumstances where an applicant is homeless and in temporary 
accommodation and owed a Section 189B(2) relief duty, or 193(2) main duty 
or a section 193C(4) reduced main duty the Council will need to move 
applicants out of temporary accommodation to manage the budgetary or legal 

Page  129



 36 

impact on the Council. The applicant may still bid for properties advertised but 
due to the budgetary pressures faced by the Council and the need to maintain 
a supply of available temporary accommodation for new cases presenting as 
homeless, the Council is likely to make a direct offer of suitable 
accommodation into the private rented sector or social housing regardless of 
the preferences expressed by the applicant.  

 

Band A: Additional preference for medical or disability (See appendix 1.8 
for full details of the medical need assessment process) 

 

Where an applicant (or a member of their household) is unable to continue to 
occupy their current accommodation due to high medical need or disability. 
Examples of when Band A may be awarded include: 

 

Applicants ready to be discharged from hospital who: have somewhere to live 
but their accommodation is unsuitable due to their medical needs and cannot 
be made suitable through adaptations because of cost effectiveness or 
structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a reasonable 
amount of time. 

 

Applicants who have urgent need to move due to them having medical 
problems or disabilities that are being exacerbated by their current housing 
situation. This includes applicants: 

a) Whose life is at risk due to their current housing conditions or who are 
housebound, effectively housebound or cannot access the essential 
facilities in their home and there are critical concerns about their safety, for 
example through falls due to difficulties with access. 

b) Whose condition is terminal and rehousing is required to provide a basis 
for the provision of suitable care 

c) Whose condition is life threatening and their existing accommodation is a 
major contributory factor 

d) Whose health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is likely 
to become life threatening for example, where an applicant has significant 
mental health problems which are exacerbated by their accommodation 

e) With disabilities, who have restricted mobility and are limited by their 
accommodation such that they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities 
or have difficulties accessing facilities inside and outside of their 
accommodation and require rehousing into accommodation suitable for 
their use. 

f) In overcrowded accommodation which puts the applicant at risk of 
infection, for example, where an applicant is suffering from late-stage or 
advanced HIV infection 

 

Band A: Additional preference where there is a need to move on welfare 
grounds due to exceptional impact on the applicant or a member of their 
households well being  

 

Not every circumstance that may present can be captured by the policy so 
below are examples of welfare ground cases that will be considered. The list 
is not exhaustive:  

 

Page  130



 37 

a) Suffering extreme violence, harassment or discrimination, whether a 
hate crime or otherwise, and that it is not safe for them to remain in their 
present home/locality.  

 

b) Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse threats from an 
ex partner or family member they do not live with, extreme threats of 
violence, extreme harassment, or other extreme circumstances 
deemed to significantly affect a household’s welfare and wellbeing.  

 

c) Exceptional circumstances due to significant problems associated with 
the tenant’s occupation of a dwelling in the social or private rented 
sector and there is high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety if they 
remain in the dwelling/area.  

 

d) For applications in circumstances where there is a serious threat to the 
well being of a child and their accommodation is a major contributory 
factor to that risk. This will be in circumstances where the relevant 
manager in Children’s Services or equivalent assesses the level of risk 
exposure in relation to the child or children remaining in the current 
property as being so critical that no other reasonable options in relation 
to accommodation are available to protect the child. 

 

Band A: Additional preference Armed Forces  

 

Applicants with urgent housing who: 

a) Is serving (and will soon leave) the regular forces and is suffering from 
serious injury, illness, mental ill health, or disability which is attributable to 
the person’s service 

b) Has recently ceased, or will ceased to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the MOD following the death of that person’s 
spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces and whose 
death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service or 

c) Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
the persons service 

 

Band A: Additional preference for unfit or unsatisfactory housing  

 

There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:  

 

1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:  

No access to: 

a) A bath or shower 

b) A toilet 

c) Cooking facilities 

d) Running hot water supplies 

e) Electric/gas needed for essential activities 

Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and toilet 
will not qualify under these criteria.  

 

2: Exceptional impact cases. 

Page  131



 38 

Applicants who currently occupy a private sector property which has at least 
one Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and where a Prohibition Order has been 
served or is intended to be served under the Housing Act 2004 and the effect 
of the Prohibition Order is likely to mean that the applicant(s) will lose the use 
of their home on a permanent basis. The relevant conditions at the property 
must be life-threatening or present an immediate threat of serious injury to the 
occupant(s) 

 

This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects 
including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which 
are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being 
remedied within a period considered to be reasonable by the Council and the 
household are not able to afford to resolve their own housing problem by 
moving to alternative private sector accommodation. 

 

Note - this does not include Council or Housing Association homes as there is 
a legal requirement on social landlords to urgently remedy defects that pose 
a risk to their tenants  

 

3: Demolition or Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) cases.  

Where the applicant’s property is subject to demolition or subject to a 
Compulsory Purchase Order for redevelopment 

 

Band A: Additional preference for severe overcrowding as defined as 2 
bedrooms or more overcrowded Note: the measurement of overcrowding is 
based on the "bedroom standard" (with some exceptions adopted see below). 
This is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's allocation of 
accommodation guidance.  

 

Where an applicant household is severely overcrowded defined as requiring 
2 or more additional bedrooms to reach the bedroom standard. In calculating 
the overcrowding the following circumstances will be disregarded unless there 
are exceptional circumstances:  

 

 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation 

 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 
2 bedroom plus level of overcrowding 

 Where the household contains non-dependent adults as there is more 
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing  

 The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms 
in deciding whether the 2 bedroom plus priority will be awarded  

 

Band A: Additional preference for applicants nominated by Cumbria 
Adult Social Services/Children’s Services in the following 
circumstances:  

 

 Where there is an essential need to move due to child protection issues 

 Fostering carers for Cumbria County Council where there is a need to 
move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this 
would not apply where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more) 

Page  132



 39 

 Adoption arrangements where there is a need to move to a larger home in 
order to accommodate a looked after child (this would not apply where the 
home required would be 4 bedrooms or more) 

 Applicants owed a duty by Adult Social Services under the Care Act 2014 
/ Mental Health Act 1983/2007 who have been assessed by the housing 
team as being ready to move onto independent living and have an 
appropriate support package in place  

 

Band A: Additional preference for Cumbria County Council Care Leavers 
(Former Relevant children) as defined by the Children (Leaving Care) Act 
2000 and need to move on 

 

Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children 
Leaving Care Act 2002 and be a young person at risk of homelessness. The 
evidence to support this award will be provided by the council’s leaving care 
service and will consist of confirmation that: 

a) All referrals by Children’s Services will be made following the provision of 
Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people  

b) The care leaver is ready to move to independent settled housing and is 
genuinely prepared for a move to independent living 

c) The care leaver possesses the life skills to manage a tenancy including 
managing a rent account. 

d) The care leaver has either long term or medium term tenancy support 
arranged, as required. 

e) Ongoing support needs have been assessed and, where appropriate, a 
support plan is in place and 

f) The CCP’s assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of 
their vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, 
through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well-being 

 

Note: Care leavers will be awarded Band A on proof of their status. If an 
application for housing is made before it has been determined by the CCP 
assessing officer that the individual is ready for independent living, taking into 
account information from the applicant’s support worker and other agencies, 
the application will not have any bid considered until the support worker 
presents the evidence to the CCP that the individual is ready to move on and 
the CCP agree with that evidence.  

 

Band A: Additional preference for applicants who are part of a multi-
agency public protection agreement (MAPPA). 

 

Band A would apply only where:  

a) On the recommendation of the MAPPA partnership the applicant requires 
and is suitable for independent housing and qualify for the Housing Register, 
and 

b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the 
circumstances of the MAPPA case accommodation in the private rented 
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on the 
multi agency planning for that individual  

 

Band A: Additional preference for certain MARAC assessed cases  

Page  133



 40 

 

Applicants fleeing domestic violence and abuse that have been assessed by 

MARAC (or any subsequent multi agency arrangement) as needing to move 
urgently for the safety and security of themselves and or any dependent 
children and are assessed as being in immediate danger, and 

a) The MARAC partnership has referred the case and provided evidence as 
to why the applicant requires social housing, and 

b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the 
circumstances of the MARAC case accommodation in the private rented 
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a substantial detrimental 
effect on individual or household 

 

Band B – Reasonable preference for certain homelessness duties owed 
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options 
Team) 

 

Any of the following statutory homeless duties owed by a Cumbrian Council:  

 

a) People where it has been verified that they are rough sleeping in a 
Cumbrian Council area regardless of whether they have made a homeless 
application  

b) Applicants owed the prevention of homelessness duty under Section 
195(2) by any Cumbria local authority  

c) Applicants owed the ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)  
(Note: applicants owed a relief duty and are likely to be in priority need, 
unintentionally homeless and are in temporary accommodation will be 
placed in Band A)  

d) Where the relief duty has been brought to an end and an applicant has 
been assessed at that point as not being in priority need  

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for insecure accommodation 
arrangements 

 

“A pregnant woman or applicant with a child or children who are sharing a 
home with family who are not part of their household and where:  

a) They have no ownership or tenancy rights and the arrangement is short 
term and very insecure and only available whilst the applicant is actively 
seeking an offer of social housing or alternative accommodation with friends 
or in the private rented sector, and 

b) They were owed a prevention of homelessness duty as they were assessed 
as likely to become homeless within 56 days, and that duty has ended 
because they have been allowed to remain at home whilst they bid for social 
housing with their Band B priority and it is likely that they can remain for at 
least 6 months to a year.  

c) The family member with the interest in the home has agreed to allow the 
applicant to remain for at least 6 months to a year. 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for medical or disability housing need 
(See appendix 1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment 
process) 

 

Page  134



 41 

Applicants who have need to move due to them having medical problems or 
disabilities where their housing conditions exacerbates a serious medical 
condition or disability but do not qualify for an award of Band A. This includes 
(the examples are to illustrate the level of housing need to be awarded Band 
B and is not an exhaustive list).   

 

a) The applicant’s current accommodation to a significant extent directly 
exacerbates an existing medical condition, is the direct cause of a medical 
condition or impacts on the ease of use of the facilities within their home 
for a disabled person.  

b) Applicants who have mobility issues and it has been assess need to move 
to ground floor or level access accommodation 

c) Applicants who have mobility issues and need to move to accommodation 
that has level access showering facilities 

d) Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that 
is directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to 
alternative accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition 

e) Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom (e.g. 
because they need an overnight carer or need to accommodate a 
substantial amount of medical equipment) 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference under the Government’s ‘Right to move’ 
regulations  

 

Existing social tenants of accommodation in England who the CCP have 
assessed as qualifying under the Government’s Right to Move regulations will 
be placed into Band B  

Allocation to those Applicants who qualify is limited to a maximum of 2% of all 
lettings. 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for ‘move on’ from supported housing 

 

Where the CCP assessing officer after considering evidence from the 
applicant’s support officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their 
vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, through its 
short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well being.  
 
Before the award is made, ongoing support needs will need to have been 
assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan put in place to increase the 
chances of the tenancy succeeding and the person must have been assessed 
as ready to move on from supported to independent housing.  

 

Band B: Reasonable preference where it is agreed there is a need to 
move on welfare or hardship ground:  

 

1) Applicants who need to move closer to a specialist organisation, 
agency or institution located in a specific area of Cumbria, where 
moving would prevent significant physical, psychological or financial 
hardship. (The assessment will include the availability and ability to use 
public transport)  

 

Page  135



 42 

2) Hardship on support grounds: Applicants that have demonstrable 
evidence that they provide or receive substantial and on-going support 
to or from relatives or friends and where moving would prevent 
significant physical, psychological or financial hardship. This award will 
only be considered where there are significant medical or welfare 
issues including grounds relating to disability. This award for applicants 
who give or require support from relatives or friends will only be 
considered where there is a severe disability or mental ill health, 
medical or welfare issue (relating to the applicant or their household or 
the relatives or friends) and there are reasons why this support cannot 
be made available through reliance on public transport or the persons 
own transport. (The assessment will include the availability and ability 
to use public transport). 

 

3) Employment Hardship - Priority will only be given in exceptional 
circumstances and applicants will need to show that they need to move 
to take up or continue an employment opportunity not available 
elsewhere.  They will only be considered where they do not live within 
a reasonable commuting distance and will be required to provide 
confirmation of employment details from the employer. Employment 
purposes are defined as: applicants including people needing to move 
from outside Cumbria and between Cumbrian Districts, taking up or 
continuing permanent employment for a minimum of 16 hours per 
week. Under this clause applicants will only be considered where they 
do not live within a reasonable commuting distance and will be required 
to provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. (The 
assessment will include the availability and ability to use public 
transport) 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for being overcrowded by 1 bedroom 
Note: the measurement of overcrowding is based on the "bedroom standard" 
(with some exceptions adopted see below). This is the non-statutory standard 
set out in the government's allocation of accommodation guidance. 

 

Applicant’s living in overcrowded conditions and whose housing 
circumstances have been assessed as being 1 bedroom short of what they 
need as measured by the bedroom standard.  

 

Or alternative wording 

Where an applicant household is overcrowded by one bedroom as measured 
by the bedroom standard. In calculating the overcrowding the following 
circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional 
circumstances:  

 

 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation 

 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 
1 bedroom level of overcrowding 

 Where the household contain non-dependent adults as there is more 
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing  

The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in 
deciding whether the 1 bedroom priority will be awarded 

 

Page  136



 43 

Band B: Reasonable preference for unsatisfactory housing conditions 
or issues of property fitness  

 

Private sector tenants that the relevant Council has determined that the 
property poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety fitness rating 
and the CCP assessing officer is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved 
by the landlord within 6 months and as a result continuing to occupy the 
accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the applicant’s health. This 
includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects including 
subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions which are a 
statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied 
within a 6 month time period, and the household are not able to resolve their 
own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector accommodation 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for under-occupation  

 

Applicants who have a social housing tenancy with a Cumbrian CCP Partner 
and are under-occupying social rented accommodation by two or more 
bedrooms. The exception to the 2 or more bedroom under occupation rule will 
be: 
a) Where a tenant occupies a house that they are under occupying by 1 

bedroom and a move to a flat would free up that house 
b) Where it is agreed that under-occupancy by 1 bedroom will cause 

significant financial hardship for tenants. This is where there is clear 
evidence that tenants on lower incomes are forced to spend significant 
percentages of their incomes on servicing 1 bedroom under-occupancy 
deductions  

 

Band B: Local preference for recent ex armed forces applicants  

 

Members of the Armed Forces persons who are serving in the regular forces 
who will be discharged within three months and have served for five years 
preceding their application for an allocation of housing accommodation as long 
as this has not been a dishonorable discharge.  

 

Band B: Local preference for identified ‘Key Workers’  

The following key workers whose total gross household income from all 
sources does not exceed an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single 
persons) or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples). 

1) National Health Service Staff and Social Care staff 

2) Community Support Officers  

3) Members of the Territorial Army  

4) Volunteer Fire Officers  

 

Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need 
band awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria 
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed 
in band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above applicants 
from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.  
 

Page  137



 44 

Band C will include applicants who have been assessed as being intentionally 
homeless by any Council and since that award has not had settled 
accommodation (defined by the CCP assessing officer)  
 

 
 

Note applicants who only want to register for a section 106 village or rural 
development and have no other statutory housing need will be allocated Band 
C.  
           
Advertising Properties 
 
All CCP Partners with social housing stock have agreed to advertise the majority 
of their properties through Cumbria Choice.  Properties will be advertised on a 
weekly basis on the website. 
 
Choice based lettings are about the applicants being given choice about where 
they want to live. Properties will be advertised and applicants will be able to 
indicate the properties for which they want to be considered by ‘bidding’.  Once 
the bidding process closes a shortlist will be compiled and the property allocated 
will be based on the banding priority of the applications and the time they have 
waited as long as they meet the criteria set out in the advertisement.  
 
If a bid is received from an applicant on Cumbria Choice who does not have a 
local connection with the Council area where the advertised property is located 
then the local connection criteria set out in ‘Section 2 Qualification rule 1’ will be 
used to produce the shortlist, unless the property is advertised with no 
preference for applicants with a local connection to the area where the property 
is located. For properties advertised under a local letting policy the criteria for 
that LLP will be used to produce a shortlist.  
 
So far as is possible the CCP will use the CBL letting process, banding priority 
system, and waiting time within the band to allocate accommodation.  However, 
there may be times when a direct letting will need to be made to a property using 
the criteria set out in ‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In these 
circumstances a property will not be advertised. The aim is that no more than 
15% of properties available to let should be allocated through a direct letting in 
order to preserve the integrity of the choice based letting process. However, in 
the circumstances of a national emergency such as the Covid-19 pandemic 
choice based lettings may be suspended, or a much higher percentage of 
lettings may be made directly.   
 
Further operational and procedural details are set out in appendix 1.7 covering:   
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 
 
Sheltered Housing 
 
Sheltered accommodation is included within the scheme.  It is generally for 
people of 60 years and older and offers independent living with the added 

Page  138



 45 

security and support of a warden service.  In certain circumstances it may be 
advertised for people aged below 60 years.  Property advertisements will clearly 
state the age requirements of applicants able to ‘bid’ for a property. 
 
Section 106 developments 
 
Under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 some developments are subject 
to Section 106 planning obligations which usually requires properties to be let to 
applicants with a local connection to stated Parishes.  Where this applies only 
those applicants meeting the requirements of the Section 106 agreement will be 
eligible for an offer of a property. 
 
Advert details will state when the letting of a property is governed by a Section 
106 agreement.   
 
Local Lettings Policies 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local 
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that 
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable 
communities. Appendix 3 gives full details for how local lettings policies will be 
assessed and applied.  
 
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed under 
this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
1) Age restrictions. 
2) Specific local lettings policies for a village or rural parish (see below) 
3) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.  
4) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
5) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of 

children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
6) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for 

example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future 
family growth. 

7) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households 
allocated to a scheme. 

8) Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.  
 
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (usually only applies 
to first lettings) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a 
Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new 
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will 
be followed.  
 
Specific Local Lettings Policies for Rural Villages and Parishes  
 
For some villages and rural parishes where there is a high demand for housing 
additional priority may be given to applicants who have a local connection to the 
particular village or rural parish.  Advert details will state where an applicant 
having a local connection to the specific village or rural parish may be given 

Page  139



 46 

priority.  Those villages and rural parishes subject to a local lettings policy will 
be identified for each Cumbria Council. For some villages or rural parishes the 
definition of local connection may be based on locally agreed criteria through the 
Parish Council and will not necessarily be the definition set out below. In these 
circumstances the property advert will fully set out the local connection criteria.  
 
  

Page  140



 47 

 

 

Section 5      Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance and 
detail for how the Policy will be applied.  
 
Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy  
 
a) Introductory or probationary tenancies – Where an introductory/probationary 

tenancy becomes a secure or assured tenancy 
 
b) Family Intervention Tenancies – Introduced by the Housing and 

Regeneration Act 2008, Family Intervention Tenancies are a form of 
residential tenancy without security of tenure. They may be offered by either 
a local housing authority or a housing association to anyone who is a tenant 
of a secure (or assured) tenancy subject to a possession order on the 
grounds of anti-social behaviour or domestic abuse or anyone who (if they 
had a secure or assured tenancy) could have had such a possession order 
made against them. 

 
c) Succession under S89 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies), under 

S133 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (introductory tenancies) or under S90 of 
the Housing Act 1985 (fixed term tenancies). 

 
d) Non-Secure tenancies or ‘temporary accommodation’ – Any accommodation 

that is provided to meet an interim duty under Part VII of the Housing Act 
1996. 

 
e) Temporary decants – Secure or introductory tenants of a local authority or 

assured or assured shorthold tenants of Registered Providers who need to 
be moved temporarily whilst major work is carried out on their home. 

 
f) Demoted tenancies - Following a successful application for a demotion order 

under sections 14 and 15 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
 
g) Mutual exchanges between existing tenants under S92 of the Housing Act 

1985 or under S158 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
h) Assignment to a person who would be qualified to succeed the tenant under 

S92 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies) or S134 Housing Act 1996 
(introductory tenancies). 

 
i) Conversion of an introductory tenancy to a secure tenancy under S125 

Housing Act 1996). 
 
j) Transfers of secure or introductory tenancies by a court order made under 

certain provisions contained within matrimonial, family, children and 
partnership legislation.  

 
k) Allocation to a person entitled to rehousing under section 39 of the Land 

Compensation Act 1973.  

Page  141



 48 

 
l) Allocation to a person whose home is repurchased under sections 554 or 

555 of the Housing Act 1985 (defective dwellings). 
 
m) The Allocation Scheme does not apply to an allocation to anyone who is 

already a secure or introductory tenant or an assured tenant of a private 
registered provider of social housing or registered social landlord unless the 
person has applied to the CCP for a transfer and the CCP is satisfied that 
the person is to be granted reasonable preference under one of the 
reasonable preference categories in S166A (3) of the Housing Act 1996 

  
  

Page  142



 49 

 
Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply: 
 
4) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
5) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
6) An applicant’s right to information   
 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
 
A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) will be undertaken for any 
proposed changes to the policy or procedures where those changes are likely to 
result in a high risk to individuals’ interests in order to comply with the 
requirements of General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) 
and Data Protection Act 2018. 
 
Personal information will only be used in ways that the applicant reasonably 
expects in order to process their application. This will include the sharing of 
information with the Housing Association Partners to this scheme or any other 
Housing Association that is not a member of the scheme.   
 
Where it is necessary for personal information to be shared with third parties, it 
will be transferred in a secure way to ensure it is not compromised or accessed 
by anyone who is not entitled to it. 
 
On a case by case basis, where the law requires or permits, and the disclosure 
is necessary and proportionate, information about an applicant may be shared 
in the absence of consent without breaching data protection, human rights or the 
common law obligation of confidence. 
 
Usually this will involve striking a balance between the rights of the applicant and 
other legitimate interests, which may justify the information sharing. An 
obligation of confidentiality/privacy may be set aside where the interference is in 
accordance with the law, necessary and proportionate to the legitimate aim 
being pursued to meet one or more of the following interests: 
 
a) National security 
b) Public safety 
c) The detection or prevention of disorder or crime 
d) Protection of health or morals 
e) The protection of the rights or freedoms of others (e.g. safeguarding public 

funds, protecting those at work) 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
All CCP Partners have a responsibility to protect public funds. For Local 
authorities this is a legal duty. The CCP partnership may obtain and share 
information about the applicant to: 
 

 Prevent or detect crime or fraud 

 Protect public funds 

 To make sure information is correct 
 

Page  143



 50 

Third parties include government departments, other Councils, private sector 
companies, including companies that assist us in fraud detection and prevention, 
such as ‘Credit Reference Agencies’.  Information may also be obtained from 
social media.   
 
Any use of personal data will be in full accordance with ‘The Data Protection Act 
2018’, which incorporates the implementation of the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR). A full copy of each CCP Privacy Notice is available on 
request via emailing Cumbria Choice @add cumbria choice general query email 
address  
 
Right to information 
 
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 makes it a requirement for every public 
authority to produce a ‘Publication Scheme’ which sets out all the information it 
makes available to the public, and whether copies of that information are 
available free of charge. The ‘Publication Scheme’ includes information that a 
Council is legally obliged to publish. The Scheme is also intended to assist in 
developing a culture in which openness and transparency is encouraged as per 
the requirements of the Local Government Act 2000.  
  

Page  144



 51 

Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false information 
will be assessed 
 
Section 171(1) of the Housing Act 1996 makes it an offence for anyone, in 
connection with the exercise by a local housing authority of their functions under 
Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 (and therefore in seeking an allocation of 
accommodation) to:  
 
a) Knowingly or recklessly make a materially false statement or  
 
b) Knowingly withhold information that the CCP has reasonably required 

him/her to give in connection with the exercise of those functions.  
 
c) A person guilty of this offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine at the 

date of this scheme document of up to £5,000.  
 
The circumstances in which an offence is committed could include:  
 
d) Any false information given on an application form for 

housing/accommodation (including transfer applications); 
 
e) Any false information given in response to subsequent correspondence; 
 
In addition making a fraudulent application for housing may constitute an offence 
under the Theft Act 1968 and/or the Fraud Act 2006. 
 
Determination of deliberate intent 
 
In many cases, applicants will have provided incorrect or inadequate information 
on their application form, but the assessment concludes that there was no 
deliberate intention.  

 
It will be for the assessing officer in the first instance to decide if any errors 
contained in an application were deliberately made or not. If the officer is 
satisfied that the errors were not deliberate, or that it had no impact on the 
application, then no action will be taken though the applicant may be warned 
about the need to provide accurate information and the consequences for not 
doing so.   

 
However, if the assessing officer has concerns, these will be discussed with their 
Manager who will decide if they:  

 
1) Are satisfied that there is insufficient evidence to disqualify the application on 

these grounds;  
 
2) Requires more information to be gathered before a decision can be made;  
 
3) Are satisfied that the applicant has provided fraudulent information, or 

withheld important information.  
 
The Manager will notify the CCP Board and, in serious cases the Police, in all 
cases where serious or systematic fraud is suspected.  

Page  145



 52 

 
If the decision is that applicant has given false information or withheld 
information they will not qualify for the register, or where information emerges 
after they have been placed on the register, they will be disqualified. In these 
circumstances a letter will be sent to the applicant to notify them of the decision 
and they will have a right to seek a review of that decision. 
 
  

Page  146



 53 

Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the consideration of 
exceptional circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt 
Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary Agreement 
(IVA)’  
 
Note: it is the responsibility of the applicant to make the case as to why their 
circumstances are exceptional. Once a request has been made for exceptional 
circumstances to be applied the assessing officer will consider that request 
under the statutory review procedure. Each request to be considered an 
exemption will be assessed on the facts presented. The CCP will also consider 
cases where it has assessed that a tenant accrued rent arrears due to the 
bedroom tax resulting in the tenant being unable to pay the full rent, or through 
having a reduced income as a result of a National Emergency for example the 
Covid19 emergency.  
 
Note 1: This qualification rule also applies to applicants currently on the register. 
An applicant’s eligibility to remain on the register will be kept under review. An 
applicant may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to remain on the register but 
not be allowed to bid) at anytime should the CCP become satisfied that there is 
new evidence, or a change of circumstances, that mean the rule relating to 
former rent arrears or a housing related debt should be applied to their case. 
 
Note 2: For applicants who have had their rent arrears included in a ‘Debt Relief 
Order’, bankruptcy declaration or individual voluntary agreement (IVA) a period 
of at least 12 months has to pass from the declaration of insolvency to the point 
a debt is cleared. Should an applicant maintain their finances for this period, this 
will be considered as strong evidence that their previous problem has been 
resolved. Should an applicant fail to maintain their finances during this period, 
any new social housing debt can be taken into account as normal. Therefore, 
we see no benefit of taking into account such debts at a later point.  
 
  

Page  147



 54 

Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the 
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour  
 
Specific examples of serious unacceptable behavior are:  
 
a) Being subject to a court order (including an interim order) for breach of 

tenancy conditions  
 
b) Conviction for illegal or immoral use of their current or former home  
 
c) Causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors  
 
d) Committing criminal offences in or near the home and still posing a threat to 

neighbours or the community  
 
e) Being violent towards a partner or members of the family  
 
f) Allowing the condition of the property to deteriorate  
 
g) Paying money illegally to obtain a tenancy for example a corrupt payment  
 
h) Unlawfully subletting their tenancy 
 
i) Applicants that have been convicted of housing or welfare benefit related 

fraud, where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation Offenders 
Act 1974.  

 
j) Having unspent convictions where the assessment concludes that the 

applicant is unsuitable to be a tenant due to a significant risk to potential 
neighbours and/or communities. 

 
k) An applicant or any member of their household has been responsible for any 

racial harassment or other hate crime. Racial harassment and Hate Crimes 
is defined as racist, religiously aggravated, faith, gender, age, disability, and 
trans phobic or homophobic or gender re-assignment harassment or hate 
crime. A hate crime or racist incident is defined as any incident which is 
perceived to be racist or hate crime related by the complainant or any other 
person.  

 
Note: This rule also applies to applicants currently on the register. An applicant’s 
eligibility to remain on the Housing Register will be kept under review during their 
time on the register. An applicant may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to 
remain on the register but not be allowed to bid until the behaviour is resolved) 
at anytime during the process should the CCP become satisfied that the rule 
relating to unacceptable behaviour should be applied to their case.  
 
Any new application will normally only be reconsidered at the request of the 
applicant, and as a guideline the CCP will consider whether there has been no 
reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members of 
their prospective household) for a period of 12 months. 
 

Page  148



 55 

Note:  Where an applicant has resolved their behaviour to the satisfaction of the 
CCP it may still be the case that a CCP Housing Association Partner where the 
behaviour occurred might decide they do not want to consider rehousing their 
former tenant. However, this will not prevent an applicant from being considered 
for housing by another Housing Association.  
 
The assessing officer will be guided by the following considerations:  
 
1) The behaviour need not have led to possession, prosecution or other 

enforcement action by a statutory agency, provided that, on the balance of 
probability, the household is responsible 

 
2) In normal circumstances the behaviour concerned should have occurred 

within the last two years. In cases of a more serious nature, for example, 
those involving criminal prosecution, a longer time-scale may be appropriate. 

 
3) There must be reasonable grounds for believing that the behaviour could 

continue or be repeated. For example, the applicant may have issued 
threats, or there might be a history of repeat offending. 

 
The assessing officer will specifically consider:  
 
a) The seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour  
b) The duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents  
c) The length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place 
d) Any facts that indicate that there has been no further cause for concern in 

the last 6 to 12 months  
e) Any relevant vulnerability or support needs that may explain the behaviour 
f) Whether there is meaningful engagement with support agencies  
g) Critically, whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the 

applicant’s behavior, and 
h) Whether they believe on the evidence that the behavior is likely to still reoccur 

now or at the point a tenancy was offered or commenced 
 
Applicants to whom the rule is applied will be written to and informed that: 
a) That the unacceptable behavior rule has been applied to their case and either 

they do not qualify, or that they qualify but cannot bid until the behavior has 
been resolved  

b) What they must do to resolve the problem  
c) That for either decision i.e. disqualification or qualification but not allowed to 

bid, it is the applicant’s responsibility to notify the CCP when they have, in 
their view, resolved the issue and that they will need to present evidence to 
back up their view. 

d) Where an applicant is disqualified for unacceptable behaviour they will have 
a right to ask for a review of the decision made to disqualify them.   
 

Note where an applicant is disqualified, any new application will normally only 
be reconsidered at the request of the applicant and only where there has been 
no reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members 
of their prospective household) for a continuous period of 12 months.   
  

Page  149



 56 

Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered  
 

1. How a request for a review will be dealt with    
 
2. A review must be requested within twenty-eight days of the date of the letter 

advising the applicant of the decision on their application. The CCP has 
discretion to extend this time limit, or consider a request made out of time, if 
it considers this would be reasonable.  Any request for a review out of time 
should therefore state why the applicant considers that the 28-day time limit 
should be extended. 

 
3. The request for review should be made by email or letter to a Cumbria Choice 

Review Requests email account or PO Box address.  
 
4. As a first stage the Housing Association or Partner who has assessed the 

applicants case will consider the applicants concerns and provide a response 
to the applicant. If the applicant is still unhappy their concerns will then be 
treated under the formal review procedure set out below.  

 
5. Once the informal consideration process has been completed and after 

receiving a response the applicant has indicated in writing or verbally that 
they wish the review to proceed the relevant Cumbrian Council’s Housing 
Options Service covering the area where the applicant has applied will 
conduct the review or may delegate this task to the CCP Partnership 
Manager to undertake the review on behalf of the relevant Council. Please 
note these reviews do not form part of the separate homelessness review 
process contained within section 202 of the 1996 Housing Act and they will 
not be subject to an appeal process pursuant to section 204 of the Housing 
Act 1996. 

 
6. The applicant, or their representative, must give reasons why they wish to 

have the decision reviewed so that the CCP can ensure that the request falls 
under the statutory review request criteria.  

 
7. Upon receipt of a request for a review the CCP will send an 

acknowledgement letter explaining the review process and procedure to be 
followed. 
 

8. The officer undertaking the review will not normally have been involved in an 
original decision.  

 
9. An applicant may be asked to attend an interview and, if so, can be 

accompanied by an advisor or friend. 
 
10. Where is appears that the applicant needs an interpreter this can be 

arranged.  
 
11. The review will be carried out and the decision and the reasons for it will be 

given to the applicant in writing within 56 days of the request being received. 
There is no right to request a review of this review decision.  

 
 

Page  150



 57 

Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:  
  
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 
 
Advertising properties 
 
It should be noted that in certain circumstances a participating Housing 
Association might apply their own rules regarding the allocation of 
accommodation, for example an association may wish to apply its own test of 
affordability. The aim of all CCP partners is to keep these individual association 
rules to a minimum. Where there are rules set by an individual Housing 
Association that differ from the common policy, the intention is to set these out 
in a link to the on-line policy.   
 
Properties will be advertised in an easy to read format.  They will usually include 
a picture of the property or scheme in which it is located.  Property adverts will 
include details of the property and will indicate suitable household size as well 
as giving information about the local area. The properties will clearly indicate 
which housing organisation is the Landlord. 
 
Properties may be advertised during the 4-week notice period given by an 
outgoing tenant.  If the notice is subsequently withdrawn by the tenant, the 
property will unfortunately be unavailable to let.  
 
Direct offers will be made in accordance with the criteria set out in section 1 plus 
lettings to extra care housing and some sheltered schemes. Otherwise all 
categories of properties will be advertised.  General needs properties; properties 
that have been adapted for those with disabilities; properties that are specifically 
for the elderly and which may have a warden and/or an emergency call system.  
Adverts will clearly indicate any restrictions on bidding (e.g. where properties 
have been adapted and/or are specifically for people with disabilities) and will 
detail any particular criteria that apply (e.g. where full occupancy is required, 
affordability criteria etc.)   
 
Bids from applicants will only be accepted if they meet all of the eligibility criteria 
for the property. However if their situation is changing imminently, once evidence 
has been provided, they will also be accepted.  
 
The bidding and selection process  

 
Properties are advertised on a weekly cycle.  Applicants may express an interest 
through bidding on any advertised property that meets their needs.  For 
applicants in bands A or B they are able to place up to 3 bids each week. For 
applicants in band C they are able to place unlimited bids in order to improve 
their prospects of obtaining an offer of a lower demand property in the 
circumstances where there may be several lower demand properties advertised 
in that cycle.  
 

Page  151



 58 

Bids can be made in a number of ways: on the website using the username and 
password; by telephoning or visiting the office of a partner organisation; by mail; 
by proxy bidding. 
 
Applicants are able to check their position on the list at the time of the bid, 
together with the total number of bids already placed.  This allows applicants to 
make decisions about their choice of property and the likelihood of being 
successful.  Within the bidding period, applicants may withdraw bids and make 
further bids. 
 
Only the applicant whose bid is successful will be contacted unless they refuse 
the offer made or are ineligible to be offered the property.  

 
So far as is possible the CCP will use the banding system, and waiting time 
within the band to allocate accommodation.  However, there may be times when 
a direct letting will need to be made to a property using the criteria set out in 
‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In these circumstances a property will 
not be advertised. The aim is that no more than 15% of properties available to 
let should be allocated through a direct letting in order to preserve the integrity 
of the choice based letting process. However, in the circumstances of a national 
emergency such as the Covid-19 pandemic choice based lettings may be 
suspended, or a much higher percentage of lettings may be made directly.   
 
The highest bidder is awarded priority in descending order between Band A, 
Band B, and Band C.   
 
Within bands, priority is awarded according to the registration date. However, 
there may be other reasons why it would be necessary or advisable to reject a 
bid that would otherwise have been successful: for example where there was 
restrictive labelling for the property advertised or where the property would not 
be suitable for that particular applicant. In the circumstances where the landlord 
who has advertised the property has decided that it would not be suitable, 
despite the applicant meeting the bidding criteria, there should be a discussion 
with the local authority’s Housing Options Team before the bid is rejected.   
 
Unless a property is advertised with restrictions, applicants who are members of 
the scheme can bid for any property in Cumbria regardless of where they live in 
Cumbria. However, when drawing up the shortlist applicants will be ranked first 
by local connection to the Council area where the property is advertised (using 
the local connection criteria set out in Qualification rule 1 Section 2 of the Policy) 
then by band and date order. There are 3 examples set out below. The exception 
to this rule will be where a bid is made by a victim of domestic abuse where it 
has been assessed and agreed that they cannot remain in the local authority 
area where they are at risk.   
 
Example 1 - Applicant X has a local connection to Eden and this is the area 
where the advertised vacant property is located.  Applicant X is in Band B. An 
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant Y) bids for the property and is in Band A 
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant X will be shortlisted above 
applicant Y as they have a local connection with the area where the property is 
located.  
 

Page  152



 59 

Example 2 - Applicant T has a local connection to Eden and this is the area 
where the advertised vacant property is located.  Applicant T is in Band C. An 
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant U) bids for the property and is in Band B 
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant T will be shortlisted above 
applicant U as they have a local connection with the area where the property is 
located.  
 
Example 3 – Applicant C is from Carlisle and has been assessed as being at 
risk in Carlisle due to fleeing domestic abuse. She is staying temporarily with 
friends outside of Carlisle. Applicant C has no local connection to Eden and this 
is the area where the advertised vacant property is located. Applicant C is in 
Band B with an effective date of 1/3/20. She bids for an advertised property in 
Eden. Applicant D is from Eden and is also in Band B with an effective date of 
the 1/4/20 and bids for the same property. This case would be the exception to 
the rule that priority would always be given to the applicant with a local 
connection to the local authority where the property is located. Applicant C would 
be the successful bidder based on her band and effective date.   
 
In the circumstances where there are two households with the same Band and 
registration date that bid for a property a decision to offer the property will be 
based on the household who is assessed as being most suitable for that 
property. 
 
Where the property advert has indicated specific requirements such as age or 
accessibility, only those applicants meeting those requirements will be eligible 
for an offer. 

Offers of accommodation  
 
This section sets out the procedure that will apply to making an offer of 
accommodation once an applicant has been selected from a shortlist of 
successful applicants bidding for that property.  
 
Once selected and, prior to an offer being made, the Council or Housing 
Association landlord for that property will carry out a further verification of their 
eligibility and priority.  In certain situations the offer will not be made, or if made 
may be withdrawn if: 
 
 Since joining the scheme an applicant has become ineligible. 
 
 On verification of the applicants’ details, the priority band has been incorrectly 

awarded due to the information received by the applicant, or due to mistakes 
in the assessment of the application itself.  

 
 The applicants’ circumstances have changed since the priority band was 

awarded and the applicant is no longer entitled to the same level of priority. 
 
 The landlord has evidenced housing management reason not to offer the 

property.  
 
If an applicant does not reply to an invitation in writing, by letter or email or text, 
to view a property within 2 working days of receiving an offer then the offer will 

Page  153



 60 

be deemed to have been refused and the property will be offered to the next 
applicant on the shortlist who qualifies for that offer.   
 
A suitable and reasonable offer of accommodation is defined in appendix 4 of 
the policy. 

 
There may, unfortunately, be exceptional circumstances where following a 
viewing or notification of offer an offer may still be withdrawn. This can be done 
up to the point when a tenancy agreement is signed.  Examples of reasons when 
a property offer may be withdrawn are:  
 

 The property is not suitable for the households needs 

 The property fails to become available 

 There is an issue and concern for community safety 

 It comes to light that information has been withheld 

 It comes to light that that the household or member of the household has a 
property related debt 

 The offer has been made in error 

 The households circumstances changed 

 The property is required for an emergency  

 It transpires that the rent would not be affordable  
 
There must be clear grounds recorded by the Council or a Partner Housing 
Association on the IT operating system if a decision is taken to refuse or bypass 
an applicant who is top of any shortlist. Where an applicant has been refused or 
bypassed because they have failed a verification check or that their 
circumstances have changed they should be informed of the reason and how it 
now effects their application.  
 
For all other reasons for example, issues of public safety, risk, or sustainability 
of the tenancy, an applicant, upon request, will be informed of the reason behind 
the decision to refuse or bypass them.  
 
Feedback on Lettings 
 
A main aim of the Cumbria Choice scheme is to operate an open and transparent 
lettings system. 
 
The result of lettings made through the scheme will be published on the Cumbria 
Choice web site and at the end of the property advert newssheet. 
  

Page  154



 61 

Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority band 
A or B on the basis of medical priority  
 
The assessment: Awarding Medical Priority for significant Medical Conditions 
that are being made worse by an applicant’s housing circumstances  
 
The framework that will be applied to assess medical impact cases  
 
This appendix provides detailed operational guidance to help officers to make 
their decisions on whether medical or welfare impact priority should be awarded.  
 
Applicants will be asked for information and any supporting documentary 
evidence, regarding how their health or welfare are affected by their current 
home, or why the applicant’s health cannot be managed in their current 
accommodation. They will be asked to complete medical information questions 
set out in the on-line application form and may, depending on their answers, be 
asked to complete a follow up form to allow the assessing officer to obtain more 
information.  
 
On receipt, the assessing officer will consider whether any supplementary 
information is needed from any other relevant professional, who may be able to 
explain the impact the applicant’s current accommodation is having on their 
medical condition or disability.  
 
While this information is being provided, and pending the assessment of medical 
priority, applicants who qualify for the register and have another statutory 
housing need will be registered and placed in a band according to that need. 
Where no other housing need exists, the application will remain as pending until 
any medical priority is determined  
 
The assessing officer supported, where necessary, by a senior officer, will 
normally make a decision whether or not to award a priority based upon the 
information provided. They will use the guidance notes and assessment 
framework in this appendix to help them make a decision.  
 
If the assessing officer is of the view that it would be beneficial to obtain an 
opinion from an independent Medical Advisor, or Occupational Therapist they 
will make a referral. A Medical Advisor will not normally be asked to carry out a 
medical examination and their opinion will be based on the information provided 
by the applicant and any supporting information from a medical professional and 
any information submitted by any organization supporting the applicant.  
 
Applicants are not required to provide any supporting medical evidence in 
support of their application before an assessment is made although where this 
is available they should provide it in support of their case.  
 
Where the assessing officer believes that further medical information is required 
before they can make an assessment they may request it from a relevant 
medical professional dealing with the applicant.  
 

Page  155



 62 

It is important to note that the assessing officer is not making a medical opinion. 
The role of the officer is to consider evidence re the impact of an applicant’s 
current housing circumstances on any medical condition or disability.  
 
Medical priority will not normally be awarded in the following circumstances: 
a) Where the applicant has a health issue, however severe, that is not impacted 

by the accommodation occupied  
b) Health problems that are not affected by housing or cannot be improved by 

moving 
c) Where a move would only make a marginal improvement to the applicant’s 

condition 
d) Medical impacts caused by housing defects that are likely to be rectified in a 

reasonable time frame. 
e) Where another reasonable course of action is available to the applicant to 

resolve their difficulties.  
f) Time-related medical problems (e.g. pregnancy-related problems or a broken 

leg) 
g) Disrepair problems not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical 

condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority separately 
for living in unfit or unsatisfactory housing depending on the assessment 
made of their circumstances and impact). 

h) Overcrowding not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical 
condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority separately 
for being overcrowded).   

i) If the situation can be resolved by equipment or minor adaptations which can 
be implemented in a reasonable period of time. 

 
Applicants who require support to live independently with their medical condition 
will be placed in a priority band for their medical need but will be suspended from 
bidding until an appropriate package of support has been agreed. If no 
appropriate support package has been agreed the applicant will not be offered 
accommodation whilst a support plan/package is pursued.  
 
Each individual on the application with a health or welfare problem will be 
assessed. If there is more than 1 member of the household whose health and/or 
welfare is being affected by their housing, their application will be awarded the 
need relating to the severest problem. 
 
Where an applicant has been placed in bands A or B as a result of a medical 
need this may be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the award is still relevant.  
 
The review will determine whether the level of priority is still appropriate. The 
review may involve a phone-call to the applicant and/ or support agency, an 
email, or a home visit. 
 
Once the assessment has been completed the applicant will receive a letter or 
email advising them of the outcome, and if a priority band is awarded what that 
band is.  
 
Where an applicant already registered notifies a change of medical 
circumstances that are impacted by their current housing the applicant’s priority 
will be re-assessed using the same process.  

Page  156



 63 

 
This section below quotes examples of when Bands A or B could be awarded. 
These are just examples and an assessment will be made on the facts of the 
case. 
 
Band A: Covers urgent and immediate medical impact problem 
 
This top category band A will be reserved for exceptional cases where an 
applicant’s health is seriously at risk (including a risk to life) due to the associated 
medical and housing difficulties that are inherent in their existing 
accommodation. 
 
Band B: Covers serious medical impact problem 
 
A band B award also reflects urgent medical impact cases that have a clear 
relationship with the applicant’s existing housing circumstances.  
 
The detail for the operational guidance that used to assess medical cases  
 
1. The applicant will be asked to indicate on their on-line application form 

whether they or anyone in their household has an illness or disability that is 
affected by their current accommodation.   

2. If the information returned on the on-line form does not clearly address the 
impact of the applicant’s current housing on their condition, the assessing 
officer will contact the applicant to ask them specifically to describe how the 
current housing is impacting on the condition described (a standard 
letter/form will be used). 

3. The email/letter will explain that where supporting information from a health 
professional is available, the applicant should provide this information to 
support their application, but that we do not, as a matter of course, require 
an applicant to submit a medical report, or obtain letters from their GP before 
an assessment will be progressed. We do not wish to create further work or 
costs for doctors or applicants by insisting that medical reports are produced 
before an application can be considered. 

4. It is expected that the majority of cases can be assessed by the assessing 
officer by using this guidance and where necessary taking advice from a 
senior officer. Only where relevant and appropriate will advice from an 
independent medical advisor or OTT be sought.  

5. Depending on the seriousness of the circumstances claimed the case might 
be referred to an independent medical advisor or OTT to provide advice on 
the possible impact of any medical or disability condition to help address the 
impact of the applicant’s current accommodation on that condition.   

6. In the circumstances where the assessing officer believes there may be an 
urgent and immediate need, due to the severity of the impact of their current 
housing on an applicant’s disability, the case can (with a senior officer’s 
approval) be submitted to Cumbria County Council’s Occupational Therapy 
Team (OTT) for a more detailed assessment.  In order to do this the OTT 
may visit the home of the applicant and consider any supporting information 
and may recommend whether Band A or B priority should be awarded, based 
upon the severity of the case and the urgency of the need for re-housing. 

7. The OT may also make recommendations re the type of housing that the 
applicant may need.   

Page  157



 64 

8. Where priority is awarded applicants will only be considered for the type of 
accommodation assessed as being required. For example, if it is assessed 
that an applicant needs to move to a bungalow because due to their condition 
they need to use a wheelchair, they will only be considered for suitable 
properties that meet this need.  

9. There will be occasions when advice, or clarification, from a GP or hospital 
consultant may need to be sought. For example, where it is claimed that an 
applicant’s housing circumstances is severely affecting their mental health.  

10. Where the information indicates that the applicants condition is not so urgent 
and immediate that they are unable to live in their current home, or that there 
is insufficient evidence that the medical condition would be significantly 
improved by alternative housing no award of priority band A or B will be 
made.  

11. The following list sets out some of the circumstances that may qualify for an 
award of priority banding: 

a) An applicant’s inability to manage stairs, control temperature, etc. 
b) Where an applicant is confined to their existing accommodation due to the 

physical nature of that accommodation 
c) Where an applicant’s accommodation is having a significant or exceptional 

impact or is causing an applicant’s mental or physical health. 
d) An applicant’s restricted ability to fend for him/herself in the accommodation 

which may put them at significant risk due to the physical nature of the 
accommodation 

e) The need for adapted housing and/or extra facilities 
f) The need for sheltered or supported housing due to the impact of their current 

housing on a medical condition. 
g) The need for alternative housing as part of a care plan 
 
When assessing whether to award band A or B or no band, the assessing officer 
will follow the 5-stage process set out below:   
 
1. Is the medical/disability issue serious enough for a priority banding to be 
considered?  
2. If the medical condition is serious enough for a priority banding to be 
considered the assessing officer should then decide if there is a direct link 
between the identified medical problem and the applicant’s current housing 
accommodation/situation, i.e. on the facts obtained (from the applicant and any 
medical information or reports submitted including any advice from an 
independent medical advisor or OTT) is the officer accept that the applicant’s 
current housing accommodation/circumstances is making their medical 
condition substantially worse, or will make it worse.  
3. In practical terms the officer should consider the adverse effect this has on 
the applicant’s ability to manage day-to-day tasks in their current home. The 
applicant’s current housing accommodation/circumstances may be impacting on 
their medical condition or disability but not to the extent that an award of band A 
or band B priority should be granted under the criteria adopted for the policy. 
The examples listed for an award of band A or band B should be used to guide 
the officer when making their decision.   
4. Before making an award the assessing officer needs to be satisfied that there 
is a realistic expectation that the impact on the identified medical 
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved through the 
provision of alternative accommodation.  

Page  158



 65 

5. If the officer is satisfied that the impact on the identified medical 
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved they would then 
decide whether to award Band A or B depending on the severity of the impact 
and using the examples below to guide them.   
 
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band A 
should be awarded on medical or disability grounds  
 
These examples are intended to guide the assessing officer on the threshold set 
for a band A or band B priority award, or whether no award should be made. 
They will also serve to help an applicant understand the threshold for a priority 
award to be given.  
 
The following are examples of cases that may qualify for Band A award. It may 
apply to the applicant or a member of their household:  
 
1. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life-threatening medical 

condition and cannot be discharged from hospital because they do not have 
any accommodation, or their accommodation is unsuitable for example, 
because they cannot access toilet and/or bathing facilities in the property. 
This will include cases that cannot be discharged from hospital due to their 
accommodation being unsuitable.   

2. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life threatening medical 
condition and urgently need to move to accommodation with significant 
disabled adaptations, such as accommodation suitable for a wheelchair user.  

3. An immediate life threatening condition which is seriously affected by the 
current housing and where re-housing would make that condition significantly 
easier to manage  

4. A serious illness, where an applicant is receiving palliative care and urgently 
requires rehousing to facilitate the on-going provision of that care 

5. A life limiting condition and their current accommodation is affecting their 
ability to retain independence or enable adequate care 

6. The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it 
is likely to become life threatening, e.g. applicant has severe mental health 
problems that are significantly exacerbated by their accommodation; 

7. A new and life-changing condition that severely impairs their mobility, 
meaning they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities, or have difficulty 
accessing facilities inside and outside of their accommodation and require 
housing into suitable accommodation  

8. Where their current property leaves a person at risk of infection, e.g. where 
an applicant is suffering from late-stage or advanced AIDs 

9. Due to limited mobility a person is unable to access essential parts of the 
property e.g. bathroom/toilet.  

10. A member of the household is elderly or disabled or has a progressive illness 
and is likely to require admission to hospital or residential/nursing care in the 
immediate future and re-housing would enable the person to remain at home. 

11. Armed forces personnel who need to move to suitable adapted 
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability 
that he or she has sustained as a result of service. 

12. Veterans who have actively served in the armed forces and are suffering 
from severe post traumatic stress disorder or serious illness directly related 
to service in the forces 

Page  159



 66 

13. People who have a severe mental health or learning disability which 
significantly affects their ability to lead a normal life and which puts them at 
risk of admission to hospital or residential care. 

14. People living in a mobile home, caravan or converted vehicle which, due to 
medical conditions, the vehicle cannot meet their essential needs 

15. Where remaining in the current accommodation poses a significant risk of 
serious and permanent injury and/or permanent severe disability 

16. Where the applicant is prevented from having access to kidney dialysis, 
respiratory, or other similar essential equipment. This will normally apply 
where these circumstances are likely to prevent someone from remaining in 
their home for all or most of the time. Such a condition would be likely to be 
ongoing, rather than a temporary condition 

17. Someone with a medical or disability who’s housing has rendered them 
housebound  

18. Where a move would avoid the need for another service (e.g. Social 
Services) from having to provide a significant level of support. This might 
include for example residential care; overnight care provision, or other 
support with similar resource implications 

19. Where someone suffers with epilepsy or other conditions that cause frequent 
and unpredictable falls and all medical interventions to prevent them have 
been investigated. This will involve an assessment of the layout of their 
current accommodation, for example the number and nature of steps, stairs 
or other hazards that may increase the risk of serious injury 

20. Where it is impossible for the person to use essential facilities within the 
home and no adaptation is possible 

21. The applicant or household member requires significant disabled adaptations 
to meet their needs and this is not possible in their current accommodation 
or would not be cost effective.  

 
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band B 
should be awarded on medical or disability grounds  
 
1. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a 

move to ground floor or level access accommodation  
2. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a 

move to accommodation that has level access showering facilities  
3. Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that is 

directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to alternative 
accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition  

4. Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom for example, 
because they have been assessed as requiring an ‘overnight carer’, or they 
need more space to accommodate a substantial amount of medical 
equipment.  

5. Applicants whose housing is unsuitable for severe medical reasons, or due 
to a disability, but who are not housebound, or whose health, or safety is not 
at such a risk level to require immediate urgent housing may be awarded 
band B 

6. Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy where their 
long term needs cannot be met without long term settled accommodation. 

7. A person whose disability means that re-housing would help them to 
overcome physical barriers created by their current accommodation that they 
struggle with e.g. stairs and steps. 

Page  160



 67 

8. A person with a severe disability requiring some adaptations to their property 
that cannot be provided for in their current accommodation. 

9. Where an applicant can access their home, but struggles to access normal 
day-to-day facilities within it (e.g. bath/shower/toilet) without experiencing 
significant difficulty, pain or other discomfort. This would include cases where 
an adaptation is possible but cannot be undertaken in a reasonable period of 
time. (Note: any priority would be removed if an adaptation is completed, or 
work started) 

10. An applicant is suffering from a long-term mental illness that is being 
exacerbated by their accommodation. There will normally not only be GP 
involvement, but other specific mental health support already provided.  

11. Where an applicant is only not housebound due to significant support that is 
available to enable them to get out of their accommodation  

12. An applicant or member of their household with a terminal illness, or long 
term medical debilitating condition, whose current accommodation is not 
necessarily having a significant impact on their condition but where it is 
agreed by the council that their quality of life would be significantly improved 
by moving to alternative more suitable accommodation, or accommodation 
that is nearer to support that is essential for their well being. 

 
 
  

Page  161



 68 

Appendix 2 – Definition of Terms 
 
Accessibility – Used here the term refers to how ‘user friendly’ the service is to 
all people who may want to use it. 
 
Adapted Property – Property that is suitable for those with a physical disability 
i.e. where a stair lift has been fitted. 
 
Automatic Bidding – Within the ICT system a means of expressing an interest in 
a property for someone, without making the bid themselves.  
 
Banding Scheme – The method by which customers are prioritised for social 
housing (previously ‘points schemes’). 
 
Bidding – The term used to describe people who register an interest in a property 
(no money is involved in making the bid). 
 
Choice Based Lettings (CBL) – The system of letting property that gives 
customers choice in where they live through advertising property. 
 
Housing Register – One list for all of Cumbria of people applying for social 
housing (previously ‘housing waiting lists’). 
 
Applicants – Those people applying to the scheme for housing. 
 
Effective Date – The date used to decide between customers in the same Band 
to establish who has waited longest. 
 
Fully Occupied – Bedrooms in the property that are being fully used in terms of 
the household occupying the property in accordance with the table in Appendix 
6.  When they are not fully used the property could be considered under 
occupied.   
 
Hard to Let – Low demand property where it takes longer to find a tenant. 
 
Housing Options – A term used to describe a service that advises customers of 
all their choices and includes mutual exchanges, low cost home ownership and 
renting in the private sector. 
 
Letting Policy – The means by which it is decided how property will be offered to 
customers. 
 
Local Lettings – Policy made in local areas (to tackle specific, identified housing 
management issues) on how property will be offered that differs in some part 
from the overall scheme policy. 
 
Management Discretion – Property that is offered directly to an identified person 
without being advertised. 
 
Partnership – The name for the District Councils and housing associations that 
have funded, developed and continues to operate the scheme.  
 

Page  162



 69 

Proxy Bidding – a Local Authority or Registered Provider places bids on the 
customer’s behalf. 
 
Social Housing Providers – The term for a variety of housing organisations that 
provides not for profit housing and included local authorities, housing 
associations. 
 
 
  

Page  163



 70 

Appendix 3: How any local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local 
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that 
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable 
communities.  
 
They will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities (such as a 
particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, or may 
be applied to a parish or a village in a rural area). Each local lettings policy will 
be based on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered from a variety 
of sources and may include, for example, evidence from internal departments, 
partner Housing Associations, local Councillors, and the community itself. 
(Evidence may include information such as tenant profiling, the incidence of anti-
social behaviour, and stock turnover in a particular block, street or area, a 
neighbourhood plan or the need to provide housing for local people in rural 
villages and parishes, or evidence from the Local Housing Authority internal 
departments i.e. environmental health). 
 
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed under 
this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
1) Age restrictions. 
2) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.  
3) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
4) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of 

children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
5) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for 

example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future 
family growth. 

6) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households 
allocated to a scheme. 

7) Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.  
 
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (depending on the 
planning permission or agreement reached these may apply to first lettings only 
or be ongoing) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a 
Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new 
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will 
be followed.  
 
In order to ensure a reasonable mix of household sizes and types, and families 
with children of different ages, a local lettings policy will normally be used for 
new developments larger than four properties. The local authority may set 
restrictions on the number of lettings, which can be made to families with young 
children, for example, or the number of families who are not working. 
 
How will a local lettings policy be assessed and agreed? 
 

Page  164



 71 

The process for agreeing local letting policies may differ across the Cumbrian 
region. In some districts the decision is made by the Council and in other districts 
the decision is for the stock holding CCP partner in consultation with the Council.  
 
There must be a clear evidence base for adopting a local lettings policy. The 
following framework will be used to decide whether a local lettings policy is 
appropriate:   
 
1) That there is a clear definition of the objective to be achieved by that 

particular local lettings policy. 
2) That there is a clear evidence base to back up the need for a local lettings 

policy. 
3) That any potential equality impact has been considered.  
4) How long the local lettings policy is intended to operate. 
5) When the local lettings policy should be reviewed. 
  
A written record of each policy adopted or rejected should be kept.  
 
It is the intention that local lettings policies will be fluid with new policies being 
added as are required and existing policies being deleted once the objective for 
that policy has been met. Local lettings polices must be approved by the 
exceptions panel before they are applied.  
 
All local letting polices will be reported to the CCP Board who will discuss any 
polices where there is any dispute over the wish to apply a local letting policy.  
 
The intention is for all current local lettings policies to be listed as a link to the 
on-line version of this policy so the public can see which polices are in operation 
at any point in time. In addition any property advert will state whether there are 
any local lettings restrictions or criteria.  
  

Page  165



 72 

Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer  
 
A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type will normally be considered 
unreasonable. 
 
Guidance on reasonable and unreasonable refusals: 
 
1) Property size 
 
The property must be the appropriate size for the household's needs at the time 
of making the offer. Where the family composition has changed, so that the 
property offered is too small or large for the applicant's needs, the refusal will be 
recorded as reasonable. 

 
It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that they register any change in their 
circumstances that will affect the number of bedrooms to which they are entitled. 

 
Where the applicant refuses a property because it is too small on grounds of the 
need for an additional or larger bedroom(s) due to medical/mobility factors, but 
it meets the lettings standard, this will normally be considered to be an 
unreasonable refusal unless the applicant provides new medical information at 
the offer stage that is accepted by the CCP. 
 
2) Property type 
 
It will not be considered to be a reasonable refusal due to a dislike of the property 
type. Therefore an applicant cannot reasonably refuse an offer because for 
example, it is in a tower block, it does not have a garden or a particular heating 
system, it is on a wrong floor, or does not have a lift. If the applicant states 
medical grounds for refusing the property, these should already have been 
disclosed and considered as part of the assessment of their application, unless 
new information is submitted that is accepted by the CCP.   

 
Where specialist accommodation is offered to a household inappropriately, this 
is considered to be a reasonable refusal. This may be for example: 
 

a) Offers of wheelchair standard housing to households which do not have 
wheelchair users 

b) Offers made to disabled applicants which are unsuitable for their needs, 
for example where they are unable to open a door entry system because 
the doors are too heavy 

c) Offers of sheltered housing where the applicant is not of the appropriate 
age. 

 
3) Property condition 
 
Where a property is refused on grounds of repair/decoration, this will be 
considered an unreasonable refusal unless the voids team decides to withdraw 
the property from letting for further works to be carried out. 
 
 
 

Page  166



 73 

 
 
4) Area of choice 
 
Where the offer is not within one of the applicant's specified areas, the refusal 
will not be considered to be reasonable. It should also be noted that where an 
applicant is made a direct offer such as: where the applicant has been assessed 
as being statutory homeless and are owed a statutory homeless duty, area of 
choice will not apply. 
 
5) Racial harassment 
 
Where an applicant from a black or ethnic minority household refuses the 
property prior to viewing because the previous tenant was rehoused as a result 
of racial harassment, or there is a known problem of racial harassment in the 
vicinity of the property, the refusal is considered reasonable. 
 
6) Choice of landlord 
 
An applicant receiving a direct offer cannot choose whether they are rehoused 
by the Council or by a Housing Association or a specific Housing Association. 
Therefore, any refusal of Housing Association property because, for example, 
there is no Right to Buy, or Right to Acquire, or the rent is higher than another 
social landlord will not be considered to be reasonable (unless in the example of 
the rent level the assessment is that the offer is unaffordable for the applicant in 
question). 
 
7) Pets 
 
One of the conditions of the tenancy agreement is that a tenant must obtain the 
written consent of the landlord before keeping domestic pets.  

 
Any intention to keep a pet must comply with the Council’s or partner Housing 
Association’s tenancy terms and conditions, which means that permission must 
be sought and agreed prior to signing the tenancy agreement for the property. 
Therefore any refusal on the basis that permission has not been granted to keep 
a pet is not reasonable. 
 
  

Page  167



 74 

Appendix 5: Contact Details for all Partner Organisations 
 
Accent Housing Association 
Ambassador House 
Dalton Road 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 1HZ 
Tel: 0345 6780555 
 
Allerdale Borough Council                           
Allerdale House 
New Bridge Road 
Workington 
CA14 3YJ 
Tel: 03031 231702 
 
Barrow Housing Department 
Town Hall 
Duke Street 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 2LD 
Tel: 01229 876550  
 
Carlisle City Council 
Civic Centre 
Rickergate 
Carlisle 
CA3 8QG 
Tel: 01228 817200 
 
Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 
Tel: 01946 598300 
 
Eden District Council 
Mansion House 
Friar Gate 
Penrith 
CA11 7YG 
Tel: 01768 817817 
 
Eden Housing Association 
Blain House 
Bridge Lane 
Penrith 
CA11 8QU 
Tel: 01768 861400 
 
 

Page  168



 75 

Home Group 
PO Box 115 
Duke Street 
Whitehaven 
CA28 0BT 
Tel: 0345 1414663 
 
Impact Housing Association 
Nook Street 
Workington 
CA14 4EH 
Tel:  0344 8736290 
 
Riverside Housing Association 
English Gate Plaza 
Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RP 
Tel: 0345 111 0000 
 
South Lakeland District Council 
South Lakeland House 
Lowther Street 
Kendal 
LA9 4DQ 
Tel: 01539 733333 
 
South Lakes Housing 
Bridge Mills Business Centre 
Stramongate 
Kendal 
LA9 4BD 
Tel: 0300 303 8540 
 
Castles and Coasts Housing Association 
3 Castle Street 
Carlisle 
CA3 8SY 
Tel: 0800 0851171 
  

Page  169



 76 

Appendix 6 - Household Type and Property Size – This will need to be 
amended according to the overcrowding rules that the CCP want to adopt 
as discussed in overcrowding section of the section 4 banding table  
 
This table provides guidance on the size of home that different types of 
household can bid for on Cumbria Choice.  This is supplemented by the more 
detailed information which each housing provider places in individual 
advertisements and in guidance published on the Cumbria Choice website.  
 

Household Bedsit 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+bed 
 

Single person 
  

D D   

2 Adults 
(couple 
including 
same sex 
couples) 

  
D  D   

2 Adults (non 
couple) 

  
 * 

D   

Single  1 child   
 

D   

Single  2 child   
  

  

Single  3 
Child 

   
  

 

Single 4 or 
more children 

   
   

Couple 1 
child 

  
 

D   

Couple 2 
child 

  
  

  

Couple 3 
child 

   
  

 

Couple 4 or 
more children 

   
   

 
 
 
NB Households with access to children will not be able to include them 

as part of the household when looking at eligibility for property size.   
See section 2.1 Households with access to children/joint custody. 

 
 
  

Page  170



 77 

 
 
Key 
 
 

   Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type 
 

 Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type, subject to 
the ages of the children.   
Two children under the age of 10 are usually expected to share a 
bedroom.   
Two children of the same sex are usually expected to share a 
bedroom until they are 16.   
Once a child is 16 a separate bedroom is allowed. 

 
D Allowed by discretion only when stated in the advertisement.  

This is most likely to apply in one of the following circumstances: 

 There is low demand for the type of property in the location  

 There is lack of supply of smaller homes in the location  

 A local lettings or s106 policy applies 
 

* Some providers may only allow households with children to bid on 

houses   
 
 
  

Page  171



 78 

Appendix 7 - Right to Move Qualifying Criteria 
 
To meet the Allocation of Housing (qualification criteria for the Right to Move - 
England) Regulations 2015, a local connection may not be applied to existing 
social tenants seeking to transfer from another local authority district in England 
who: -  

 

 Have reasonable preference under Section 166(3)(e) because of a need to 
move to the Local Authority’s district to avoid hardship, and 

 Need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Need to move to take up an offer of work 
 
QUALIFYING CRITERIA 
 
This applies to existing social housing tenants: - 
 

 Who need to move within a Local Authority area or to another local authority 
area to avoid hardship, and 

 Who need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Who need to move to take up an offer of work? 
 
What the Local Authority should take into account: - 
 
Need to Move: 
 
Tenants must need to move, not simply want to move.  Factors to consider in 
determining `need` are: - 
 

 The distance and/or time taken to travel between home and work. 

 Availability and affordability of transport as against earnings. 

 Nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available nearer 
home. 

 Other personal factors, for instance medical conditions, child care 

 Length of work contract. 

 Would failure to move mean a lost opportunity to improve employment 
circumstances or prospects?   

 
Work: 
 
`Work` only qualifies as `work` if it is not: - 
 
Short term: 
 
- Consider whether the work is regular or intermittent (particularly relevant for 

the self-employed). 
- Consider the period of employment – a contract of less than 12 months could 

be considered short-term. 
 

Marginal: 
 
- Less than 16 hours per week could be considered marginal 
- Consider the level of earnings. 

Page  172



 79 

 
Voluntary: 
 
- Unpaid, or expenses only. 

 
Ancillary: 
 
- That is, if the person works occasionally in another local authority area, but 

main place of work is a different area, the work is excluded. 
 
Verification and Evidence 
 
The tenant must be able demonstrate that he/she has a genuine job offer and 
that he/she has a genuine intention to take it up. 
 
Appropriate evidence could include: - 

 

 A formal offer letter. 

 A contract of employment. 

 Wage/salary slips covering a certain period, or bank statements (zero hour 
contracts). 

 Tax and benefits information, for example proof of receipt of working tax 
credit. 

 
  

Page  173



 80 

Appendix 8: Person(s) Who Will Take Specific Decisions this will be added 
to the final policy  
  

Page  174



 

 81 

Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian 
Councils 
 
Will be added to the final policy  
  

Page  175



 

 82 

Appendix 10: The revised Equality Impact Assessment June 2020 
 
This is attached to the policy as a separate document given its length. A copy can be 
emailed on request. 

Page  176



 

 

 

 
 

 Total Applicants on Housing Register (Cumbria Choice Based Lettings) 

o As of 11th June 2020 there are 1,039 Active Applicants to Eden’s Housing 

Register (Cumbria Choice Based Lettings) 

 

 Household Type of Applicants 

Household Type Count of Applicants % 

Single person 283 27 

Single over 55 152 15 

2 adults (couple) 110 11 

Single 1 child 97 9 

Single 2 children 78 8 

Couple 1 child 63 6 

Couple over 55 62 6 

Couple 2 children 55 5 

Couple 3 children 29 3 

Couple 4 or more children 26 3 

Single 3 children 20 2 

Not Stated 19 2 

2 adults (non-couple) 12 1 

Parent with 1 Adult child 12 1 

Single 4 or more children 9 1 

Parent with 2+ Adult children 8 1 

2+ Adults (non-couple) 4 0 

Total 1039 100 

 

 Age Group of Main Applicant 

APPENDIX 3  

Cumbria Choice Based Lettings- 

Headline Figures 

June 2020 

 
 

Page  177



2 
 

 Size of Properties Required 

Number of Bedrooms 
Required 

Count of Applicants 
 

1 Bed 614 

2 Bed 264 

3 Bed 144 

4 Bed 2 

5+ Bed  1 

Not Stated 14 

Total 1039 

 

 Preferred Property Types 

Preferred Property Type 
Count of 

Applicants* 

Bungalow 302 

First Floor Flat or Above 193 

Ground Floor Flat 222 

House 652 

Wheelchair Adapted Property 9 
*Please note applicants are able to state more than one 
preferred property type, which is why the total does not equal 
1,039 

 

 Lettings 

o Over the last year (1st June 2019-11th June 2020) there have been 188 

lettings of properties located within the Eden District; 

 

Property Landlord Number of Accepted Offers 

Castles and Coasts 39 

Eden Housing 130 

Home Group 6 

Impact Housing 5 

Riverside 8 

Total 188 

 

 

Page  178



Report No: PP25/20 

Eden District Council 

Executive 

21 July 2020 

Eden Community Fund Recommendations 

Portfolio: Communities 

Report from: Assistant Director Community Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 

1.1 To seek approval for the award from the Eden Community Fund of Grants to 
the five projects set out in Appendix A. 

2 Recommendation 

It is recommended that a grant from the Eden Community Fund is agreed for 
 each of the five projects set out in Appendix A, to a total of £41,500.00. 

3 Report Details 

3.1 The Eden Community Fund is the Council’s community grant scheme. It was 
established in 2013-2014 to support and develop community initiatives within 
Eden District. The Eden Community Fund combined three previous grant 
schemes, the Community Fund, Rural Infrastructure Fund and Village Hall 
Grant. The Rural Infrastructure Fund was discontinued after 2013-2014. 

3.2 A total of £110,000.00 is available for the Eden Community Fund in the 
current financial year 2020/2021. 

3.3 The Eden Community Fund Partnership Panel Held a virtual meeting via 
Skype on the 8 June 2020 to assess six applicants against set criteria and 
make recommendations for the award of grants. The Partnership was chaired 
by the Communities Portfolio Holder and consisted of representatives from 
Action with Communities in Cumbria, Penrith Action for Community Transition, 
Inspira and individual community representatives. 

3.4 Of the six applications considered, five were recommended for funding and 
one was deferred to a future funding round as it was felt that more information 
was needed before a decision could be reached. 

3.5 All five recommended applications and their applicants have been checked to 
ensure they meet the criteria for eligibility for the Eden Community Fund. 

3.6 The criteria for assessing applications to the Eden Community Fund are as 
 follows: 

 Delivers wide Community Benefit; 

 Contributes to locally identified community needs and priorities; 

Page  179

Agenda Item 12



 Demonstrates value for money; 

 Has ability to measure success of a project or event; and 

 Has ability to demonstrate equality of opportunity and the elimination of 
discrimination. 

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

4.2 This report meets the Connected and Creative corporate priorities. 

5 Consultation 

5.1 The recommendations within this report reflect the recommendations of the 
Eden Community Partnership Panel. 

6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

 The £110,000 Eden Community Fund 2020/2021 is drawn from the 
Community Fund Budget. 

6.2 Legal 

6.2.1 Applicants are required to sign a declaration before their application can be 
considered, in doing so they agree that: 

 They have authority from their group to make the application; 

 They understand and agree to the criteria; 

 The information they provide is correct at the time of submission; 

 They will submit a Project Completion Report along with the required 
documentation; and 

 They have appropriate insurance cover. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There are no human resource issues associated with this report. 

Page  180



6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity Applicants are asked to provide details of 
arrangements for those with access or mobility 
difficulties to participate in projects, and to outline 
how they will actively involve all sections of the 
community, including those from different 
backgrounds. An Equal Opportunities policy is 
requested as part of required documentation 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

The provision of the Eden Community Fund 
grants has a direct benefit on the social, 
environmental and economic well-being of the 
organisations and communities who are awarded 
grants. 

Crime and Disorder The are no crime and disorder issues associated 
with this report. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no children or safeguarding issues 
associated with this report. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

That there is insufficient 
monitoring of paid 
grants. 

Grants are not used for 
their intended purposes. 

Grants are managed in 
accordance with the 
agreed criteria of the 
grant. Grants are paid 
in two stages – 75% on 
approval from Executive 
and 25% on receipt of 
the project completion 
form and accompanying 
documentation. 

Organisation dissolves 
for some reason 
following the award of 
Grant. 

Reputational harm to the 
Council. 

Financial checks are 
undertaken in order to 
reduce this risk. 

Organisations may 
disagree with decision. 

Limited reputational risk 
to the Council. 

Decisions are made in 
accordance with 
established criteria. 

7 Other Options Considered 

7.1 The Executive is free to decide to approve or not approve all or any of the 
recommended grants as it sees fit in accordance with the criteria set out at 
paragraph 3.6 above. 

Page  181



8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

8.1 Five applications are recommended for approval as outlined in Appendix A. All 
were considered by the Eden Community Fund Partnership Panel and 
 were recommended for support. 

8.2 One application was deferred as the Eden Community Fund Partnership 
Panel felt they needed more information before a decision could be reached. 

8.3 The applications are recommended for support as the Council has historically 
supported community groups and organisation that meet both the Eden 
Community Fund criteria and Council Plan priorities. 

 

Background Papers:  

Appendices: Appendix A – Eden Community Fund Recommendations 
First Tranche 2020/2021 

Contact Officer: Kate Giergiel – Leisure and Communities Support Officer 
Tel: 01768 212 459 

 

Page  182



Appendix A:  Eden Community Fund Recommendations: 

Total funds available for 2020/21: £110,000.00 

Total committed in First Tranche 2020/21: £41,500.00 

Remaining Balance: £68,500.00 

Ref Project / Event Project Outcome 
(Approved, 
Declined or 
Deferred) 

Requested Total cost of 
project 

Partnership Assessment Recommended Balance 

ECF330 Crosby 
Ravensworth 
Parish Tree 
Group 2020/2021 
planting (deferred 
from Feb 2020) 

Crosby 
Ravensworth 
Parish Tree 
Group 

Approved £10,000.00 £30,912.00 The partnership recommend that 
this application is awarded the full 
amount requested as the tree 
planting would result in clear 
environmental benefits such as 
carbon sequestration and 
reduction of flood risk. In addition 
this project had a high level of 
community involvement and 
volunteer opportunities. The panel 
recommended that the Tree 
Group set out a plan for the 
ongoing maintenance of the trees 
and consider who would accept 
liability for the trees in the long 
term in the case of injury or 
damage. 

£10,000.00 £100,000.00 

ECF335 Redevelopment of 
Shap Memorial 
Park (deferred 
from Feb 2020) 

Shap Community 
Action Group 

Approved £10,000.00 £83,998.80 The partnership recommend that 
this application is awarded the full 
amount requested, worthwhile 
project to provide new play 
facilities within a valuable 
community area in Shap. Award 
subject to submitting a confirmed 
funding profile. 

£10,000.00 £90,000.00 

P
age  183



Ref Project / Event Project Outcome 
(Approved, 
Declined or 
Deferred) 

Requested Total cost of 
project 

Partnership Assessment Recommended Balance 

ECF336 Warcop Parish 
Hall Storage 
Extension 
Scheme (deferred 
from Feb 2020) 

Warcop Parish 
Hall Trustees 

Approved £10,000.00 £38,301.00 The partnership recommended 
that this application is awarded 
the full amount requested. The 
panel commented that they were 
pleased to see the issue of 
storage addressed by the village 
hall as it improves the experience 
of using the hall for community 
groups. 

£10,000.00 £80,000.00 

ECF337 Lady Anne’s 
Costume Display 
Project 

Appleby Textile 
Group 

Deferred £10,000.00 £12,706.66 The panel supported this 
application in principle but felt that 
a number of issues needed to be 
clarified before funding could be 
allocated. More detail was 
required about the printed 
material which was going to be 
used for and, if it was going to be 
for sale, where the display case 
was going to be stored when not 
on tour. More detail about 
community involvement and the 
benefits to the people of Eden, 
specifically where the dress and 
case were going to tour in Eden. 

0.00 £80,000.00 

ECF338 Calthwaite Junior 
Football Club-
Grounds 
renovation 

Calthwaite Junior 
Football Club 

Approved £10,000.00 £73,000.00 The panel supported this 
application and recommended 
that it is awarded the full amount 
requested. The panel appreciate 
the wider community benefit of 
this project that draws in 
participants from both the 
immediate area and wider district. 

£10,000.00 £70,000.00 

P
age  184



Ref Project / Event Project Outcome 
(Approved, 
Declined or 
Deferred) 

Requested Total cost of 
project 

Partnership Assessment Recommended Balance 

ECF339 Repairs to the 
EDC public toilet 
roof 

Garrigill Village 
Hall 

Approved £1,500.00 £3,125.00 The panel supported this 
application and recommended 
that it is awarded the full amount 
requested. They noted however 
that the application form was not 
very detailed and that while there 
was sufficient evidence to support 
a small scale application such as 
this, an application for a larger 
project would require substantially 
more detail. 

£1,500.00 £68,500.00 

 

 Total Requested £51,500.00 Total Awarded £41,500.00 

 Remaining Balance £68,500.00   

 

 

P
age  185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report No:  F19/20 

Eden District Council 

Executive 

21 July 2020 

ICT, Digital, Development Management and Finance 
Systems 

Portfolio: Resources Portfolio Holder 

Report from: Interim Director of Corporate Services 

Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM EXCEPT FOR APPENDIX A which is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

1 Purpose 

1.1 To incorporate appropriate budgets for the development of the Digital 
Platform, purchase and implement the new Development Management 
System and new Financial Management System. 

1.2 To award a contract for the provision of a replacement IT system covering the 
following Council functions. Planning, Building Control, Land Charges, CIL 
(Community Infrastructure Levy), Planning Policy and Section 106 
Agreements. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 To approve the additional budget requirements set out in the report and 
detailed in the Part II appendix, Development of the Digital Platform and 
support purchase and implement a new Development Management System 
and Finance System. 

2.2 Subject to the approval of the budget at recommendation 2.1 to award the 
contract for Development Management and associated software to DEF 
Software Limited. 

3 Report Details 

Development of the Digital Platform 

3.1 The digital platform underpins a number of key services for the Council such 
as the contact centre operation, online digital forms and My Account. It needs 
to be further developed to include enhancements that are necessary to help 
the delivery of the One Eden transformation programme. Improving the 
capability of the Digital Platform will allow more advanced digital processes to 
be implemented. 

3.2 This report focuses on three most urgent elements however as the One Eden 
programme progresses other developments will be identified through the 
Service Redesign work. The elements needing to be progressed are: 

 integration with corporate document management system; 

Page  187

Agenda Item 13



 integration with the cash receipting system; and 

 integration with the Geographic Information System. 

3.3 The additional functionality will enable us to develop ways of working that will 
allow customers to use digital processes to interact with the Council and help 
make our processes used to deliver services, more efficient. 

3.4 The additional budget requirements for the areas described above are set out 
in the table below. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.5 This development is a shared with South Lakeland District Council (SLDC). 
This improves the buying power and also shares the costs across the two 
Councils to ensure value for money. 

 Development Management System 

3.6 In April 2016 the Council approved a project to procure and implement a new 
Planning and Building Control system jointly with SLDC. The report formed 
part of the delivering services electronically project.  

3.7 The original plan was for the project to be delivered through a specified 
supplier, which ultimately has not proven possible. 

3.8 A cost benefit analysis was completed at the time and the shortcomings of the 
existing system set out in detail. The anticipated cost to Eden was £111k, 
although the split between Revenue and Capital wasn’t clear. 

3.9 The Councils remain committed to the project and a new procurement route 
was sought to identify a new supplier. However it has recently become clear 
that no budgets were ever incorporated in to either the Capital Programme or 
Revenue. This will need to be rectified prior to consideration of awarding the 
tender, however the costs can be used to inform the necessary budgets. 

3.10 The procurement route for the new IT system covering Development 
Management and associated software is through the Crown Commercial 
Services Data and Application Solutions Framework (RM3821) Lot 2B.  

3.11 The Framework provides access to a range of software-led office systems 
covering services for the public sector including software licenses, associated 
hardware, app-related consultancy services, software support and 
maintenance. Lot 2B of the framework specifically covers software related to 
Environment and Planning. 

Capital Budgets 2020/21 

   £ 

Integration with Cash Receipting  4,000  

Integration with Document Management 20,000  

Integration with Geographical Information System 5,000  

    

Total Capital Budget 29,000  

Page  188



3.12 There are 15 suppliers included in Lot 2b of the framework and as such all 
had the option to respond as part of the procurement process. However we 
received only one response to the tender invitation.  

3.13 We have been through a comprehensive evaluation process, to ensure the 
system meets the requirements of the service and represents good value for 
money. This included system demonstrations and calls to other users of the 
system to validate that it is working well in other Councils.  

3.14  The supplier of the new system would be DEF Software Ltd and the detailed 
costs are set out attached in Exempt Appendix 1. The total detailed costs 
related to the system are set out in the table below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.15 The costs aren’t significantly different to those reported back in 2016, which 
seems to represent excellent value for money. There are additional costs, 
which need to be included that were omitted from the original report. 

3.16 These are capital costs and are set out below:  

 Project Management Costs   - £35k 

 Implementation Support Costs  - £40k 

 Parallel Running Costs   - £15k 

 Integration Works to My Account  - £30k 

3.17 The overall budgets required are set out in the table below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.18 Subject to budget approval, the system implementation will commence as 
soon as possible after contract negotiations are complete, these negotiations 
will include the payment milestones which will be used as part of the contract 
management process. 

 Integrated Finance, Payroll & HR System 

3.19 The current Finance and Payroll current system has been in operation for 
many years. In recent years the software developer has stopped development 
and the system is very close to “end of life.” It has fallen a long way behind its 

Eden System 
Costs 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

              

Capital 35,423          35,423  

Revenue 15,670  16,142  16,626  17,125  17,638  83,202  

Total  51,093  16,142  16,626  17,125  17,638  118,625  

Eden Total Costs 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

              

Capital 90,423  65,500        155,923  

Revenue 15,670  16,142  16,626  17,125  17,638  83,202  

Total  106,093  81,642  16,626  17,125  17,638  239,125  

Page  189



competitors in terms of functionality and user friendliness. It doesn’t support a 
modern operating finance function, in fact it is a significant hindrance to the 
production of high quality and timely financial reporting. 

3.20 The system also won’t integrate with external systems in anything other than 
very basic ways. The acquisition of a modern Financial Management System 
would transform the way that the service operates creating more efficient 
processes and higher quality outputs across fundamental to the requirements 
One Eden Transformation Programme. 

3.21 The Council currently doesn’t have a full Human Resources ICT system, 
which means that much of the information produced for reports has to be 
either created or manipulated manually. This is extremely time consuming and 
lacks the quality that can be seen in a modern HR system. As with finance 
and payroll a new system would transform the service’s ability to be efficient 
and produce higher quality outputs fundamental to the requirements One 
Eden Transformation Programme. 

3.22 Some preparatory work has been undertaken to establish a potential 
procurement route and likely budget. The use of a framework would allow for 
a potential acquisition in September/October 2020 with a likely implementation 
timescale of 12 months. This would result in a go-live date of Autumn 2021. 

3.23 The proposed budget in the table below has been calculated using information 
from the frameworks that we are likely to consider using. We have also been 
in contact with potential suppliers and other Councils who have either just 
been or are currently looking at procurement. 

4 Policy Framework 

4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Sustainable; 

 Healthy, safe and secure; 

 Connected; and 

 Creative 

5 Consultation 

5.1 To ensure the system being purchased and implement is fit for purpose. The 
specification used to perform the procurement process was created with full 
involvement of colleagues, who are directly involved in both leading and 
delivering the service functions which will be improved by using the new 
system. They were also fully engaged with the tender response evaluation 
process. 

Eden Total Costs 
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

              

Capital 150,000  200,000        350,000  

Revenue 0  80,000  80,000  80,000  80,000  320,000  

Total  150,000  280,000  80,000  80,000  80,000  670,000  

Page  190



6 Implications 

6.1 Financial and Resources 

6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 
must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2019-2023 as agreed at Council on 7 November 2019. 

6.1.2 The financial implications are set out within the main report. 

6.2 Legal 

 Development of the Digital Platform 

6.2.1 A contract is already in place to allow development of the platform to take 
place with the supplier. 

 Development Management System 

6.2.2 The use of Frameworks are allowed under, Clause 6.1 Supplier Selection, of 
the Council’s Procurement Procedures. Also, Eden District Council’s 
Constitution on Procurement Rules, Clause 4.5.3 allows the Executive to use 
a framework. In this case Framework RM3821, Lot 2B was used. 

6.2.3 It is recommended that the contract be awarded for an initial term of 5 years 
with the option to extend a further 2 years once the initial 5 year period is 
concluded. 

 Finance System 

6.2.4 When the procurement of the new system progresses a compliant 
procurement process will be completed. 

6.3 Human Resources 

6.3.1 There will be a requirement for officers within Planning, Building Control, Land 
Charges and Planning Policy to spend time assisting with the implementation 
of the new system. They have all been part of the procurement process so are 
aware of what is involved. The secondment for Eden, described in this report 
will help ease the pressure. This will be further assisted by a dedicated project 
manager. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity Not applicable. The systems being implement are 
principally used internally to perform the 
functions covered in the scope. Where they 
interconnect with public facing systems, such as 
the Council website, they will confirm to the 
criteria required for those systems, specifically in 
relation to meeting accessibility legislation. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

Not applicable. It is considered however that this 
proposal will have a positive impact on 
sustainability as the provision of new technology 
will better support mobile working. 

Page  191



Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Crime and Disorder Not applicable 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

Not applicable 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 

The existing systems for 
Development 
Management are no 
longer being developed 
and no longer provide 
the functionality that the 
Council require to work 
in new ways. 

The service functions in 
scope are unable to 
adapt to new ways of 
working 

Approve the 
recommendations in 
this report 

The existing contract for 
the development 
management systems 
currently in use, is an 
annual rolling contract 

The existing supplier 
could remove support 
for the existing products 
or increase their costs 
with very little notice to 
the council 

Approve the 
recommendations in 
this report 

The Finance system in 
operation is reaching 
the end of its functional 
life and is no longer 
being developed by the 
supplier 

The system is not able 
to operate in the way we 
need to support new and 
more efficient ways of 
working 

Approve the 
recommendations in 
this report 

7 Other Options Considered 

 Development of the Digital Platform 

7.1  The system has been in operation for a while now and needs to be developed 
as part of the continuous improvement process. The only alternative is to do 
nothing but this would prevent us from delivering the improvements identified. 

Development Management System 

7.2  The option being recommended is as a result of a compliant procurement 
process using a recognised procurement framework which managed by 
Crown Commercial Services. This is in line with procurement best practice 
and preferred over other options. 

7.3 The only alternate option would be to do nothing. This isn’t a viable option as 
we will be unable to deliver the necessary changes, to support new ways of 
working and continuous improvement of processes as described as part of the 
One Eden programme. 

Page  192



 Finance System 

7.4 We could continue using the existing system. This isn’t a viable option as we 
will be unable to deliver the necessary changes, to support new ways of 
working and continuous improvement of processes as described as part of the 
One Eden programme. 

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 

 Development of the Digital Platform 

8.1  This is being recommended to enable additional functionality to be delivered, 
this functionality will support new ways of working and digital processes which 
will be implemented as part of the One Eden transformation programme. 

 Development Management System 

8.2 The existing system is not being developed and is not configurable in the way 
we need to support new ways of working which will be introduced as part of 
the One Eden Transformation programme. 

 Finance System 

8.3 The existing system is not being developed and is not configurable in the way 
we need to support new ways of working which will be introduced as part of 
the One Eden Transformation programme. 

Background Papers: F15/16 - Delivering Services Electronically 

Appendices: Appendix A 

Contact Officer: Ben Wright, Head of Shared ICT Service 

Page  193



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page  195

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Provisional Outturn 2019/20
	7 Quarter 1 - Budget Monitoring 2020/21
	8 Medium Term Financial Plan Review
	9 Recovery Plan & Corporate Plan Update Report
	CE6-20_AppendixA-Strategic-Priorities-2020-2021

	10 Corporate Performance Report: April - June 2020
	CE7-20_AppendixA-Dashboard-2020

	11 Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocation Policy
	CCBL_AllocationPolicy_Appendix1
	CCBL_AllocationPolicy_Appendix2
	CCBL_HeadlineFigures_Appendix3

	12 Eden Community Fund Recommendations
	13 ICT, Digital, Development Management and Finance Systems
	17 ICT, Digital, Development Management and Finance Systems

